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Post Office Box 337
Engelhard, North Carolina 27824

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

The 2010 Annual Meeting of shareholders of ECB Bancorp, Inc. will be held at 11:00 a.m. EDT on Tuesday,
April 20, 2010, at the Washington Civic Center located at 110 North Gladden Street, Washington, North Carolina.

The purposes of the meeting are:
1. Election of Directors. To elect three directors for terms of three years;

2. Advisory Vote on Executive Compensation. To vote on a non-binding, advisory resolution to endorse and
approve compensation paid or provided to our executive officers and our executive compensation policies and
practices;

3. Ratification of Appointment of Independent‘Accountants. To vote on a proposal to ratify the appointment
of Dixon Hughes PLLC as our independent accountants for 2010; and

4. Other Business. To transact any other business properly presented for action at the Annual Meeting.

At the Annual Meeting, you may cast one vote for each share of our common stock you held of record on March 1,
2010, which is the record date for the meeting. .

You are invited to attend the Annual Meeting in person. However, if you are the record holder of your
shares of our common stock, we ask that you appoint the Proxies named in the enclosed proxy statement to vote
your shares for you by signing and returning the enclosed proxy card or following the instructions in the proxy
statement to appoint the Proxies by Internet, even if you plan to attend the Annual Meeting. If your shares are
held in “street name” by a broker or other nominee, only the record holder of your shares may vote them for
you, so you should follow your broker’s or nominee’s directions and give it instructions as to how it should vote
your shares. Doing that will help us ensure that your shares are represented and that a quorum is present at
the Annual Meeting. Even if you sign a proxy card or appoint the Proxies by Internet, you may still revoke your
appointment later or attend the Annual Meeting and vote in person.

This notice and the enclosed proxy statement and proxy card are being mailed to our shareholders on or
about March 24, 2010.

By Order of the Board of Directors

s

A. Dwight Utz
President and Chief Executive Officer

YOUR VOTE IS IMPORTANT.
WHETHER YOU OWN ONE SHARE OR MANY, YOUR PROMPT COOPERATION
IN VOTING YOUR PROXY CARD IS APPRECIATED.
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Post Office Box 337
Engelhard, North Carolina 27824

PROXY STATEMENT

ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

General

This proxy statement is dated March 19, 2010, and is being furnished to our shareholders by our Board of Directors
in connection with our solicitation of appointments of proxies in the form of the enclosed proxy card for use at the 2010
Annual Meeting of our shareholders and at any adjournments of the meeting. The Annual Meeting will be held at the
Washington Civic Center located at 110 North Gladden Street, Washington, North Carolina, at 11:00 a.m. EDT on
Tuesday, April 20, 2010.

In this proxy statement, the terms “you,” “your” and similar terms refer to the shareholder receiving it. The terms
“we,” “us,” “our” and similar terms refer to ECB Bancorp, Inc. Our banking subsidiary, The East Carolina Bank, is
referred to as the “Bank.”

IMPORTANT NOTICE REGARDING THE AVAILABILITY OF PROXY MATERIALS FOR
THE SHAREHOLDER MEETING TO BE HELD ON APRIL 20, 2010.

The proxy statement and annual report to security holders are available at:
http:/hvww.ecbbancorp.com/voting

Proposals to be Voted on at the Annual Meeting
At the Annual Meeting, record holders of our common stock will consider and vote on proposals to:
® elect three directors for three-year terms (see “Proposal 1: Election of Directors” on page 4);

® approve a non-binding, advisory resolution to endorse and approve compensation paid or provided to our executive
officers and our executive compensation policies and practices (see “Proposal 2: Advisory Vote on Executive
Compensation” on page 32);

® ratify the appointment of Dixon Hughes PLLC as our independent accountants for 2010 (see “Proposal 3:
Ratification of Appointment of Independent Accountants” on page 35); and

® transact any other business properly presented for action at the Annual Meeting.

Our Board of Directors recommends that you vote “FOR” the election of each of the three nominees for
director named in this proxy statement and “FOR” Proposals 2 and 3.

How You Can Vote at the Annual Meeting

Record Holders. If your shares of our common stock are held of record in your name, you can vote at the Annual
Meeting in any of the following ways.

® You can attend the Annual Meeting and vote in person.




® You can sign and return the proxy card enclosed with this proxy statement to appoint the “Proxies” named below to
vote your shares for you at the meeting, or you can validly appoint another person to vote your shares for you.

® You can appoint the Proxies to vote your shares for you by going to the Internet website
www.echbancorp.com/voting. When you are prompted for your “control number,” enter the number printed
just above your name on the enclosed proxy card, and then follow the instructions you will be given. You may
appoint the Proxies by Internet only until 5:00 p.m. EDT on April 19, 2010, which is the day before the
Annual Meeting date. If you appoint the Proxies by Internet, you need not sign and return a proxy card. You
will be appointing the Proxies to vote your shares on the same terms and with the same authority as if you
marked, signed and returned a proxy card. The authority you will be giving the Proxies is described below and
in the proxy card enclosed with this proxy statement.

Shares Held in “Street Name.” Only the record holders of shares of our common stock or their appointed proxies
may vote those shares. As a result, if your shares of our common stock are held for you in “street name” by a broker or
other nominee, then only your broker or nominee (i.e. the record holder) may vote them for you, or appoint the Proxies to
vote them for you, unless you make arrangements for your broker or nominee to assign its voting rights to you or for you
to be recognized as the person entitled to vote your shares. You will need to follow the directions your broker or nominee
provides you and give it instructions as to how it should vote your shares by completing and returning to it the voting
instruction sheet you received with your copy of our proxy statement (or by following any directions you received from
your broker or nominee for giving voting instructions electronically). Brokers and other nominees who hold shares in
street name for their clients typically have the discretionary authority to vote those shares on “routine” matters when they
have not received instructions from beneficial owners of the shares. However, they may not vote those shares on
non-routine matters (including the election of directors) unless their clients give them voting instructions. To ensure that
shares you hold in street name are represented at the Annual Meeting and voted in the manner you desire, it is
important that you instruct your broker or nominee as to how it should vote your shares.

Solicitation and Voting of Proxy Cards

If you are the record holder of your shares of our common stock, a proxy card is included with this proxy statement
that provides for you to name three of our officers, A. Dwight Utz, ]. Dorson White, Jr. and Thomas M. Crowder, or any
substitutes appointed by them, individually and as a group, to act as your “Proxies” and vote your shares at the Annual
Meeting. We ask that you sign and date your proxy card and return it in the enclosed envelope, or follow the instructions
above for appointing the Proxies by Internet, so that your shares will be represented at the meeting.

If you sign a proxy card and return it so that we receive it before the Annual Meeting, or you appoint the Proxies by
Internet, the shares of our common stock you hold of record will be voted by the Proxies according to your instructions. If
you sign and return a proxy card but do not give any voting instructions, then the Proxies will vote your shares “FOR” the
election of each of the three nominees for director named in Proposal 1 below and “FOR” Proposals 2 and 3 discussed in
this proxy statement. If, before the Annual Meeting, any nominee named in Proposal 1 becomes unable or unwilling to
serve as a director for any reason, your proxy card will give the Proxies discretion to vote your shares for a substitute
nominee named by our Board of Directors. We are not aware of any business that will be brought before the Annual
Meeting other than the election of directors and Proposals 2 and 3 described in this proxy statement, but, if any other
matter is properly presented for action by our shareholders, your proxy card will authorize the Proxies to vote your shares
according to their best judgment. The Proxies also will be authorized to vote your shares according to their best judgment
on matters incident to the conduct of the meeting, including motions to adjourn the meeting.

If you do not return a proxy card or appoint the Proxies by Internet, the Proxies will not have authority to vote for you
and your shares will not be represented or voted at the Annual Meeting unless you attend the meeting in person or validly
appoint another person to vote your shares for you.

Revocation of Proxy Cards; How You Can Change Your Voting Instructions

Record Holders. If you are the record holder of your shares and you sign and return a proxy card or appoint the
Proxies by Internet and you later wish to change the voting instructions or revoke the authority you gave the Proxies, you
can do so at any time before the voting takes place at the Annual Meeting by taking the appropriate action described
below.



To change the voting instructions you gave the Proxies:

® you can sign a new proxy card dated after the date of your original proxy card and containing your new instructions,
and submit it to us so that we receive it before the voting takes place at the Annual Meeting; or

® if you appointed the Proxies by Internet, you can go to the same Internet website (www.echbancorp.com/voting)
before 5:00 p.m. EDT on April 19, 2010 (the day before the Annual Meeting), enter the same control number
(printed just above your name on the enclosed proxy card) that you previously used to appoint the Proxies, and
then change your voting instructions.

The Proxies will follow the last voting instructions they receive from you before the Annual Meeting,

To revoke your proxy card or your appointment of the Proxies by Internet:

® you can give our Corporate Secretary a written notice that you want to revoke your proxy card or Internet
appointment; or

® you can attend the Annual Meeting and notify our Corporate Secretary that you want to revoke your proxy card or
Internet appointment and vote your shares in person. Simply attending the Annual Meeting alone, without
notifying our Corporate Secretary, will not revoke your proxy card or Internet appointment.

Shares Held in “Street Name.” If your shares are held in “street name” and you want to change voting
instructions you have given to your broker or other nominee, you must follow your broker’s or nominee’s directions.

Expenses and Method of Solicitation

We will pay all costs of soliciting proxy cards for the Annual Meeting, including costs of preparing and mailing this
proxy statement. We are requesting that banks, brokers and other custodians, nominees and fiduciaries forward copies of
our proxy solicitation materials to their principals and request their voting instructions, and we will reimburse those
persons for their expenses in doing so. In addition to solicitation using the mail, the Bank’s and our directors, officers and
employees may solicit proxy cards, either personally, by telephone or by other methods of communication, but they will
not receive any additional compensation from us for doing so.

In connection with the solicitation of proxy cards for the Annual Meeting, we have not authorized anyone to give you
any information, or make any representation, not contained in this proxy statement. If anyone gives you any other
information or makes any other representation to you, you should not rely on it as having been authorized by us.

Record Date and Voting Securities

The close of business on March 1, 2010, is the “Record Date” we are using to determine which of our shareholders
are entitled to receive notice of and to vote at the Annual Meeting and how many shares they are entitled to vote. Our
voting securities are the 2,849,841 shares of our common stock which were outstanding on the Record Date. You must
have been a record holder of our common stock on that date in order to vote at the meeting.

Quorum and Voting Procedures

A quorum must be present for business to be conducted at the Annual Meeting. For all matters to be voted on at the
meeting, a quorum will consist of a majority of the outstanding shares of our common stock. Shares represented in person
or by proxy at the meeting will be counted for the purpose of determining whether a quorum exists. Once a share is
represented for any purpose at the meeting, it will be treated as present for quorum purposes for the remainder of the
meeting and for any adjournments. If you return a valid proxy card, appoint the Proxies by Internet, or attend the meeting
in person, your shares will be counted for purposes of determining whether there is a quorum, even if you abstain or
instruct the Proxies to abstain from voting on one or more matters. Broker “non-votes” also will be counted in determining
whether there is a quorum. Broker “non-votes” will occur if your shares are held by a broker and are voted on one or more
matters at the meeting but are not voted by the broker on a “non-routine” matter (such as the election of directors)
because you have not given the broker voting instructions on that matter. If your shares are represented at the meeting
with respect to any matter voted on, they will be treated as present with respect to all matters voted on, even if they are
not voted on all matters.



You may cast one vote for each share you held of record on the Record Date on each director to be elected and on
each other matter voted on by shareholders at the Annual Meeting. You may not cumulate your votes in the election of

directors.

Vote Required for Approval

Our directors are elected by a plurality of the votes cast in elections. In the election of directors at the Annual
Meeting, the three nominees receiving the highest numbers of votes will be elected. For Proposals 2 and 3 to be
approved, the number of votes cast in favor of each proposal must exceed the number of votes cast against it. So long as a
quorum is present, abstentions and broker non-votes will have no effect in the voting for directors or on Proposal 2 or 3.

PRrOPOSAL 1: ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
General

Our Bylaws provide that our Board of Directors:

® consists of not less than nine nor more than 15 members, and our Board is authorized to set and change the actual
number of our directors from time to time within those limits; and

@ is divided into three classes and directors are elected to staggered three-year terms, and that each year the terms of
the directors in one class expire and directors in that class are elected for new three-year terms or until their
respective successors have been duly elected and qualified.

Nominees

Our Board of Directors has set our number of directors at nine for the year following the Annual Meeting and, based
on the recommendation of our Nominations Committee, has nominated three current directors whose terms expire at the
Annual Meeting for re-election to new three-year terms. The following table lists information about each nominee.

Positions with Us First  Proposed Term Principal Occupation
Name and Age and the Bank (1) Elected (2) of Office and Business Experience

Joseph T. Lamb, Jr. Director 1981 3 years Owner, Joe Lamb, Jr. &

(76) Associates, Inc. (real estate sales

and rentals), Kitty Hawk, NC

A. Dwight Utz (3) President, Chief 2009 3 years The Bank’s and our executive

(56) Executive Officer officer

and Director

Michael D. Weeks Director 2005 3 years Self employed business,

(56) marketing and Internet consultant

(since 2007); previously, Vice
President and General Manager,
WITN-TV (television v
broadcasting), Washington, NC
(1991 - 2007)

(1) Listings of the members of certain committees of our Board are contained below under the heading “Committees of
Our Board.”

(2) “First elected” refers to the year in which each individual first became a director of the Bank. With the exception of
Mr. Weeks and Mr, Utz, each person first became our director during 1998 in connection with our organization as
the Bank’s holding company and previously served as a director of the Bank.

(3) Mr. Utz was elected as our President and Chief Executive Officer and was appointed by the Board to serve as a
director, effective on July 1, 2009.

Our Board of Directors recommends that you vote “FOR” each of the three nominees named above.
The three nominees receiving the highest numbers of votes will be elected.




Incumbent Directors

The following table contains information about our six directors whose current terms of office will continue after the

Annual Meeting.

Name and Age

Positions with Us
and the Bank (1)

First Elected/
Current Term
Expires (2)

Principal Occupation
and Business Experience

J. Bryant Kittrell ITI
(58) |

B. Martelle Marshall
(60)

R. S. Spencer, Jr.
(69)

George T. Davis, Jr.
(55)

Gregory C. Gibbs
(49)

John F. Hughes, ]r.
(64)

Director

Director and
Corporate Secretary
Chairman

Vice Chairman

Director

Director

1990/ 2011

1993 /2011

- 1963 /2011

1979/ 2012

1994 /2012

1996/ 2012

President and owner, Kittrell &

- Associates, Inc., and manager (since

2004), Kittrell & Armstrong LLC
(commercial/industrial real estate
development and sales), Greenville, NC

President and co-owner, Martelle's
Feed House Restaurant, Engelhard, NC

President, R. S. Spencer, Inc. (retail
merchant), Engelhard, NC

Attorney; sole proprietor, Davis & Davis
(law firm), Swan Quarter, NC

General Manager, Gibbs Store LLC
(retail hardware) (since 2001) and
partner, Lake Landing Realty (real
estate development) (since 2005),
Engelhard, NC; broker in charge,
United Country Real Estate (real estate
sales) (2004 - 2005), Engelhard, NC

Retired; Executive Director, Albemarle
Pamlico Economic Development Corp.
and Chairman and CEO, Eastern NC
Natural Gas Co. (2001 - 2005); Regional
Manager and Manager of Governmental
Affairs, North Carolina Power, Inc.
(utility company) (1984 - 2000),
Manteo, NC

(1) Listings of the members of certain committees of our Board are contained below under the heading “Committees of

Our Board.”

(2) “First elected” refers to the year in which each individual first became a director of the Bank. Each person first
became our director during 1998 in connection with our organization as the Bank's holding company and previously
had served as a director of the Bank.

Factors Bearing on Qualifications of Directors and Nominees

The experience, qualifications, attributes, skills and other factors that leads our Board to conclude that each of our
directors listed in the table above should serve or continue to serve as a director are described below.

George T. Davis, Jr.

® Understanding of our culture, values and goals derived from service as our director since 1979;

® Knowledge of the economy in a large part of our market area;

® Ability to analyze financial information relating to our loan customers;

® Management experience through managing, operating, and growing a rural law practice for 30 years; and,

e Ability to identify with the financial needs of small and mid-sized businesses, which is the largest business segment
of our market, and with farmers, who also make up a large segment of our customer base.



Gregory C. Gibbs
® Understanding of our culture, values and goals derived from service as our director since 1994;

® Management experience as owner and operator of a mercantile business, a real estate brokerage business, a real
estate development business, and an agricultural business;

® Substantial personal financial interest in our and the Bank's long term growth, stability and success because of his
ownership of our stock;

® Financial knowledge gained through experience working for a financial planning firm; and,

® Ability to identify with the financial needs of small and mid-sized businesses, which is the largest business segment
of our market.

John F. Hughes, Jr.
® Understanding of our culture, values and goals derived from service as our director since 1996;

® Understanding of business and capital planning and budgeting derived from years as regional vice president of
North Carolina Power;

® Familiarity with regulatory agencies and procedures garnered through his experience working with a large electric
utility, which, like banking, is heavily regulated;

® Knowledge of a significant portion of our market gained through years of working in that same market with North
Carolina Power;

® Ability to analyze financial information relating to our loan customers; and,

® Visible and active community and statewide leader.

J. Bryant Kittrell 111
® Understanding of our culture, values and goals derived from service as our director since 1990;
® Knowledge of banking and financial products from prior experience as a retail banker and a retail securities broker;

® Knowledge of governance issues through service on boards of various governmental and charitable organizations;
and,

® Varied prior board experience through service on most of our major board committees.

Joe Lamb, Jr.
® Understanding of our culture, values and goals derived from service as our director since 1981;
® Knowledge of the economy in a large part of our market area;
® Management experience through managing, operating, and growing a successful realty firm for more than 40 years;

® Intimate knowledge of the real estate market and the values and income potential of real estate in our area through
his real estate business; and

® Visible and active community leader.

Martelle Marshall
® Understanding of our culture, values and goals derived from service as our director since 1993;

® Ability to identify with the financial needs of small and mid-sized businesses, which is the largest business segment
of our market;

® Knowledge of and experience with agricultural lending;

® Knowledge of and experience with the hospitality industry which is a significant component of the economy in a
portion of our banking market and from which a significant portion of our business is derived; and

® Management experience through owning and operating a successful restaurant and catering business since 1997.
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R. S. Spencer, Jr.
® Understanding of our culture, values and goals derived from service as our director since 1963;
® Knowledge of the economy in a large part of our market area;

® Management experience through managing, operating, and growing a successful mercantile business for nearly 50
years;

® Ability to identify with the financial needs of small and mid-sized businesses, which is the largest business segment
of our market; and,

® Visible and active community leader.

Michael D. Weeks
® Understanding of our culture, values and goals derived from service as our director since 2005;

® Knowledge of regulatory processes and issues gained through years of experience in the commercial media
business, particularly in the broadcast television industry;

® Understanding of marketing, advertising and branding through commercial media experience and as owner and
operator of an advertising agency;

® Knowledge of the residential real estate market in a portion of our banking market through experience with and
ownership of a real property management company and residential real estate properties; and,

® Visible and active community and statewide leader.

A. Dwight Utz
® Knowledge of our company inherent in his position as our Chief Executive Officer;

® Broad knowledge of the banking industry through experience in both community and super-regional bank

environments and geographical breadth of previous positions;

® Executive management experience in various business functions in banks where he has been employed, including
human resources, bank mergers and acquisitions, retail banking, sales and business development, marketing, and
strategic technology initiatives;

® Knowledge of and experienée with the various agencies that regulate banks; and

® Active in industry and community leadership roles on local, state and national level.



CORPORATE (GOVERNANCE

Our Board of Directors adopted Corporate Governance Guidelines during March 2010 that describe principles and
practices that our Board will follow in carrying out its responsibilities. Together with our Bylaws, the Guidelines establish
various processes related to the structure and leadership of our Board and the governance of our corporation, including
certain of the matters described below.

Director Independence

Determination of Independent Directors. Each year our Board of Directors reviews transactions, relationships
and other arrangements involving our directors and determines which directors the Board considers to be “independent.”
In making those determinations, the Board applies the independence criteria contained in the listing requirements of The
Nasdaq Stock Market. The Board has directed our Audit Committee to assess each outside director’s independence and
report its findings to the Board in connection with the Board’s annual determinations, and to monitor the status of each
director on an ongoing basis and inform the Board of changes in factors or circumstances that may affect a director’s
ability to exercise independent judgment. The following table lists our current directors, persons who served as directors
during 2009, and nominees for election as directors at the Annual Meeting, who our Board believes were, during their
terms of office, and will be, if elected, “independent” directors under Nasdaq’s criteria.

George T. Davis, Jr. Joseph T. Lamb, Jr. R. S. Spencer, Jr.
Gregory C. Gibbs B. Martelle Marshall J. Bryant Kittrell III
John F. Hughes, Jr. Michael D. Weeks

In addition to the specific Nasdaq criteria, in assessing the independence of our directors the Audit Committee and
the Board consider whether they believe transactions that are disclosable in our proxy statements as “related person
transactions,” or any other transactions, relationships, arrangements or other factors, could impair a director’s ability to
exercise independent judgment. In its determination that the directors named above are independent, those other factors
considered by the Audit Committee and the Board included: (1) the Bank’s lending relationships with directors;

(2) Mr. Davis’ legal representation of clients from time to time in their loan transactions with the Bank; and (3) Mr. Gibbs
beneficial ownership of our common stock through his position as co-executor of his mother’s estate. In Mr. Gibbs’ case,
the Board concluded that he is independent under Nasdaq’s criteria but that he would not be appointed to serve on our
Audit Committee.

>

Executive Sessions of Independent Directors. Our independent directors meet separately, in executive session,
without management being present, at least quarterly in conjunction with meetings of the Board of Directors and, at their
discretion, they may hold separate meetings other than in conjunction with Board meetings. During 2009, the
independent directors met 13 times in executive session. In addition to those meetings, independent directors who are
members of the Board’s Executive Committee met 18 times in executive session in conjunction with meetings of that
Committee.

Lead Independent Director. Under our Corporate Governance Guidelines, if the Chairman elected by our Board
is not an independent director, then our independent directors will elect a separate “Lead Independent Director.” Our
current Chairman is an independent director, so we do not have a separate Lead Independent Director.

Board Leadership Structure

Our Board annually elects a Chairman whose duties are described in our Bylaws, and the Board performs its
oversight role through various committees which are appointed by the Board based on the recommendation of its
independent Nominations Committee and which may be established as separate committees of our Board or as joint
committees of our and the Bank’s Boards. Our current Chairman is an outside, independent director. However, the Board
may select any of its members as its Chairman, and it has no policy as to whether the Chairman may be an officer or must
be a non-employee or independent director.

The Board recognizes that, if it were to elect an officer as Chairman, management would have more control over the
Board and its processes and that could diminish the effectiveness of our independent directors and their ability to
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influence our policies and decisions of our Board. As a result, the Corporate Governance Guidelines established by the
Board provide that, if our Chairman is not an independent director, then each year our independent directors will elect a
separate Lead Independent Director whose duties and authority will include:

® convening and presiding at executive sessions and separate meetings of our independent directors, and serving as
the liaison between the independent directors and our Chairman and management;

® consulting with the Chairman and management regarding concerns of our independent directors and matters
discussed, decisions reached, or suggestions made, at executive sessions and separate meetings of independent
directors;

® consulting with the Chairman regarding the schedule, agenda, and information for Board meetings;
® consulting with the Chairman with respect to consultants who may report directly to the Board;

® consulting with the Chairman and management as to the quality, quantity, and timeliness of information provided
to the Board by management;

® being available, as appropriate, for communications with our shareholders; and

® such other duties and authority as is described elsewhere in the Guidelines and as the Board may from time to
time determine.

Additionally, as described below under the heading “Committees of our Board,” all matters pertaining to executive
compensation and the selection of nominees for election as directors are subject to the review and recommendation of
Board committees made up of independent directors, and our Corporate Governance Guidelines provide that:

@ all outside directors have full access to any member of management and to our and the Bank’s independent
auditors and internal auditors for the purpose of understanding issues relating to our business;

® our management will arrange for our outside advisors to be made available for discussions with the Board, a Board
committee, our independent directors as a group, or individual directors; and the Board, each Board committee,
and our independent directors as a group, in each case by a majority vote, have the authority to retain independent
advisors from time to time, at our expense, and separate and apart from our regular advisors.

Our Board believes that the provisions described above provide for a leadership structure that is appropriate for a
company our size, without regard to whether our Chairman is an independent director.

Board’s Role in Risk Management

Risk is inherent in any business, and as is the case with other management functions, our senior management has
primary responsibility for managing the risks we face. However, as a financial institution, our business involves financial
risks that do not exist, or that are more extensive than the risks that exist, in some other types of businesses. We are
subject to extensive regulation that requires us to assess and manage those risks, and during their periodic examinations
our regulators assess our performance in that regard. As a result, our Board is actively involved in overseeing our risk
management programs.

* Our Board administers its oversight function primarily through committees which may be established as separate or
joint committees of our and/or the Bank’s Boards. Those Board committees include our Audit Committee, Compensation
Committee and Executive Committee. Qur Asset/Liability Management Committee is a management committee made up
of senior officers, but it includes two non-employee directors as ex officio members who participate regularly in that
committee’s activities. Our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and other officers who oversee departments
or functions within our operations (including credit administration, asset/liability management, sales and services
management, human resources, technology, risk management and internal audit) make reports directly to one or more of
those Committees.

We have a Risk Management Department which is headed by a Chief Risk Officer whose responsibilities include
supervision of the activities of our internal audit, compliance and credit quality review functions. He, along with our



General Auditor and Compliance Officer, make reports directly to the Audit Committee. Our Chief Risk Officer also
works directly with our Compensation Committee in its periodic reviews of our and the Bank’s compensation plans to
ensure continued oversight and mitigation of risk within our compensation practices and that (1) arrangements in which
our senior executive officers participate do not encourage those officers to take unnecessary and excessive risks that
threaten the value of our company, and (2) arrangements in which employees in general participate do not encourage the
manipulation of our reported earnings to enhance the compensation of any employees.

We believe the Board’s involvement in risk management results in Board committees that are more active than those
of corporations that are not financial institutions or that are not regulated as extensively as financial institutions. We
believe that affects our Board’s leadership structure by providing opportunities for non-employee directors to become
more familiar with the Bank’s critical operations and more actively involved in the Board’s oversight role with respect to
risk management as well as other oversight functions.

Attendance by Directors at Meetings

Board of Director Meetings. The Bank’s and our Boards of Directors meet jointly. During 2009, the Boards met
15 times, and each director attended 75% or more of the aggregate number of meetings of the Boards and of any
committees on which he served.

Annual Meetings. Attendance by our directors at Annual Meetings of our shareholders gives directors an
opportunity to meet, talk with and hear the concerns of shareholders who attend those meetings, and it gives those
shareholders access to our directors that they may not have at any other time during the year. Our Board of Directors
recognizes that directors have their own business interests and are not our employees, and that it is not always possible for
them to attend Annual Meetings. However, our Board’s policy is that attendance by directors at our Annual Meetings is
beneficial to us and to our shareholders, and our directors are strongly encouraged to attend each Annual Meeting
whenever possible. All nine of our then-current directors attended our last Annual Meeting which was held during April
2009.

Communications with Qur Board

Our Board of Directors encourages our shareholders to communicate with it regarding their concerns and other
matters related to our business, and the Board has established a process by which you may send written communications
to the Board or to one or more individual directors. You may address and mail your communication to our Corporate
Secretary at:

ECB Bancorp, Inc.

Attention: Corporate Secretary
Post Office Box 337

Engelhard, North Carolina 27824

You also may send them by email to echdirectors@ecbbancorp.com. You should indicate whether your
communication is directed to the entire Board of Directors, to a particular committee of the Board or its Chairman, or to
one or more individual directors. All communications will be reviewed by our Corporate Secretary and, with the exception
of communications our Corporate Secretary considers to be unrelated to our or the Bank’s business, forwarded to the
intended recipients. Copies of communications from a customer of the Bank relating to a deposit, loan or other financial
relationship or transaction will be forwarded to the department or division that is most closely associated with the subject
of the communication.

Code of Ethics

Our Board of Directors has adopted a Code of Ethics which applies to our directors and executive officers, including
our senior financial officers, and, among other things, is intended to promote:

® honest and ethical conduct;

® the ethical handling of actual or apparent conflicts of interests between personal and professional relationships;
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® full, fair, accurate, timely and understandable disclosure in reports and documents that we file with the SEC and
other public communications we make;

® compliance with governmental laws, rules and regulations;

® prompt internal reporting of violations of the Code to the Board’s Audit Committee; and
® accountability for adherence to the Code.

A copy of the Code is posted on our Internet website at www.ecbbancorp.com. Illegal or unethical bebavior,
violations of the Code, or accounting or auditing concerns, may be reported, anonymously or otherwise, by mail addressed
to the Chairman of our Audit Committee or the Bank’s Chief Risk Officer at:

The East Carolina Bank
Post Office Box 337
Engelhard, North Carolina 27824

COMMITTEES OF OUR BOARD

General

Among other committees, our Board of Directors has three independent, standing committees that assist the Board
in oversight and governance matters. They are the Audit Committee, the Nominations Committee, and the Compensation
Committee. Each of those Committees operates under a written charter approved by our Board that sets out the
Committee’s composition, authority, duties and responsibilities. We believe that each member of those Committees is an
“independent director” as that term is defined by Nasdag’s listing standards. Current copies of the charters of those
Committees are posted on our Internet website at www.echbancorp.com. The Board also has an Executive Committee, of
which a majority of the members are independent directors. The current members of each Committee are listed in the
following table, and the function of and other information about each Committee is described in the paragraphs below.

Audit Committee Nominations Committee Compensation Committee Executive Committee (1)
J. Bryant Kittrell III - Gregory C. Gibbs - George T. Davis, Jr. - A. Dwight Utz -
Chairman Chairman Chairman Chairman
John F. Hughes, Jr. George T. Davis, Jr. J. Bryant Kittrell ITI George T. Davis, Jr.
B. Martelle Marshall J. Bryant Kittrell III Joseph T. Lamb, Jr. Gregory C. Gibbs
R. S. Spencer, Jr. R. S. Spencer, Jr. R. S. Spencer, Jr. J. Bryant Kittrell ITI

R. S. Spencer, Jr.

(1) Mr. Utz was appointed Chairman of the Executive Committee effective on July 1, 2009.

Audit Committee

Our Audit Committee is a joint committee of the Bank’s and our Boards of Directors. Under its charter, the
Committee is responsible for:

® selecting our independent accountants and approving their compensation and the terms of their engagement;
® approving services proposed to be provided by the independent accountants; and

® monitoring and overseeing the quality and integrity of our accounting and financial reporting process and systems
of internal controls.

The Committee reviews various reports from our independent accountants (including its annual report on our
audited consolidated financial statements), financial reports we file under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and
reports of examinations by our regulatory agencies, and it oversees our internal audit program. Also, as described above
under the caption “Director Independence,” our Board has directed the Audit Committee to monitor and make annual
reports regarding the independence of our directors and, as described below under the heading “TRANSACTIONS WITH
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RELATED PERSONS,” the Board has directed the Committee to review and approve certain transactions, arrangements or
relationships with the Bank in which one of our related persons has a material interest. The Committee met nine times
during 2009.

Audit Committee Report

Our management is responsible for our financial reporting process, including our system of internal controls and
disclosure controls and procedures, and for the preparation of our consolidated financial statements in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our independent accountants are responsible
for auditing those financial statements. The Audit Committee oversees and reviews those processes. In connection with
the preparation and audit of our consolidated financial statements for 2009, the Audit Committee has:

® reviewed our audited consolidated financial statements for 2009 and discussed them with management;

® discussed with our independent accountants the matters required to be discussed by Statement on Auditing
Standards No. 61, as amended;

® received written disclosures and a letter from our independent accountants required by the independence
standards of the PCAOB (PCAOB Rule 3526); and

® discussed the independence of our independent accountants with the accountants.

Based on the above reviews and discussions, the Audit Committee recommended to our Board of Directors that the
audited consolidated financial statements be included in our 2009 Annual Report on Form 10-K as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission.

Members of the Audit Committee who participated in the reviews and discussions described above pertaining to the
preparation and audit of our consolidated financial statements for 2009 are named below.

The Audit Committee:

J. Bryant Kittrell 111 John F. Hughes, Jr. B. Martelle Marshall R. S. Spencer, Jr.

Nominations Committee

Our Nominations Committee is a committee of our Board. Under its written charter, and among its other duties and
responsibilities assigned from time to time by the Board, the Committee recommends candidates to the Board for
selection as nominees for election as directors at our Annual Meetings and for appointment to fill vacancies on the Board.
The Committee met once during 2009. '

The Committee’s charter and our Corporate Governance Guidelines provide for the Committee annually to
recommend individuals who have personal and professional integrity, sound judgment, business acumen, and the time,
ability and commitment to make a constructive and meaningful contribution to the Board, and who, with other members
of the Board, will be effective in collectively serving the long-term interests of our shareholders. Candidates also must
satisfy applicable requirements of state and federal banking regulators, and the Committee may develop other criteria or
minimum qualifications for use in identifying and evaluating candidates. The Board makes all final decisions regarding
nominations. In identifying candidates to be recommended to the Board of Directors from time to time, the Committee
considers incumbent directors and candidates suggested by our management, other directors, and our shareholders. The
Committee has not used the services of a third-party search firm. Shareholders who wish to recommend candidates to the
Committee should send their recommendations in writing addressed as follows:

Nominations Committee

ECB Bancorp, Inc.

Attention: Corporate Secretary
Post Office Box 337

Engelhard, North Carolina 27824
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Each recommendation should be accompanied by:

@ the full name, address and telephone number of the person making the recommendation, and a statement that the
person making the recommendation is a shareholder of record (or, if the person is a beneficial owner of our shares
but not a record holder, a statement from the record holder of the shares verifying the number of shares
beneficially owned), and a statement as to whether the person making the recommendation has a good faith
intention to continue to hold those shares through the date of our next Annual Meeting;

® the full name, address and telephone number of the candidate being recommended, information regarding the
candidate’s beneficial ownership of our stock and any business or personal relationship between the candidate and
the person making the recommendation, and an explanation of the value or benefit that the person making the
recommendation believes that the candidate would provide as a director;

® a statement signed by the candidate that he or she is aware of and consents to being recommended to the
Committee and will provide information that the Committee may request in connection with its evaluation of
candidates;

® a description of the candidate’s current principal occupation, business or professional experience, previous
employment history, educational background, and any particular skills, experience, or areas of expertise;

e information regarding any business or personal relationships between the candidate and any of our or the Bank’s
customers, suppliers, vendors, competitors, directors or officers, affiliated companies, or other persons with any
special interest regarding our company or our affiliated companies, and any transactions between the candidate
and our company or any of our affiliated companies; and

@ any information in addition to the above regarding the candidate that would be required to be included in our
proxy statement pursuant to the SEC’s Regulation 14A (including without limitation information regarding legal
proceedings in which the candidate has been involved within the past ten years).

In order to be considered by the Committee in connection with its recommendations of candidates for selection as
nominees for election as directors at an Annual Meeting, a shareholder’s recommendation must be received by the
Committee not later than the 120th day prior to the first anniversary of the date that our proxy statement was first mailed
to our shareholders in conjunction with our preceding year’s Annual Meeting. Recommendations submitted by
shareholders other than in accordance with these procedures will not be considered by the Committee.

The Committee will evaluate candidates recommended by shareholders in a manner similar to its evaluation of other
candidates. The Committee considers the overall composition of the Board in light of our current and future needs and
will select candidates to be recommended to the Board of Directors each year based on its assessment of, among other
things, (1) candidates’ business, professional, personal and educational background, skills experience and expertise;

(2) community leadership; (3) independence; (4) potential contributions to the Board that are unusual or unique;

(5) knowledge of our company, the Bank, and their respective operations; (6) personal financial interest in our and the
Bank’s long-term growth, stability, and success; (7) the performance and past and future contributions of our current
directors, and the value of continuity and prior Board experience; (8) the existence of one or more vacancies on the Board;
(9) the need for a director possessing particular attributes, skills, experience or expertise; (10) the role of directors in the
Banks’ business development activities; (11) diversity; and (12) other factors that it considers relevant, including any
specific qualifications the Board adopts from time to time.

The Committee and our Board recognize the benefits derived from a Board composed of individuals who bring
different attributes, experiences, and perspectives to the Board’s deliberations. However, they do not consider diversity
for the sake of diversity to be a basis for the nomination, election or appointment of a director, and they have not adopted
any written or mandatory diversity policy or criteria that is applicable to the director nominations process. In evaluating
and selecting prospective nominees, diversity is one of the multiple factors considered by the Committee and the Board.
For these purposes, they consider diversity to encompass a variety of characteristics of candidates, including, by way of
example, business and professional experience, academic background, geographic location within our banking markets,
gender and race. : ' '

The Nominations Committee recommended to our Board of Directors that our current directors listed above under
the caption “Nominees” whose terms are expiring at the Annual Meeting be nominated for re-election for new terms of
office. :
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Compensation Committee

Our Compensation Committee is a joint committee of the Bank’s and our Boards of Directors. The Committee met
six times during 2009.

Under its written charter, and in addition to other duties that may be assigned from time to time by the Boards, the
Committee reviews and provides overall guidance to the Boards regarding our executive compensation and benefit
programs and makes recommendations to the Boards regarding:

® cash and other compensation paid or provided to our and the Bank’s Chief Executive Officer and other executive
officers;

® the adoption of new compensation or benefit plans, or changes in existing plans, under which compensation or
benefits are or will be paid or provided to those persons; and

® the administration of our 2008 Omnibus Equity Plan and the Bank’s annual incentive program.

The Committee, along with our Chief Risk Officer, periodically reviews our and the Bank’s compensation plans to
determine whether there are potential areas of risk that reasonably could be expected to have a material adverse effect on
our business and financial results and to ensure continued oversight and mitigation of risk within our compensation
practices. In particular, in connection with our participation in the U.S. Department of the Treasury’s TARP Capital
Purchase Program, the Committee is required to meet with our Chief Risk Officer each six months to review and discuss
our compensation arrangements to ensure that arrangements in which our senior executive officers participate do not
encourage those officers to take unnecessary and excessive risks that threaten the value of our company, and that
arrangements in which employees in general participate do not encourage the manipulation of our reported earnings to
enhance the compensation of any employees. It also reviews and makes recommendations to the Boards regarding
amounts of compensation paid to our directors and, to the extent requested by the Boards, compensation paid
(individually or in the aggregate) to other employees of the Bank.

In performing its duties, the Committee may, if it considers it appropriate, delegate any of its responsibilities to a
subcommittee. However, any subcommittee must be composed entirely of independent directors. The Committee is
authorized to conduct investigations, and to request and consider any information (from management or otherwise) that it
believes is necessary, relevant or helpful in its deliberations and in making its recommendations. It may rely on
information provided by management without further verification. However, under its charter, when the Committee takes
an action, it should exercise independent judgment on an informed basis and in a manner it considers to be in the best
interests of our shareholders. In reviewing and considering the recommendations it will make to the Boards regarding the
compensation of our directors and executive officers, the Committee considers information provided by our Chief
Executive Officer, including in the case of officers other than himself, information about those other officers” individual
performance and his recommendations as to their compensation. After receiving the Committee’s recommendations, the
Boards or their joint Executive Committee make all final decisions regarding compensation matters.

The Committee may retain the services of outside counsel or consultants, at our or the Bank’s expense, and on terms
(including fees) that it approves. During 2009, the Committee retained the services of Amalfi Consulting to provide
executive and director compensation benchmarking and to review and advise the Committee with respect to the Bank’s
supplemental retirement arrangements with certain of the Bank’s officers and the Bank’s directors. Also, Matthews,
Young & Associates, Inc., was retained by the Board during 2009 to advise and assist its Succession Committee in its
search for and selection of our and the Bank’s new Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, and with respect
to those new officers’ terms of employment and compensation. Other than in an advisory capacity as described above,
neither Amalfi Consulting nor Matthews, Young & Associates, Inc. had any role in the actual recommendations made by
the Committee to the Boards, or in the Boards” approval of amounts of executive or director compensation.

Executive Committee

Our Executive Committee is a joint committee of our and the Bank’s Boards of Directors. Under our Bylaws, the
Committee is authorized to exercise all the powers of the Boards in the management of our and the Bank’s affairs when
the Boards are not in session, subject to the ability of the full Boards to limit the Committee’s authority. The Executive
Committee met 20 times during 2009.
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
We consider the Bank’s and our officers listed below to be our executive officers.

A. Dwight Utz, age 56, was elected to serve as our and the Bank’s President and Chief Executive Officer effective
July 1, 2009. Prior to his employment with us, he served as Executive Vice President and Chief Retail Officer for
MidSouth Bancorp, a bank holding company headquartered in Lafayette, Louisiana, from 2001 until 2009. Previously, he
was employed from 1973 to 1995 by CCNB Bank N.A., Camp Hill, Pennsylvania, where he held senior management
positions and last served as Senior Vice President/Regional Market Executive. From 1995 to 2000 he was employed as a
corporate Vice President of PNC Financial Services Group, Inc., Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. Mr. Utz has a total of 37 years
of banking experience.

J. Dorson White, Jr., age 59, serves as our and the Bank’s Executive Vice President (since 1994) and Chief
Operating Officer (since 2002) and has been employed by the Bank since 1989. Previously, he was employed by Branch
Banking & Trust Co. and Wachovia Bank from 1973 until 1989. He has a total of 37 years of banking experience.

Thomas M. Crowder, age 53, was employed as our and the Bank’s Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer effective on February 8, 2010. Previously, he served as managing partner with Ascential Equity LLC, an
investment management company located in Richmond, Virginia, where he had been employed since 2007. From 2003
until 2007, he served as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Trans Community Financial Corporation,
a community bank holding company headquartered in Glen Allen, Virginia. Mr. Crowder began his banking career in
1978 as a banking officer and branch manager with Wachovia Bank and Trust in Raleigh, North Carolina. In 1983, he
joined Sovran Bank as a Vice President and brokerage manager and later served as Vice President of Sovran Capital
Management in Richmond, VA. In 1986, Mr. Crowder was named President of Crestar Securities Corporation (the
broker-dealer subsidiary of Crestar Financial Corp, a regional bank holding company), followed by a position as Executive
Vice President of the Guilford Company (a private financial services company). He has a total of 32 years of banking and
financial experience.

James J. Burson, age 48, has served as our and the Bank’s Executive Vice President and Chief Revenue Officer since
November 2, 2009. Prior to his employment with us, he was a principal in Diamond Management & Technology
Consultants, Inc., Chicago, Illinois, a bank consulting firm, from 2006 to 2009. From 2005 to 2006, Mr. Burson served as a
senior bank strategist for BancIntelligence, Atlanta, Georgia, a bank consulting and decision support software firm. From
1997 to 2005, he served as Senior Vice President for MarkeTech Systems/Maplnfo, Raleigh, North Carolina, a bank
consulting and decision support software firm. Previously, he was employed by PNC Financial Corporation, Pittsburgh,
Pennsylvania, from 1993 to 1997 where he was in charge of strategic planning, sales management, distribution planning,
merger integration and direct bank marketing, and by Andersen Consulting from 1989 to 1993 as a banking strategy and
operations improvement consultant. He began his banking career with LaSalle National Bank, Chicago, Illinois, where he
was employed for five years. Mr. Burson has a total of 25 years of banking experience. ‘

Gary M. Adams, age 56, was appointed to serve as the Bank’s and our Senior Vice President and Director of
Financial Reporting effective during February 2010. Previously, he had served as our and the Bank’s Chief Financial
Officer since 1985. He has been employed by the Bank since 1981 and has a total of 29 years of banking experience.

T. Olin Davis, age 54, was elected to serve as our and the Bank’s Senior Vice President and Chief Credit Officer
effective on January 1, 2007. He previously served as Senior Vice President and Credit Policy Officer since September
2006. He was employed by the Bank from September 1993 until May 2006 during which time he last served as Senior
Vice President and Outer Banks Regional Manager, and he was employed by First Carolina State Bank, Rocky Mount,
North Carolina, as Chief Credit Officer from May 2006 until he rejoined the Bank. He has a total of 32 years of banking
experience.
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EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Summary

The following table shows the cash and certain other compensation paid or provided to or deferred by our named
executive officers for 2009, 2008 and 2007. Our executive officers are compensated by the Bank for their services as its
officers, and they receive no separate salaries or other cash compensation from us. With the exception of our Chief
Executive Officer who is employed under an employment agreement with the Bank as described below, each of our
current named officers is employed on an “at will” basis and subject to re-election as an officer each year, and none of
them have employment agreements with us or the Bank.

SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

Change in

Stock Option Non-Equi Pension All Other
Salary Awards Awards Incentive P Value  Compensation

Name and Principal Position Year 3) Bonus 4) 5) Compensation (6) (7 Total
Arthur H. Keeney III (1) 2009 $149692 $ -0- $§ -0- § -O- $ -0- $ 11,166 $41,697 $202,555

President and Chief 2008 278,000 -0- 61,250 -0- -0- 164,347 21,039 524,636

Executive Officer .......cceoveun.n.. 2007 270,000 -0- -0- 78,195 -0- 149,440 24,455 522,090
A. Dwight Utz (2)

President and

Chief Executive Officer.............. 2009 140,246 -0- 24,525 -0- -0- -0- 28,051 192,822
J. Dorson White, Jr. 2009 165,000 -0- -0- -0- -0- 32,367 10,543 207,910

Executive Vice President 2008 165,000 -0- -0- 17,520 -0- 29,194 9,892 221,606

and Chief Operating Officer ..... 2007 160,000 -0- -0- 43,246 -0- 27,230 12,365 242 841
T. Olin Davis 2009 125,000 -0- -0- -0- -0- 9,257 7,257 141,514

Senior Vice President 2008 115,000 -0- -0- 14,600 -0- 8,350 6,405 144,355

and Chief Credit Officer ........... 2007 110,000 2,000 -0- 8,733 -0- 7,898 6,957 135,588

@D

@)

(5)

(6)

Mr. Keeney retired from his position as President and Chief Executive Officer during 2009. He served as a member
of our Board of Directors throughout 2009. While he was an officer, he received no cash compensation for his service
as a director. Fees he received as a non-employee director following his retirement are listed under “All Other
Compensation.” ’

Mr. Utz was first employed during June 2009 and was elected as President and Chief Executive Officer effective on
July 1, 2009. He is a member of our Board of Directors, but he receives no additional compensation for his service as
a director.

Each officer’s salary for each year includes the amount deferred at his election under our Section 401(k) plan and, in
Mr. Keeney's case, under a separate non-qualified deferred compensation plan. The Bank’s matching contributions
on behalf of each officer under our Section 401(k) plan are included in the “All Other Compensation” column. As
described below under the caption “Deferred Compensation,” amounts deferred by Mr. Keeney under that separate
plan during his employment were invested for him by an unrelated bank, and we did not make any matching
contribution to, or pay any interest or other amount or guarantee any rate of return on, his deferred compensation.
Mr. Keeney’s 2009 salary amount also includes $10,692 for unused vacation leave which was paid in connection with
his retirement.

Reflects the aggregate grant date fair value, as computed under FASB ASC Topic 178, of restricted stock awards
granted to each officer during each year. Grant date fair values of restricted stock awards are equal to the fair market
values of the underlying shares at the time the awards were granted.

Reflects the aggregate grant date fair value, as computed under FASB ASC Topic 178, of stock options granted to
each officer during each year. A discussion of material assumptions made in our valuation of outstanding stock
options is contained in Notes 1(O) and 9 to our consolidated financial statements.

Reflects the increase during each year in the present value of each officer’s future benefits, pro rated by service at
each year end over total service remaining until normal retirement date, under their supplemental retirement plan
agreements described below under the caption “Retirement Benefits.” In Mr. Keeney’s case, the amount shown for
2009 is a net amount based on a decrease of $36,695 in the actuarial present value of future benefits related to his
Executive Supplemental Retirement Plan agreement, plus $41,390 in benefits he received under that plan agreement
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during 2009 following his retirement and $6,471 representing an increase in the actuarial present value of future

benefits related to his Director Supplemental Retirement Plan Agreement under which he has not yet begun to

receive benefit payments. The Bank has not entered into a supplemental retirement plan agreement with Mr. Utz.
(7) The following table describes each officer’s “Other Compensation” for 2009.

Description Mr. Keeney Mr. Utz Mr. White Mr. Davis

The Bank’s matching contributions for the officers’ accounts

under our Section 401(k) plan...........coooiiiirnniinn $ 6,273 $ 1225 $ 9976  $7,257
Cash dividends paid (on the same basis as they were paid to all our

shareholders) on shares covered by unvested restricted stock

AWATAS «.eeveeeverireerisreresriteseereeserseressesessesesaebestasesessestosnasemsssabsastonsnen 306 — 567 —
Director’s fees received as a non-employee director (a) ........c..ccue... 8,250 — — —_
Compensation for post-retirement services (B) e 14,500 — —_ —
Estimates of our incremental costs related to personal

DENELIES (C) .ovvirerrieieiiriirieireieretesrsseseseseesesesssestsessssnsssnssebesensnsnes 12,368 26,826 — —

TOAL .ottt ettt et s s sr b e bbb s ness e en e s b s sr s $41,697 $28,051 $10,543  $7,257

(a) Reflects fess paid to Mr. Keeney following his retirement as an officer during 2009.

(b) Reflects the estimated value of a Bank-owned vehicle given to Mr. Keeney following his retirement in
consideration for continued services and personal travel he provided at the Bank’s request in connection with its
management transition. ‘

(c) From time to time our executive officers may receive, or we may treat them as having received, non-cash
personal benefits. During 2009, the personal benefits which Messrs. Keeney and Utz received included: for
Mr. Keeney - personal use of a Bank-owned vehicle, and the Bank’s payment of civic club dues and premiums
for long-term care insurance covering him and his spouse; for Mr. Utz - personal use of a Bank-owned vehicle,
payment of or reimbursement for moving and other expenses during 2009 associated with the relocation of his
residence (including commissions and settlement charges on the sale of his previous residence, temporary living
expenses, travel and other relocation expenses), and the Bank’s payment of premiums for long-term care
insurance covering him and his spouse. Messrs. White and Davis also receive various personal benefits, but our
estimated aggregate incremental cost associated with benefits received by each of those officers during 2009 was
less than $10,000 and the amounts of those benefits are not included in the table. We also provide our officers
with group life, health, medical and other insurance coverages that are generally available to all salaried
employees, and the cost of that insurance is not included in the table. As described below under the caption
“Potential Payments Upon Termination of Employment or a Change of Control,” Messrs. Keeney, White and
Davis are covered by split-dollar life insurance policies that are owned by the Bank and for which it paid
lump-sum premiums during 2002. No premiums were paid on those policies during 2009, and no amounts
related to those policies are included in the table. Also, in connection with Mr. Keeney’s retirement during 2009,
we made a contribution of $50,000 in his honor to Beaufort Community College Foundation from which he
received no personal benefit and which is not included in the table.

Employment Agreements.

Mr. Keeney. Until his retirement during 2009, Mr. Keeney was employed by the Bank as its President and Chief
Executive Officer under an employment agreement entered into during 1998. The agreement provided for:

® a “rolling” term of three years that, at the end of each year, was extended by one additional year unless either the
Bank or Mr. Keeney gave notice that the agreement would no longer be extended;

@ annual base salary which was subject to review and periodic increase by the Bank’s Board; and
® the right to participate in bonus or incentive plans and other benefits made available by the Bank to its executive

officers.

The agreement contained other provisions under which payments and benefits would be provided to Mr. Keeney,
and that limited his ability to compete against the Bank, following a termination of his employment under various
circumstances, including termination following a change in control of the Bank. The agreement expired upon
Mr. Keeney’s retirement during 2009 and is no longer in effect.
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Mr. Utz. Our current President and Chief Executive Officer, A. Dwight Utz, is employed by the Bank under an
employment agreement which provides for:

® a “rolling” term of three years that, at the end of each year, will be extended by one additional year unless the Bank
gives notice that the agreement will no longer be extended;

® annual base salary (originally $245,000 and to be increased to $259,000 after six months of employment on
January 1, 2010) which is subject to review and periodic increase by the Bank’s Board;

® personal use of a Bank-owned vehicle, reimbursement for reasonable travel and other business-related expenses,
and payment of premiums for an existing long-term care insurance policy covering him and his spouse; and

® subject to restrictions under applicable U.S. Department of the Treasury’s TARP Capital Purchase Program Rules,
the right to participate in bonus or incentive plans and other benefits made available by the Bank to its executive
officers.

The agreement contains other provisions that call for payments and benefits to be made or provided to Mr. Utz, and
that limit his ability to compete against the Bank, following a termination of his employment under various circumstances,
including termination following a change in control of the Bank. Those provisions are described below under the caption
“Potential Payments Upon Termination of Employment or a Change of Control.”

The agreement provides that Mr. Utz will serve as a member of our and the Bank’s Boards of Directors and that,
subject to his continued satisfaction of eligibility requirements for service as a director, at the end of each term of office
our Board of Directors will nominate Mr. Utz for re-election by our shareholders for a new term. Following his
re-nomination at the end of each term, his service as a director will be subject to his election by a vote of our shareholders.
Mr. Utz has agreed that, if his service as President and Chief Executive Officer terminates for any reason, his service as a
director also will terminate.

Separate from Mr. Utz’s employment agreement, in connection with his employment during 2009 we also agreed:

® to reimburse him for out-of-pocket moving and other relocation expenses actually incurred in connection with
moving his residence to North Carolina (including packing, transportation and relocation expenses; temporary
living expenses for up to 90 days, and temporary storage expenses for up to 180 days; closing costs on the sale of his
current home and purchase of new home; up to six airfares between Louisiana and North Carolina; and up to
$20,000 in other relocation expenses); and

@ until his coverage under our group health insurance plan became effective, and while he was paying for extended
coverage under his previous employer’s group plan, to pay him the amount of expense we otherwise would have
incurred in providing coverage to him under our group plan.

The amounts of payments to Mr. Utz under those arrangements are included in the “All Other Compensation”
column of the Summary Compensation Table above.

Plan-Based Awards

We have three compensation plans under which awards have been granted, or from time to time in the future may be
granted, to our executive officers, including our:

® Omnibus Stock Ownership and Long Term Incentive Plan (the “Old Plan”) which expired on January 21, 2008,
and under which stock options and restricted stock awards have been granted and remain outstanding;

® 2008 Omnibus Equity Plan (the “New Plan”) which was approved by our shareholders at our 2008 Annual Meeting
to replace the Old Plan and under which options, restricted stock awards and performance share awards may be
granted in the future; and

® Incentive Plan under which additional cash compensation may be paid each year based primarily on our corporate
performance.

When the Old Plan expired on January 21, 2008, 52,831 shares remained available for the grant of new awards. No
new awards may be granted under the Old Plan following its expiration, but outstanding awards granted under the Old
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Plan prior to its expiration remain in effect and are subject to its terms. The New Plan was adopted during 2008 and
approved by our shareholders at our 2008 Annual Meeting. It authorizes the issuance of up to 200,000 shares of our
common stock in connection with awards granted under it.

Stock Options, Restricted Stock Awards and Performance Share Awards. A stock option gives the officer to
whom it is granted the right to buy shares of our common stock during a stated period of time (ordinarily ten years) at a
fixed price per share equal to the fair market value of our stock on the date the option is granted. Options usually “vest,” or
become exercisable, at intervals as to portions of the shares they cover based on a vesting schedule. They generally
terminate immediately on the date of, or after a stated number of days following, the termination of an officer’s
employment. Options may be granted as “incentive stock options” that qualify for special tax treatment under the Internal
Revenue Code, or they may be “non-qualified stock options™ that do not qualify for that special tax treatment. All
outstanding options we granted under the Old Plan were incentive stock options, and we expect that options granted in
the future under the New Plan also will be incentive stock options.

Restricted stock awards are conditional grants of shares of our common stock to officers subject to restrictions that
expire over time as to all or portions of the shares. When an award is granted, the shares are issued and the officer begins
to receive cash dividends on the shares (at the same rate and on the same basis as our other shareholders) during the
restriction period. However, the shares may not be sold or transferred until the restriction period ends. In most cases the
shares become “vested” over time and, if the officer’s employment terminates for any reason prior to the end of the
restriction period, he forfeits all unvested shares. As the restrictions expire, the shares become “vested” and are released to
the officer. However, during 2009 we granted an award to our new Chief Executive Officer under which the shares were
immediately vested but cannot be transferred until we no longer are a participant in the U.S. Department of the
Treasury’s TARP Capital Purchase Program.

In addition to stock options and restricted stock awards, the Old Plan authorized the grant of other types of awards,
including long-term incentive compensation awards (cash awards that would be earned based on our performance
measured against set goals over a period of two or more years) and stock appreciation rights. However, we never granted
any such other awards. The New Plan authorizes the grant of performance share awards which are awards of shares of our
common stock that may be earned based on performance objectives or criteria specified at the time the awards are
granted. Like restricted stock awards, performance shares would be granted subject to conditions that must be satisfied
before the employee will own the shares outright. However, performance shares would be earned only to the extent that
performance criteria are met by the end of a measurement period, while restricted stock awards usually are granted
subject only to the condition of continued employment. Also, performance shares would not actually be issued until the
end of the measurement period during which the performance criteria must be met, while restricted shares are issued at
the time awards are granted and become unrestricted at the end of the restriction period. We have not yet granted any
performance share awards under the New Plan.

Neither stock options nor restricted stock awards granted under the Old Plan or New Plan include any performance-
based conditions. The exercise price of stock options, and the vesting schedule of options and restricted stock awards, are
determined by our Board, based on the recommendation of the Compensation Committee, at the time they are granted.
To create a continuing incentive for officers to continue their employment with the Bank, awards generally have been
granted under the Old Plan each year, with overlapping vesting periods so that each officer always held awards that
became vested in the future. During the term of the Old Plan, the Committee generally has alternated between grants of
stock options (which require officers to make payments to us upon exercise) and restricted stock awards (which do not
require any payment from the officers). However, more recently, the Committee has tended to award stock options rather
than restricted stock awards because it believes that options provide a greater incentive value. The Committee usually
considers the grant of awards at the beginning of each year, but grants have not been timed in relation to earnings releases
or other company news.

The Committee has used its own judgment in determining the levels of awards that it considers to be reasonable and
that will help us achieve the goals of our incentive program. In the past there have been no specific measures or criteria on
which the Committee has determined the amounts of stock options or stock awards that have been granted to our
executive officers.
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Incentive Plan. Under our Incentive Plan, a portion of the cash compensation paid each year to our executive
officers and other employees chosen to participate in the plan may be tied to the extent to which we achieve goals set by
our Board for the year with respect to various measures of corporate performance. The measures vary for employees at
different levels within the Bank, but the measures that in past years have applied to our executive officers are our:

® return on average equity (our “ROAE”);
® return on average assets (our “ROAA”); and

® ratio of operating expenses to average assets (our “Expense Ratio”).

For each measure, in past years our Board has set a “threshold,” “target,” and “maximum” level of performance based
generally on our business plan for that year, as well as a “weight” that would determine the degree to which our
performance results under each measure would affect the amounts of cash awards. The Board also has set “award triggers”
which were minimum requirements that must be met before any cash awards could be paid. For our executive officers,
more relative weight has been given to overall bank performance. For other participants, the incentive has been focused
more on local factors, such as branch performance and local cost control, although there has been a smaller component
for overall bank performance. Cash awards under the plan have been calculated based on a percentage of each
participant’s annual base salary.

Our Board has attempted to set our annual incentive goals early in the year, but the Compensation Committee has
reviewed them at the end of the year to judge whether they were reasonable and achieved what they were intended to
achieve. The Committee always may recommend adjustments for factors during the year that it believes were outside of
the control of the various participants. The Committee also has discretion to recommend a reduction in a participant’s
indicated award amount, or payment of an additional amount, based on individual performance during the year.

During January 2009, we became a participant in the U.S. Department of the Treasury's TARP Capital Purchase
Program. Under rules adopted by Treasury under the Emergency Economic Stabilization Act of 2008 that apply to
participants in that program, and with limited exceptions, we are prohibited from paying or accruing any bonus, retention
award or incentive compensation to our most highly compensated employee. Also, in connection with any bonuses or
incentive compensation, we are required to implement provisions to "clawback" payments to our senior executive officers
and our next 20 highest paid employees if any of the criteria on which those payments are based is later found to have
been inaccurate. :

For 2008 and 2007, performance goals set by the Board were not met and, as a result, no cash awards were paid
under the Incentive Plan for those years. Our Compensation Committee suspended the Incentive Plan for 2009. As a
result, no performance goals were set, and no awards have been or will be made, under the Plan for 2009.

Grants During 2009. During 2009, we granted a restricted stock award to our new Chief Executive Officer,
Mr. Utz. The following table contains information about that award. No awards were granted during 2009 to any of our
other executive officers named in the Summary Compensation Table above and, as indicated above, the Incentive Plan
was not in effect for 2009 and none of our executive officers were eligible to receive any cash award under that Plan.

GRANTS OF PLAN-BASED AWARDS DURING 2009

. Exercise or Grant Date
UE:]hm;ted gutlfre IP ayongs Number of Number of Base Price of Fair Value of
n erPl;): A qu (111;:en ve Shares of  Securities Option Stock and
Grant W Stock Underlying Awards Option
Name Date Threshold Target Maximum or Units (2) Options ($/Share) Awards (3)
A. DWight Utz....... 08/26/2009 —_ - _ 1,500 —_ L — $24 525

(1) For 2009, the Incentive Plan was not in effect and no cash awards have been or will be paid under the Plan.

(2) Mr. Utz’s restricted stock was fully vested when granted, but the award was granted on the condition that he may not
transfer any of the shares until such time as we have redeemed all shares of our preferred stock issued to the U. S.
Department of the Treasury under the TARP Capital Purchase Program.

(3) The grant date fair value of the restricted stock award has have been computed under FASB ASC Topic 718 based on
the market value of the underlying stock on the date of grant ($16.35 per share).
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Outstanding Stock Options and Restricted Stock Awards. The following table contains information about all
unexercised stock options (listed individually) and unvested restricted stock awards (listed in the aggregate) held on
December 31, 2009, by our executive officers named in the Summary Compensation Table.

OUTSTANDING EQUITY AWARDS AT 2009 YEAR END

Option Awards Stock Awards
Number of Market
Number of Number of Shares or Value of
Securities Securities Units of Shares or
Underlyin, Underlyin, Stock Units of
Unexercise: Unexercise Option Option That Have Stock That
Stock Options ~ Stock Options  Exercise  Expiration Not Have Not
Name (Exercisable) (Unexercisable) Price (1) Date Vested Vested
Arthur H. Keeney III.........cccoveniniiiiinnnnencne 8,954 -0- $29.00 06/30/10 — —
8,954 -0- 28.52  06/30/10 — —_
8,954 . -0- 32.60 06/30/10 e —
A. Dwight Utz......coviiriiriiiieeiine — — — — 2) (2)
J. Dorson White, Jr....ccccovuiinrininnrnninnisiinneinns 1,960(3) -0- 10.00 02/16/10 — —
1,700 -0- 13.25 01/16/12 — —
3,301 1,651(4) 29.00 05/17/15 — —
1,651 3,301(5) 28.52  02/21/16 — —_
-0- 4,952(6) 32.60 02/23/17 — —
-0- 3,000(7) 2450 05/22/18 —_ —
T. Oln DaviS ..cceevveveieeiireiiriiireirerresrrenseeseeesenes -0- 1,000(6) 32.60 02/23/17 —_— —
-0- 2,500(7) 2450 05/22/18 — —

(1) The last reported trade price for our common stock on the NASDAQ Global Market on March 12, 2010, was $11.42.
(2) As described in the table under the heading “GRANTS OF PLAN-BASED AWARDS DURING 2009,” a stock award
covering 1,500 shares was granted to Mr. Utz during 2009 which was fully vested when granted, but the award was
granted on the condition that he may not transfer any of the shares until such time as we have redeemed all shares of
our preferred stock issued to the U. S. Department of the Treasury under the TARP Capital Purchase Program.
Because the award is fully vested, it is not listed in the table above. The aggregate market value of the shares on
December 31, 2009 was $16,665 based on the last reported trade price for our common stock on the NASDAQ
Global Market on the last trading day of 2009 ($11.11 per share).

Exercised on February 16, 2010.

Exercisable as to all of the remaining shares on May 17, 2010.

Exercisable as to one-half of the remaining shares on each of February 21, 2010 and 2011.

Exercisable as to one-third of the shares on each of February 23, 2010, 2011 and 2012.

Exercisable as to one-third of the shares on each of May 22, 2011, 2012 and 2013.

A/-\/\/-\/-\
=1 O O i W
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Exercises and Vesting. The following table contains information about outstanding restricted stock awards held by
our executive officers named in the Summary Compensation Table that became vested during 2009. None of those
executive officers exercised any stock options during 2009.

OPTION EXERCISES AND STOCK VESTED DURING 2009

Option Awards Stock Awards
Number of Shares Value Realized  Number of Shares  Value Realized
Name Acquired on Exercise ~ on Exercise  Acquired on Vesting  on Vesting (1)
Arthur H. Keeney IIL ..o -0- — 1,679 (2) $29,802
2,500 (3) 38,250
A. Dwight UZ vttt -0- — 1,500 (4) 24,525 (5)
J. Dorson White, Jr. .....coonmvivivinniiiniccncsiiaens -0- — 567 (2) 10,064

(1) Values realized on vesting of stock awards are based on last reported trade prices for our stock on the NASDAQ
Global Market on the last trading day prior to each vesting date.

(2) Reflects shares of restricted stock covered by awards that became vested on January 13, 2009.

(3) Reflects shares of restricted stock covered by awards that became vested on March 31, 2009.

(4) Mr. Utz’s 1,500-share stock award was fully vested when granted on August 26, 2009, but the award was granted on
the condition that he may not transfer any of the shares until such time as we have redeemed all shares of our
preferred stock issued to the U. S. Department of the Treasury under the TARP Capital Purchase Program. The
award is reflected in the table above as having “vested” during 2009. However, the award remains subject to the
above restriction prohibiting any transfer of the shares.

Deferred Compensation

During his employment, we had a separate arrangement under which Mr. Keeney could elect each year, in advance,
to defer receipt of up to 90% of his salary and up to 100% of any bonus. We paid the deferred amounts to an independent
trustee that credited them to a deferral account for Mr. Keeney. We do not make any contributions to, or pay any interest
or other amount or guarantee any rate of return on, Mr. Keeney’s deferral account. The trustee invests amounts credited
to the account, as directed by Mr. Keeney, into any one or a combination of investment funds available under the
arrangement which are similar to those available to our officers and employees for the investment of their account
balances under our Section 401(k) plan. His investment elections may be changed each quarter. Following his retirement
during 2009, the balance of Mr. Keeney’s deferral account will be paid to him in annual payments over three years. None
of our other executive officers participate in the arrangement.
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The following table contains information about Mr. Keeney’s deferral account for 2009.

NONQUALIFIED DEFERRED COMPENSATION DURING 2009

Aggregate
Executive Company Aggregate  Withdrawals/  Aggregate
Contributions Contributions Earnings Distributions Balance
Name o in 2009 (1) in 2009 (2) in 2009 %3) in 2009 at 12/31/09 (4)
Arthur H. Keeney IL.........covivivivinininiiienins $27,878 $-0- $57.920 $-0- $308,289

(1) The full amount deferred by Mr. Keeney for 2009 is included in his salary listed in the Summary Compensation
Table.

(2) We do not make any contributions to Mr. Keeney’s account under the plan.

(3) Reflects net amount of realized earnings and unrealized gains and losses during 2009. Losses on Mr. Keeney’s
account are not listed in the Summary Compensation Table. All deferred amounts are invested by an independent
trustee, and we do not pay any interest or other amount, or guarantee any return, on his deferred compensation.

(4) Mr. Keeney's contributions to the Plan since 2002 total $272,036 (including his 2009 contribution). All amounts
contributed in prior years were disclosed as salary, bonus or non-equity incentive plan compensation in the Summary
Compensation Tables contained in our proxy statements for those years.

Retirement Benefits

As a supplement to our Section 401(k) plan, the Bank has entered into separate agreements with Messrs. Keeney,
White and Davis under which, following their retirement at age 65, it will make payments to them until their deaths. The
agreements specify amounts of payments (which increase each year) to each officer during an initial specified benefit
period following his retirement date. After each officer’s initial period, his payments will increase or decrease based on a
formula that includes a comparison of the Bank’s return on cash value life insurance policies it has purchased to cover its
costs associated with each officer’s benefits, to the Bank’s opportunity costs associated with the premiums it paid on those
policies and any benefits paid to the officers under their agreements. Reduced benefits will be payable if an officer’s
employment terminates under various circumstances prior to age 65. If an officer retires or is terminated without cause
after age 59 %2 but before age 65, his annual benefits (which will begin following his early termination date) will be
reduced by 18.18% for each full year between his termination date and age 65. If he resigns or is terminated without cause
before age 592, his annual benefits (which will not begin until age 65) will be equal to 10% of his full benefits for each
year he has been employed by the Bank, but not more than 80% of his full annual benefit amount. However, if an officer’s
employment is terminated for any reason following a change in control of the Bank, he will retain the right to full benefits
under his agreement beginning at age 65. If the officer becomes disabled, he will receive a reduced benefit, payable over
10 years, beginning at age 65, calculated based on the amount of his accrued benefit at the time of disability plus 7% per
year until the end of the 10-year period. All benefits are forfeited if an officer’s employment is terminated for cause.

As a director, Mr. Keeney also has a separate, similar agreement with the Bank under a plan that provides retirement

benefits to directors. The terms of that plan are described under the caption “Director Compensation—Director
Retirement and Death Benefits.”
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The following table contains information about benefits that may be paid under the agreements to each of the named
officers.

PENSION BENEFITS

Present Value of  Payments
i Number of Years Accumulated During Last
Name Plan Name Credited Service Benefit (1) Fiscal Year

Arthur H. Keeney III............. Executive Supplemental Retirement Plan 14 © $783424 $41,390

Director Supplemental Retirement Plan 14 35,819 -0-
J. Dorson White, Jr................ Executive Supplemental Retirement Plan 20 176,385 -0-
T. Olin Davis .....cccceevvrvarennne Executive Supplemental Retirement Plan 16 49,500 -0-

(1) The amounts listed reflect the present value of each officer’s future benefits under the plan, pro rated by service to
December 31, 2009, over total service remaining until normal retirement date. The amounts are calculated under
FAS No. 87, based on the same assumptions we use for our consolidated financial statements and assuming that
payments will be made to each officer following his retirement at age 65 in amounts, and for an initial benefit period,
stated in the officer’s agreement. The initial benefit period, and the actual beginning and ending annual benefit
amount during that period, for each officer are reflected in the table below.

Name Plan Name Period  Auneal Bonght  Anmual Bepeit
Arthur H. Keeney I1I........ Executive Supplemental Retirement Plan 12 years $82,779 $108,046
Director Supplemental Retirement Plan 7 years 11,373 12,553
J. Dorson White, Jr........... Executive Supplemental Retirement Plan  11years = 51,362 62,469
T. Olin Davis........ccccoeuvunne. Executive Supplemental Retirement Plan 10 years 26,039 30,381

Potential Payments Upon Termination of Employment or a Change of Control

The Bank has entered into agreements and arrangements with Messrs. Utz, White and Davis which, as described in
the paragraphs below, provide for those officers to receive payments and benefits from the Bank if their employment
terminates under various circumstances. However, during January 2009, we became a participant in the U.S. Department
of the Treasury’s (“Treasury”) TARP Capital Purchase Program (the “CPP”). Under rules adopted by Treasury under the
Emergency Economic Stabilization Act of 2008, as amended by the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009,
that apply to CPP participants (the “CPP Rules”), we are prohibited from paying severance, “golden parachute,” and other
such payments to any of our senior executive officers, or to certain of our other employees, in connection with any
termination of their employment while we are a CPP participant, other than payments relating to services already
performed or benefits already accrued.

In order to comply with the CPP Rules, the named executive officers have agreed that our Board of Directors or
Compensation Committee may unilaterally, and without the officer’s consent, modify their compensation agreements or
arrangements (including by reducing or eliminating severance benefits) to the extent the Board, in its judgment, considers
necessary to comply with the CPP Rules and guidance governing compensation paid by CPP participants. As a result,
notwithstanding the terms of those agreements and arrangements, no severance or golden parachute payments could have
been made to Mr. Utz, Mr. White or Mr. Davis if his employment had terminated for any reason on December 31, 2009.

After our participation in the CPP has ended, the CPP Rules no longer will prohibit payments under these
agreements and arrangements. The table below lists estimates of aggregate payments and benefits that otherwise would
have been paid or provided to our executive officers listed in the Summary Compensation Table above if their
employment had terminated under various circumstances on December 31, 2009 and if on that date we had not been
subject to the CPP Rules.
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Under his employment agreement described above under the caption “Employment Agreements,” Mr. Keeney also
would have been entitled to receive certain payments and benefits if his employment had been terminated involuntarily,
without cause, during his term of employment. However, when Mr. Keeney retired during 2009, his agreement expired
and no longer provides for any payments to him. As a result, he is not included in the table below.

Employment Agreement with Mr. Utz. Under Mr. Utz’s employment agreement described above under the
caption “Employment Agreements,” and subject to restrictions described above related to our participation in the CPP, if
his employment is terminated by the Bank without cause, the Bank will be obligated to continue to pay his base salary for
the then-current unexpired term of employment under the Agreement (without any further extensions). The Bank may
terminate Mr. Utz’s employment without obligation at any time for cause.

Subject to restrictions relating to our participation in the CPP, if at the effective time of, or any time within 18
months following, a “Change of Control” as defined in the Agreement:

® the Bank or its successor terminates Mr. Utz’s employment without cause, or

® a “Termination Event” (as described below) occurs and, subject to specified notice and cure procedures, he
terminates his own employment,

then, in lieu of other termination payments provided for in the agreement, the Bank will be obligated to pay him, in 36
equal monthly payments, an aggregate amount equal to 2.99 times his “base amount” as defined in Section 280G of the
Internal Revenue Code. In addition, if Mr. Utz chooses to purchase continued health insurance coverage under the
Bank’s plan pursuant to COBRA, the Bank will reimburse him for the cost of that coverage for the maximum period
during which it is available to him under the law, but not longer than 18 months or the remainder of his then-current term
of employment.

A “termination event” will occur under Mr. Utz’s agreement if, after a Change in Control, and without Mr, Utz’s
consent:

® his base salary is materially reduced;

- ® his employee insurance, retirement or similar benefits are reduced in their level, scope or coverage, or eliminated,
without being replaced with substantially similar plans or benefits unless that action applies proportionately to all
participating salaried employees of the Bank;

® he is transferred to a job location more than 75 miles from his previous location; or

® his duties are materially reduced such that, if we continue to exist as a separate entity, he no longer serves in his
previous position or, if we do not continue to exist as a separate entity, he does not serve as an executive officer of
our successor or report directly to the successor’s Chairman, President or Chief Executive Officer.

If the Compensation Committee of the Bank’s Board of Directors reasonably believes that any payment to be made
to Mr. Utz under the Agreement on account of a Change in Control, whether separately or in combination with other
payments pursuant to any other agreements or arrangements, would be a “parachute payment,” as that term is defined in
Section 280G of the Internal Revenue Code, without regard to Section 280G(e) of the Code, then the Bank may modify
or reduce any such payments to the extent which the Committee in good faith deems to be necessary to avoid the
imposition of excise taxes on Mr. Utz and the disallowance of a deduction to the Bank under Section 280G.

In consideration of the Bank’s and our agreements, Mr. Utz agreed that for the 24-month period following any
termination of his employment, or any longer period for which the Agreement obligates the Bank for continued payments
of his base salary, he may not compete with the Bank in Hyde County, North Carolina, the counties contiguous thereto, or
the area within a 25 mile radius of any office maintained by the Bank.

Other Agreements. The Bank has separate agreements with Messrs. White and Davis. Subject to restrictions
described above related to our participation in the CPP, if their employment is terminated without “cause” and without 30
days’ advance written notice, they will be paid their salary for 30 days. However, if:

® their employment is terminated without cause within 90 days following a “Change in Control” (as defined in the
agreements) of the Bank or its parent company, or
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® they terminate their own employment within 90 days following a Change in Control in which a “termination event”
(as defined below) has occurred,

they will receive lump sum payments equal to 150% of the average of their base salaries, cash bonuses and cash incentives
paid to them over the three prior 12-month periods, and they will receive continued medical insurance coverage for a
period of 18 months (or, if shorter, for the period during which continued COBRA coverage is available to them under the
Bank’s group medical insurance plan). The Bank may terminate an officer’s agreement without cause at any time upon 30
days prior written notice or, in lieu of any notice, upon a lump sum payment of the officer’s salary for 30 days. The
agreements may be terminated with cause at any time and without any payment.

A “termination event” will occur under the agreements if, within three months following a change in control, the
officers’ salaries or responsibilities are materially reduced.

The agreements do not contain any restriction on the officers’ ability to compete with the Bank. However, the
agreements do provide that, following any termination of their employment, they may not disclose or make use of any
confidential information about the Bank’s business that they received during their employment.

Retirement and Other Voluntary Terminations. Under the supplemental retirement plan agreements between
the Bank and Messrs. Keeney, White and Davis, the Bank will pay normal retirement benefits to the officer following his
retirement at age 65, or reduced benefits following his early retirement after age 59 2. If an officer resigns, or his
employment is terminated by the Bank without cause, he will receive a reduced annual retirement benefit beginning
immediately if the termination occurs after age 59 ¥2 but before age 65, or beginning at age 65 if the termination occurs
before age 59 V2. If, following a change in control of the Bank, an officer resigns, or his employment is terminated without
cause, before age 59 %%, he will receive his full annual retirement benefit under this agreement beginning at age 65. If an
officer becomes disabled, he will receive a reduced benefit beginning at age 65. Amounts of benefits that may be paid
under those agreements are described above under the caption “Retirement Benefits.”

Endorsement Split-Dollar Agreements. The Bank has purchased life insurance policies covering Messrs.
Keeney, White and Davis and has entered into an Endorsement Split-Dollar Agreement with each of them. The policies
are owned by the Bank. Under the agreements, upon an officer’s death while he remains employed by the Bank or after a
termination of employment, a portion (from 0% to 80%) of the “net death proceeds” of that officer’s policy will be paid to
his beneficiary. The net death proceeds of a policy will equal the total death benefit payable under the policy minus the
cash surrender value of the policy. The actual percentage is determined based on whether the officer remains employed
by the Bank or is retired at the time of death and, if no longer employed for reasons other than retirement or disability,
the officer’s age and length of service. The Bank will receive the remainder of the death benefits, including the full cash
surrender value of the policy, which we expect will reimburse the Bank in full for its life insurance investment. During
2002, the Bank made one-time premium payments on the policies as follows: Mr. Keeney— $1,120,492; Mr. White—
$330,000; and Mr. Davis—$120,000. The amounts that would have been paid to Mr. White’s and Mr. Davis’ beneficiaries
under those policies had they died on December 31, 2009, are shown in the table below. The death benefit payable to
Mr. Keeney’s beneficiary in the event of his death on the same date would have been $918,034.
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Summary of Payment and Benefits. The following table lists estimates of aggregate payments and benefits that
otherwise would have been paid or provided to our executive officers listed in the Summary Compensation Table above if
their employment had terminated under various circumstances on December 31, 2009 and if on that date we had not
been subject to the CPP Rules.

Type of Termination Event and A. Dwight J. Dorson T. Olin
Description of Payment or Benefit Utz White Davis

Involuntary Termination Without Cause

(Other than After a Change in Control):
Aggregate cash PAYIMENLS ........c...vvvverieriiniinr s $612,500 (1) _$ 13,750 (2) $ 10,417 (2)

Involuntary Termination Without Cause, or Voluntary
Termination as a Result of a Termination Event, After a

Change in Control:
Aggregate cash PAYMENS .........oovverueniinimciecnini s 780,058 (3) 245,000 (4) 176,000 (4)
Continued iNSUTANCE COVETAZE .......vurrmrirriiriersssssssssissessssisses s ssssanssassins 7,523 (5) 7523(5) 7,523 (5)
Death:
Death benefits under split-dollar life insurance policies .......c..oocovernernerncrineinnce — 406,284 (6) 193,706 (6)
Death benefits under our employee group life insurance plan..........c.cccoevvecnnee 150,000 (7) 150,000 (7) 150,000 (7)

(1) Reflécts the aggregate amount of monthly payments that would be paid to Mr. Utz during the remaining term of his
employment agreement which, on December 31, 2009, was approximately 30 months.
(2) Reflects payment of 30 days salary that would be paid to each officer if his employment had been terminated without

30 days prior written notice.
(3) Reflects an amount equal to 2.99 times Mr. Utz’s “base amount” as defined in Section 280G of the Internal Revenue

Code that would be paid to him in 36 equal monthly payments.

(4) Reflects an amount equal to 150% of the average of the officer’s base salary, cash bonus and cash incentives over the
three prior 12-month periods.

(5) Reflects our estimate of the aggregate cost (discounted to present value) of continued medical insurance coverage for
18 months under COBRA. The amount has been calculated under FAS 106 based on the same actuarial assumptions
as would be used for financial statement purposes under generally accepted accounting principles.

(6) Reflects the portion of the aggregate death benefits payable under the split-dollar insurance policies that would be
paid to the officer’s beneficiary. The remainder of the death benefits, including the full cash value of the policies,
would be paid to the Bank.

(7) Benefits under the employee group life insurance plan equal 1.5 times the officer’s base salary, but not more than

$150,000.

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

Directors’ Fees

Our non-employee directors serve and are compensated as directors of the Bank. Our and the Bank’s Boards meet
jointly, and directors do not receive any additional compensation for their services as our directors unless our Board meets
separately. The following table describes our standard schedule of fees paid to our non-employee directors for 2009.

Description Amount
MOMALY TEEAINET ....ovvceveoevessiminrasssrssesssss s st sesss s8R $ 500
Additional annual retainer paid to the Chairman ... 5,000
Per diem fee for attendance at meetings of our and/or the Bank’s Boards ..o, 750
Per diem fee for attendance at Executive Committee Meetings .........cccovrereeeinninccniiiniiii e 650
Per diem fee for attendance at other COMMIttee MEEHNZS .......cvrvrirrurrciriiniiist s 600
Additional per diem fee for attendance at Audit Committee meetings by committee Chairman ..............cccuvmmvieneee: 250

We maintain a deferred compensation arrangement under which directors may elect each year, in advance, to defer
receipt of up to 100% of their fees on terms that are substantially the same as the plan for Mr. Keeney described above
under the caption “Deferred Compensation.” If a director elects to participate, we pay the deferred amounts to an
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independent trustee that credits them to a deferral account for each director. We do not make any contributions to, or pay
any interest or other amount or guarantee any rate of return on, the directors” accounts. The trustee invests amounts
credited to the directors’ accounts, as they direct, into any one or a combination of investment funds available under the
arrangement which are similar to those available to our officers and employees for the investment of their account
balances under our Section 401(k) plan. None of our directors deferred any part of their directors’ fees under that
arrangement for 2009.

Director Retirement and Death Benefits

The Bank has entered into separate supplemental retirement plan agreements with each of our directors under
which, following a director’s retirement from service at an agreed upon age, the Bank will make monthly payments to him
until his death in amounts provided for in his agreement. The amounts of payments to be made to a director during an
initial benefit period that extends from his retirement date to his actuarially calculated mortality age are specified in his
agreement and generally increase each year. After the director’s initial period, his payments will increase or decrease
based on a formula that includes a comparison of (1) the Bank’s return on life insurance policies it has purchased to cover
its costs associated with his benefits, to (2) the Bank's opportunity costs associated with premiums it paid on those policies
and any benefits paid to the director under his agreement. Reduced annual benefits are payable in the event a director’s
service terminates prior to his specified retirement age. However, if a director’s service is terminated as a result of
disability, or for any reason following a change in control of the Bank, he will retain the right to full benefits under his
agreement. All benefits are forfeited if a director’s service is terminated for cause.

As described above, the Bank has purchased life insurance policies on the lives of our non-employee directors, and
has entered into an Endorsement Split-Dollar Agreement with each of them. The policies are owned by the Bank. Under
the agreements, upon a director’s death, a portion (from 0% to 80%) of the “net death proceeds” of that director’s policy
will be paid to his beneficiary. The net death proceeds of a policy will equal the total death benefit payable under the
policy minus the cash surrender value of the policy. The actual percentage is determined based on whether the director
remains a director or is retired at the time of death and, if no longer serving as a director for reasons other than retirement
or disability, the director’s length of service. The Bank will receive the remainder of the death benefits, including the full
cash surrender value of the policy, which we expect will reimburse the Bank in full for its life insurance investment.
During 2002, the Bank made one-time premium payments on the policies as follows: Mr. Davis—$200,000; Mr. Gibbs—
$100,000; Mr. Hughes—$100,000; Mr. Kittrell—$100,000; Mr. Lamb—$200,000; Mr. Marshall—$100,000; and
Mr. Spencer—$200,000. During 2006, the Bank made a one-time premium payment of $100,000 on policies covering
Mr. Weeks. ' '

In addition to the above benefits, the Board has approved an arrangement under which a director who retires from

the Board after age 70 or with ten years of service as a director will be paid $500 per month for 36 months following his
retirement.
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Director Compensation for 2009

The following table summarizes the compensation paid or provided to our non-employee directors for 2009.

2009 DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

Fees Earned or Change in All Other
Name (1) Paid in Cash Pension Value (3) Compensation Total

George T. Davis, JT.....ccocvviiieeiese s $39,850 $ 6,772 $-0- $46,622

Gregory C. Gibbs ... 36,850 6,586 -0- 43,436

John F. Hughes, JT. ...cccovviiiiiiicreinie e 29,850 6,177 -0- 36,027

Arthur H. Keeney IL........c.cccoovvinininciniirennnns (2) (2) (2) (2)

J. Bryant Kittrell IIT .........cccoomviiininiiniiciccece e 47,250 6,575 -0- 53,825

Joseph T. Lamb, Jr. ....ccococunivieiniiniiniinnni i 26,250 -0- -0- 26,250

B. Martelle Marshall ..o, 22,050 6,467 -0- 28,517

R. S. SPencer, JT. ..o 49,650 21,804 -0- 71,054

Michael D. WEeKS........occcvvirivierivreriioreieeieereeeereseereserenesesnns 25,050 3,072 -0- 28,122

(1) A. Dwight Utz is not listed in the table. He is compensated as an officer and employee of the Bank and does not
receive any separate cash compensation for his service as a director.

(2) Until his retirement during 2009, Mr. Keeney was compensated as an executive officer of the Bank and did not
receive any additional cash compensation for his service as a director. Following his retirement, he received fees for
his service as a non-employee director for the remainder of 2009. Compensation and benefits paid or provided to
Mr. Keeney during 2009, both as an executive officer until his retirement, and as a non-employee director following
his retirement, are described in the Summary Compensation Table on page 16.

(3) Amounts reflect the increase from December 31, 2008, to December 31, 2009, in the present value of directors’
accumulated benefits under their Director Supplemental Retirement Plan agreements described above under the
caption “Director Retirement and Death Benefits.” The present value of Mr. Lamb’s accumulated benefits actually
declined by $9,653 because he has continued as a director past the retirement age specified in his plan agreement
and, as a result, there will be fewer future payments to be made to him following his retirement.

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PERSONS

Our Policy

Our Board of Directors has adopted a written policy under which our Audit Committee reviews and approves certain

transactions, arrangements or relationships in which the Bank is a participant and in which any of our “related persons”
has a material interest. Our related persons include our directors, nominees for election as directors, executive officers,
beneficial owners of more than 5% of a class of our common stock, and members of the immediate family of one of those
persons.

Except as described below, the policy covers:

® any transactions, arrangements or relationships, or series of transactions, arrangements or relationships, that are
required to be disclosed in our proxy statement under rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission (in
general, those in which the dollar amount involved exceeds or will exceed an aggregate of $120,000, including all
periodic payments); and,

® any other transactions, arrangements or relationships in which the dollar amount involved exceeds or will exceed
an aggregate of $5,000 (including all periodic payments) and that would fall in the first category above except for
their amount being less than the $120,000 dollar threshold specified above.

The transactions covered by the policy generally include loans, but the policy does not cover loans made by the Bank

in the ordinary course of its business that are subject to banking regulations related to “insider loans” and that are required
to be approved by a majority of the Bank’s Board of Directors. The policy also does not cover the provision of services by
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the Bank as a depositary of funds or similar banking or financial services in the ordinary course of its business, or
compensation paid to our executive officers that has been reviewed and approved, or recommended to our Board of
Directors for approval, by our Compensation Committee.

In its review of related person transactions, the policy provides that the Committee should exercise independent
judgment and should not approve any proposed transaction unless and until it has concluded to its satisfaction that the
transaction:

® has been or will be agreed to or engaged in on an arm’s-length basis;
@ is to be made on terms that are fair and reasonable to us; and

® is in our best interests.

Related Person Transactions During 2009

There were no transactions with our related persons during 2009 that were required to be approved by our Audit
Committee. The Bank has had, and expects to have in the future, banking transactions in the ordinary course of its
business with certain of our current directors, nominees for director, executive officers, and our other related persons. All
loans included in those transactions during 2009 were made in the ordinary course of the Bank’s business on substantially
the same terms, including interest rates, repayment terms and collateral, as those prevailing at the time those loans were
made for comparable transactions with other persons, and those loans did not involve more than the normal risk of
collectibility or present other unfavorable features.

BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP OF OUR COMMON STOCK

Principal Shareholders

The following table lists persons who we believe owned, beneficially or of record, 5% or more of our outstanding
shares on the Record Date for the Annual Meeting,

Amount and nature of Percentage

Name and address of beneficial owner beneficial ownership of class

Estate of Anna Mae H. Gibbs

PO Box 277, Swan Quarter, NC 27885.........cccovviiiriiiiiiresnii e sssssssiieienens 377,378 (1) 13.24%
Gregory C. Gibbs

PO Box 402, Engelhard, NC 27824 .........cocoooioiiiiiniiniiciicreeiiinssns s 383,256 (2) 13.45%
Regina A. Gibbs

PO Box 578, Engelhard, NC 27824 ........cccooviiiiiiciinicnce s 447,868 (3) 15.72%
Charles G. Gibbs, Jr.

PO Box 474, Engelhard, NC 27824 .........coovoimiiimiinirinicniccecienisissisns 453,176 (4) 15.90%

Och-Ziff Capital Management Group LLC (5)
9 West 57th Street, 39th Floor
New York, New YOrk L0019 ........coooeiiieriiriieeinenieterenee st sresesssiensstsnssnesesssssessssenens 186,411 (7) 6.54%

OZ Master Fund, Litd. (6)
c/o Goldman Sachs (Cayman) Trust, Limited
45 Market Street
Camana Bay, Grand Cayman, Cayman Islands ..o, 170,000 (7) 5.97%

(1) Gregory C. Gibbs, Regina A. Gibbs and Charles G. Gibbs, Jr., serve as co-executors of the Estate of Anna Mae H.
Gibbs, and the listed shares also are included in the shares listed as beneficially owned by each of them individually.
The estate has pledged 377,378 shares to another bank as security for loans.

(2) Mr. Gibbs may be considered to have shared voting and investment power with respect to 377,628 of the listed
shares, including 377,378 shares held by the Estate of Anna Mae H. Gibbs for which he serves as co-executor. Those
shares also are included in the shares listed for the Estate and for each of Regina A. Gibbs and Charles G. Gibbs, Jr.
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(3) Ms. Gibbs may be considered to have shared voting and investment power with respect to 447,130 of the listed
shares, including 377,378 shares held by the Estate of Anna Mae H. Gibbs for which she serves as co-executor (which
also are included in the shares listed for the Estate and for each of Gregory C. Gibbs and Charles G. Gibbs, Jr.) and
69,752 shares held by a family trust for which she serves as co-trustee (which also are included in the shares listed for
Charles G. Gibbs, Jr.). :

(4) Mr. Gibbs may be considered to have shared voting and investment power with respect to 447,130 of the listed
shares, including 377,378 shares held by the Estate of Anna Mae H. Gibbs for which he serves as co-executor (which
also are included in the shares listed for the Estate and for Gregory C. Gibbs and Regina A. Gibbs) and 69,752 shares
held by a family trust for which he serves as co-trustee (which also are included in the shares listed for Regina A.
Gibbs).

(5) The company’s Schedule 13G filed with the SEC indicates that it is the sole shareholder of Och-Ziff Holding
Corporation (“OZHC”) and Och-Ziff Holding LLC (“OZH”). OZHC is general partner of OZ Management LP
(“OZ”), which serves as principal investment manager to a number of investment funds, including OZ Master Fund,
LTD (“OZMF”). OZH also serves as general partner of another investment fund. As such, the company may be
deemed to beneficially own shares held by the funds and accounts over which OZ and OZH have voting or
investment power as investment manager or general partner. The Schedule 13G indicates that the shares beneficially
owned by the company include 170,000 shares beneficially owned by OZMF, and 175,498 shares beneficially owned
by both OZ and OZHC (which include the shares beneficially owned by OZMF). The company’s Chief Executive
Officer and Executive Managing Director, Daniel S. Och, also may be deemed the beneficial owner of all the shares
beneficially owned by the company. :

(6) The fund’s Schedule 13G filed with the SEC indicates that its principal investment manager, OZ, OZ’s gener
partner, OZHC, and OZHC’s sole shareholder, Och-Ziff Capital Management Group LLC, also may be deemed to
beneficially own all listed shares.

(7) The shares listed for OZ Master Fund, Ltd. also are included in the shares listed for Och-Ziff Capital Management

Group LLC.

Directors and Executive Officers

The following table describes the beneficial ownership of our common stock on the Record Date for the Annual
Meeting by our current directors, nominees for election as directors, and certain named executive officers, individually,
and by all of our current directors and executive officers as a group.

Amount and nature of Percent

Name of beneficial owner Beneficial ownership (1) of class (2)

GeOorge T. Davis, JT. ...ooiiiimiiiirieris s st 120,464 (3) 4.23%
T. OlI DAVIS .veoveevieiietiriistieiiteseesevsssbeessaessseesaesessesssessssssssesssnesaressasesssesssseosssesssasarassansesses 1,333 0.05%
Gregory C. GIbDS.......comiiiicrii s 383,256 (4) 13.45%
John F. HUGRES, JT. .ottt 3,600 0.13%
Arthur H. Keeney ITL. ... ases 63,994 2.22%
J- Bryant Kittrell TIT ..ot 7,000 0.25%
Joseph T. Lamb, JT.....cc.covmiiiiiic e 61,000 2.14%
B. Martelle Marshall.........c.oooveeveoveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeteeseeeesstsssssstessesssessesssesessssessseseessessessesnsans 2,277 0.08%
R. S SPENCET, JT. oottt s 22,600 0.79%
MiChAel D). WEEKS .....vovvivieeiiririiireieieeecereseaeevesteveessess e sbessesessssaresressessessene oot 400 0.01%
J- Dorson WHhte, JT. ......oueiiiiiiiiiiiiie st 22,596 0.79%
A. Dwight L O USRS 3,254 0.11%
All current directors and executive

702,946 24.33%

officers as a group (15 Persons)........c.cccceurvrvemrereirinensnnnns ettt e

(1) Except as otherwise noted, and to the best of our knowledge, the individuals named and included in the group
exercise sole voting and investment power with respect to all listed shares. The listed shares include the following
numbers of shares with respect to which individuals named and included in the group have shared voting and
investment power: George T. Davis, Jr.—104,467 shares; Gregory C. Gibbs—377,628 shares; Arthur H. Keeney
I11—12,742 shares; J. Bryant Kittrell III—1,000 shares; Joseph T. Lamb, Jr.—37,092 shares; B. Martelle Marshall—
591 shares; A. Dwight Utz—1,754 shares; and all current directors and executive officers as a group—543,749 shares,
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including shares described in footnote 4 below held by persons for whom one of our directors acts as attorney-in-fact.
Individuals named and included in the group exercise sole voting power only with respect to the following numbers
of shares representing unvested restricted stock awards pursuant to our 2008 Omnibus Plan: Mr. Utz—1,500 shares;
and all current directors and executive officers included in the group—1,500 shares. The listed shares also include
the following numbers of shares that could be acquired by individuals named and included in the group pursuant to
stock options that could be exercised within 60 days following the Record Date and with respect to which shares they
may be deemed to have sole investment power only: T. Olin Davis—333 shares; Arthur H. Keeney 111—26,862
shares; J. Dorson White, Jr.—9,952 shares; and all persons included in the group—39,844 shares. Shares listed for
certain of the named individuals have been pledged as security for loans as follows: Mr. Gibbs—377,378 shares.

(2) Percentages are calculated based on 2,849,841 total outstanding shares plus, in the case of each named individual and
the group, the number of additional shares (if any) that could be purchased by that individual or by persons included
in the group pursuant to stock options that could be exercised within 60 days following the Record Date.

(3) Includes an aggregate of 92,274 shares held directly by Mr. Davis’ mother and aunt for whom he acts as
attorney-in-fact and as to which shares Mr. Davis disclaims beneficial ownership.

(4) Includes 377,378 shares held by the Estate of Anna Mae H. Gibbs for which Mr. Gibbs serves as co-executor.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Our directors, executive officers and principal shareholders are required by federal law to file reports with the
Securities and Exchange Commission regarding the amounts of and changes in their beneficial ownership of our common
stock. Based on our review of copies of those reports, our proxy statements are required to disclose failures to report
shares beneficially owned or changes in beneficial ownership, or to timely file required reports, during previous years. It
has come to our attention that our director, George T. Davis, Jr., inadvertantly failed to file a report at the end of 2009 to
report a gift of shares during the year. The report was filed promptly after it was discovered that it had been overlooked.

PROPOSAL 2: ADVISORY VOTE ON EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

During January 2009, we became a participant in the U.S. Department of the Treasury’s (“Treasury”) TARP Capital
Purchase Program (the “CPP”). Under rules adopted by Treasury under the Emergency Economic Stabilization Act of
2008, as amended by the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009, that apply to CCP participants (the “CPP
Rules”), financial institutions that participate in the CPP are required to include proposals in their proxy statements for
non-binding shareholder votes on the compensation paid to their executive officers. As a result, at the Annual Meeting our
Board of Directors will submit such a proposal for voting by our shareholders.

This “say-on-pay” proposal will give our shareholders an opportunity to endorse, or not endorse, the compensation
paid or provided to our executive officers, and our executive compensation policies and practices, as described in this
proxy statement by voting on the following resolution:

“Resolved, that the compensation paid or provided to executive officers of ECB Bancorp, Inc. (ECB) and its
subsidiary, and ECB’s and its subsidiary’s executive compensation policies and practices, as described in the tabular
and narrative compensation disclosures contained in ECB’s proxy statement for its 2010 Annual Meeting, hereby are
endorsed and approved.”

The vote by our shareholders will be an advisory vote. As provided in the CPP Rules, it will not be binding on our
Board of Directors or Compensation Committee or overrule or affect any previous action or decision by the Board or
Committee or any compensation previously paid or awarded. Neither will it obligate the Board or Committee to any
particular course of action in the future, nor create or imply any additional duty on the part of the Board or Committee.
However, the Board and Compensation Committee will take the voting results on the proposed resolution into account

when considering future executive compensation matters. Our shareholders approved a similar say-on-pay proposal at our
2009 Annual Meeting.

Our Executive Compensation Program

Our executive compensation program is administered by the Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors.
Each year, the Committee reviews the total compensation of each of our executive officers, determines the level of
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compensation for each officer that it believes is reasonable, and makes recommendations to our Board of Directors
regarding salary increases and other forms of compensation for our officers. The Board approves all executive officer
salaries and other forms of compensation. Additional information regarding the Committee is contained in this proxy
statement under the caption “Compensation Committee.”

In formulating its recommendations, the Committee periodically compares our executive officers’ compensation to
that of executive officers at other similarly-sized banks and financial institutions throughout the United States, in the
southeastern United States, and in North Carolina. However, the process of making salary changes, and approving other
forms of compensation, is largely subjective. Other than in connection with our annual Incentive Award Plan, there
currently are no specific measures, criteria or formulae by which the base salaries or other compensation of our executive
officers are directly tied to individual performance or our financial and operating performance. The Committee tries to
use its own experience and common sense to determine what it believes is reasonable compensation for each executive
officer and to attempt to strike a balance between the interests of our officers and those of our shareholders.

Most actions have unintended consequences, and compensation is no exception. Any compensation program, and
particularly any incentive program, offers both opportunities and pitfalls and has elements of both art and science. As a
result, our Committee attempts to monitor the effect that our programs have on our officers and employees and to
construct and tailor our compensation and incentives so that they have the desired effects. The Committee periodically
reviews all our and the Bank’s compensation plans to determine whether there are potential areas of risk that reasonably
could be expected to have a material adverse effect on our business and financial results and to ensure continued oversight
and mitigation of risk within our compensation practices.

The components of our executive compensation program are generally described below. Additional information
about each component, and the specific amounts or values of each of those forms of compensation that we paid or
provided to our Chief Executive Officer and other named executive officers for 2009, 2008 and 2007, are included in the
tabular and narrative compensation disclosures in this proxy statement under the heading “Executive Compensation.”

Base Salary and Cash Incentive Awards. We attempt to pay reasonable base salaries to our executive officers,
and we have an Incentive Plan that is designed to provide opportunities for officers to receive additional cash
compensation each year. The amounts of cash awards they may receive under the Plan are based primarily on the extent
to which we achieve goals set by our Board with respect to various measures of corporate financial performance and the
officers’ individual performance. If our financial performance does not meet the Board’s minimum expectations, no cash
awards are paid, although the Board sometimes awards bonuses to selected officers and employees outside of the Plan in
recognition of their individual performance. Like most financial institutions, our recent financial performance has been
negatively affected by the decline in the economy and disruption in the financial markets. As a result, for 2008 and 2007,
we did not meet the minimum goals set under the Incentive Plan and no awards were paid, and our Compensation
Committee suspended the Incentive Plan for 2009. For similar reasons, only one of our named executive officers listed in
the Summary Compensation Table above received a salary increase for 2009. '

In addition to requiring non-binding shareholder votes on the compensation paid to our executive officers, the CPP
Rules prohibit us from paying or accruing any bonus, retention award or incentive compensation to our most highly
compensated employee.

Stock Options and Restricted Stock Awards. Under our 2008 Omnibus Equity Plan, options to buy shares of
our common stock, and awards of restricted shares of common stock, are granted from time to time to our executive
officers. The goals of those awards are to (1) align a portion of our officers’ compensation more closely with the interests
of our shareholders, and help ensure that officers make decisions with a shareholder’s perspective, and (2) help us retain
our officers through the vesting schedules and forfeiture provisions that apply to the awards. In general, the values of
equity awards increase only if the market value of our common stock held by our shareholders increases. Restricted stock
awards are outright grants of shares and, as a result, those awards have an initial value that rises and falls with the market
value of our common stock. However, stock options are granted with exercise prices based on the market values of our
common stock at the time the options are granted. As a result, stock options have no value to officers unless the market
value of our common stock rises and remains above the exercise prices of the stock covered by the options. As is the case
with the stocks of most financial institutions, the market value of our common stock and, thus, the value of our
shareholders’ investments, has declined significantly during the past two years. As a result, the value to our officers of their
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outstanding restricted stock awards has declined, and a majority of the outstanding stock options held by our executive
officers currently have no value to the officers because the exercise prices of the options exceed the current market value
of the underlying shares.

Retirement Benefits. We do not have a qualified defined benefit pension plan, but we do provide a Section 401(k)
defined contribution plan for all our employees and under which we make matching contributions to participants’
accounts. As a supplement to benefits under that Plan, in 2002 we entered into separate Supplemental Retirement Plan
Agreements with certain of our executive officers. The purpose of those agreements is to make our executive
compensation program more competitive, and to encourage and reward our executive officers’ long-term service, by
supplementing the retirement benefits they can accumulate under the Section 401(k) plan. We also have purchased life
insurance policies on the lives of our executive officers. At their deaths, the officers’ beneficiaries or estates will receive a

ortion of the death benefits under their policies. However, we own the policies, and the remaining policy proceeds,
including the full cash value of each policy, will be paid to the Bank at the officers’ deaths.

Change in Control Agreements. As described above under the caption “Potential Payments Upon Termination of
Employment or a Change of Control,” we have agreements with our executive officers under which the Bank, or its
successor, would be required to make payments to an officer based on a formula described in the agreements if his
employment is terminated without cause within stated periods of time following a change in control of the Bank. An
officer also would be entitled to a payment if certain other “termination events” occur following a change in control and he
voluntarily terminates his own employment. By providing this financial protection, we believe those agreements help us
maintain an environment in which there is less risk that our officers’ objectivity will be compromised if they are faced with
the prospect of a change in control. The arrangements provide for relatively short protection periods following a change in
control (18 months in the case of our current Chief Executive Officer, and three months in the case of our other named
executive officers), and they include a “double trigger” mechanism which would permit an acquiring company to avoid
being required to make a payment by continuing to employ our executive officers following a change in control and
treating them fairly during the protection period. We believe those features would help to minimize any discount that an
acquiring company might factor into the amount it offers to pay our shareholders in an acquisition transaction as a result
of these arrangements, while still providing some protection to our officers.

The CPP Rules prohibit payments to our senior executive officers, or to certain of our other employees, in
connection with any termination of their employment for any reason, other than payments relating to services already
performed or benefits already accrued. As a result, and without regard to the terms of these agreements, we could not
make any severance or change in control payments to our named executive officers as a result of a termination of their
employment that occurs while we remain a CPP participant.

Our Board of Directors believes that our executive compensation policies and practices are
based on a pay-for-performance philosophy and are aligned with our shareholders’
long-term interests, and it recommends that you vote “FOR” Proposal 2.

To be approved, the number of votes cast in person and by proxy at the Annual Meeting
in favor of the proposal must exceed the number of votes cast against it.
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PROPOSAL 3: RATIFICATION OF APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

Appointment of Independent Accountants

Our Audit Committee has selected our current independent accounting firm, Dixon Hughes PLLC, to serve as our
independent accountants for 2010. The Committee’s charter gives it the responsibility and authority to select and appoint
our independent accountants and to approve their compensation and terms of the engagement under which they provide
services to us. Our shareholders are not required by our Bylaws or the law to ratify the Committee’s selection. However,
we will submit a proposal to ratify the appointment of Dixon Hughes PLLC for 2010 for voting by shareholders at the
Annual Meeting as a matter of good corporate practice and as a way for shareholders to be heard in the selection process.
Representatives of Dixon Hughes PLLC are expected to attend the Annual Meeting and be available to respond to
appropriate questions, and they will have an opportunity to make a statement if they desire to do so. If our shareholders
do not ratify the Audit Committee’s selection, the Committee will reconsider its decision, but it could choose to reaffirm
its appointment of Dixon Hughes PLLC. Even if our shareholders vote to ratify the Committee’s selection, during the
year the Committee could choose to appoint different independent accountants at any time if it determines that a change
would be in our best interests.

Our Board of Directors recommends that you vote “FOR” Proposal 3. To be approved,
the number of votes cast in person and by proxy at the Annual Meeting in
favor of the proposal must exceed the number of votes cast against it.

Services and Fees During 2009 and 2008

Except as described below, under its current procedures the Audit Committee specifically pre-approves all audit
services and other services provided by our independent accountants. In the case of tax services and other permissible
non-audit services, the Committee has delegated authority to its Chairman to pre-approve services between Committee
meetings. Any approval of services by the Chairman is communicated to the full Committee at its next regularly scheduled
meeting, The Committee also may authorize management to obtain tax services from our accountants from time to time
during the year up to a specified aggregate amount of fees. Requests for tax advice or services in addition to that amount
would require further approval.

As our independent accountants for 2009 and 2008, Dixon Hughes PLLC provided us with various audit and other
services for which we and the Bank were billed, or expect to be billed, for fees as described below. Our Audit Committee
considers whether the provision of non-audit services by our independent accountanting firm is compatible with
maintaining its independence. The Committee believes that non-audit services provided by Dixon Hughes PLLC during
2009 did not affect its independence.

The following table lists aggregate amounts of fees paid, or that we expect to pay, to Dixon Hughes PLLC for audit
services for 2009 and 2008, and fees paid for other services they provided during 2009 and 2008.

Type of Fees and Description of Services 2009 2008

Audit Fees, including fees for audits of our consolidated financial statements, reviews of our
condensed interim consolidated financial statements included in our quarterly reports, and
audits of our internal control over financial FEPOTNE .........coviririeriiniin s $187,190 $191,700

Audit-Related Fees, including fees for audits of our 401(k) plan and financial accounting
COMISULLATIONIS. .. v evveeresereeseeerssessesseesessesesesssesstesessesnsesssassesssessesssossesnseetssntsssssnsernsssensesssensessesssassssssenans 17,900 13,625

Tax Fees, including fees for preparation of Form 5500s in connection with our benefit plans,
assistance with estimated tax payments, and preparation of our tax returns; and, for 2008 only,
assistance with an IRS tax €XAmINAtiON.....cereeereererrerteeerierressersersersossessessensersssseserssssssssessssassssssssssiessses 46,530 43,675

AL OBRET F@ES o..veevooeveeveeveeeeeereeveeeeeeresaseseatssessossatosbasessasassebsasaseasasssastsseatsssabeseses bbb sassbsanssnnersasannanates -0- -0-
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PROPOSALS FOR 2011 ANNUAL MEETING

Any proposal of a shareholder, other than a nomination for election as a director, intended to be presented for action
at our 2011 Annual Meeting must be received by our Corporate Secretary in writing at our address listed below no later
than November 24, 2010, to be considered timely received for inclusion in the proxy statement and form of appointment
of proxy that we will distribute in connection with that meeting. In order for a proposal to be included in our proxy
materials for a particular meeting, the person submitting the proposal must own, beneficially or of record, at least 1% or
$2.000 in market value of shares of our common stock entitled to be voted on that proposal at the meeting and must have
held those shares for a period of at least one year and continue to hold them through the date of the meeting. Also, the
proposal and the shareholder submitting it must comply with certain other eligibility and procedural requirements
contained in rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission. :

Written notice of a shareholder proposal (other than a nomination) intended to be presented at our 2011 Annual
Meeting, but not intended to be included in our proxy statement and form of appointment of proxy, must be received by
our Corporate Secretary at our address listed below no later than February 7, 2011, in order for that proposal to be
considered timely received for purposes of the Proxies’ discretionary authority to vote on other matters presented for
action by shareholders at that meeting.

Under our Bylaws, at a meeting of our shareholders at which directors will be elected, nominations for election to our
Board of Directors may be made by our Board or by a shareholder of record who is entitled to vote at the meeting if
written notice of the shareholder’s nomination has been delivered to our Corporate Secretary at our address listed below
not later than the close of business on the fifth business day following the date on which notice of the meeting is first given
to shareholders. -

The required notice of a nomination must include: (1) the name and address of the shareholder who intends to make
the nomination and of the person to be nominated; (2) a representation that the shareholder is a holder of record of shares
of our common stock entitled to vote at the meeting and that he or she intends to appear in person or by proxy at the
meeting to nominate the person named in the notice; (3) a description of all arrangements or understandings between the
shareholder and the nominee and any other persons (naming those persons) pursuant to which the nomination is to be
made by the shareholder; (4) all other information regarding the nominee that would be required to be included in a
proxy statement filed under the proxy rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission if the nominee had been
nominated by our Board; and (5) the written consent of the nominee to serve as a director if elected. Only persons who
are nominated in the manner described in our Bylaws are eligible to be elected as directors at meetings of our
shareholders, and the Chairman of a meeting of our shareholders may refuse to acknowledge a nomination that is not
made in compliance with the procedures set out in our Bylaws.

The notices described above should be mailed to:

ECB Bancorp, Inc.

Attention: Corporate Secretary
Post Office Box 337

Engelhard, North Carolina 27824

ANNUAL REPORT ON ForM 10-K
We are subject to the reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and we file periodic reports
and other information about our company with the Securities and Exchange Commission, including annual reports,
quarterly reports and proxy statements. You may review information that we file electronically with the SEC on the SEC’s

Internet website at www.sec.gov. Our own Internet website (www.ecbbancorp.com) contains a link to the SEC’s website.

A copy of our 2009 Annual Report on Form 10-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
accompanies this proxy statement.
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PART I

When used in this Report, the terms “we,” “us,” “our” and similar terms refer to the registrant, ECB
Bancorp, Inc. The term «Bank” refers to our bank subsidiary, The East Carolina Bank.

Item 1. Business.

General

We are a North Carolina corporation organized during 1998 by the Bank and at the direction of its Board of
Directors to serve as the Bank’s parent holding company. We operate as a bank holding company registered with the
Federal Reserve Board, and our primary business activity is owning the Bank and promoting its banking business.
Through the Bank, we engage in a general, community-oriented commercial and consumer banking business.

The Bank is an insured, North Carolina-chartered bank that was founded in 1919. Its deposits are insured under the
FDIC’s Deposit Insurance Fund to the maximum amount permitted by law, and it is subject to supervision and regulation
by the FDIC and the North Carolina Commissioner of Banks.

Like other community banks, our net income depends pn‘marily on our net interest income, which is the difference
between the interest income we earn on loans, investment assets and other interest-earning assets, and the interest we pay
on deposits and other interest-bearing liabilities. To a lesser extent, our net income also is affected by non-interest income
we derive principally from fees and charges for our services, as well as the level of our non-interest expenses, such as
expenses related to our banking facilities and salaries and employee benefits.

Our operations are significantly affected by prevailing economic conditions, competition, and the monetary, fiscal and
regulatory policies of governmental agencies. Lending activities are influenced by the general credit needs of small and
medium-sized businesses and individuals in our banking markets, competition among lenders, the level of interest rates,
and the availability of funds. Deposit flows and costs of funds are influenced by prevailing market interest rates (primarily
the rates paid on competing investments), account maturities and the levels of personal income and savings in our banking
markets.

Our and the Bank’s headquarters are located at 35050 U.S. Highway 264 East in Engelhard, North Carolina, and our
telephone number at that address is (252) 925-9411.



Business Offices and Banking Markets

The Bank has 24 full-service banking offices located in thirteen North Carolina counties. Our banking markets are
located east of the Interstate Highway 95 corridor in portions of the Coastal Plain region of North Carolina which extends
from the Virginia border along the coast of North Carolina to the South Carolina border. Within that region, we subdivide
our banking markets into four banking regions. The following table lists our branch offices in each banking region.

Region Branches County
Outer Banks Region Currituck Currituck
Southern Shores/ Kitty Hawk Dare
Nags Head Dare
Manteo Dare
Avon Dare
Hatteras : Dare
Ocracoke Hyde
Central Region Greenville (three offices) Pitt
Winterville Pitt
Washington Beaufort
Inner Banks Region Engelhard Hyde
Swan Quarter Hyde
Fairfield Hyde
Williamston Martin
Columbia Tyrrell
Creswell Washington
Hertford Perquimans
Coastal Region Wilmington New Hanover
Ocean Isle Beach Brunswick
Leland Brunswick
Morehead City Carteret
New Bern Craven

Competition

Commercial banking in North Carolina is highly competitive, due in large part to our state’s early adoption of
statewide branching. Over the years, federal and state legislation (including the elimination of restrictions on interstate
banking) has heightened the competitive environment in which all financial institutions conduct their business, and
competition among financial institutions of all types has increased significantly.

Banking also is highly competitive in our banking markets, and customers tend to aggressively “shop” the terms of
both their loans and deposits. We compete with other commercial banks, savings banks and credit unions, including banks
headquartered or controlled by companies headquartered outside of North Carolina but that have offices in our banking
markets. According to the most recent market share data published by the FDIC, on June 30, 2009 there were 307 offices
of 33 different FDIC-insured depository institutions (including us) in the 13 counties in which we have banking offices.
Three of those banks (Wachovia, BB&T and First-Citizens Bank) controlled an aggregate of approximately 52% of all
deposits in the 13-county area held by those 3 institutions, while we held approximately 6% of total deposits.

We believe community banks can compete successfully by providing personalized service and making timely, local
decisions, and that further consolidation in the banking industry is likely to create additional opportunities for community
banks to capture deposits from customers of other financial institutions who become dissatisfied as their financial
institutions grow larger. Additionally, we believe continued growth in our banking markets provides us with an
opportunity to capture new deposits from new residents.

Almost all our customers are small- and medium-sized businesses and individuals. We try to differentiate ourselves
from our larger competitors with our focus on relationship banking, personalized service, direct customer contact, and our
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ability to make credit and other business decisions locally. We also depend on our reputation as a community bank in our
banking markets, our involvement in the communities we serve, the experience of our senior management team, and the
quality of our associates. We believe that our focus allows us to be more responsive to our customers’ needs and more
flexible in approving loans based on collateral quality and personal knowledge of our customers.

Services

Our banking operations are primarily retail oriented and directed toward small- and medium-sized businesses and
individuals located in our banking markets. We derive the majority of our deposits and loans from customers in our
banking markets, but we also make loans and have deposit relationships with commercial and consumer customers in
areas surrounding our immediate banking markets. We also market certificates of deposit by advertising our deposit rates
on an Internet certificate of deposit network, and we accept “brokered” deposits. We provide most traditional commercial
and consumer banking services, but our principal activities are taking demand and time deposits and making commercial
and consumer loans. Our primary source of revenue is interest income we derive from our lending activities.

Lending Activities

General. We make a variety of commercial and consumer loans to small- and medium-sized businesses and
individuals for various business and personal purposes, including term and installment loans, business and personal lines
of credit, equity lines of credit and overdraft checking credit. For financial reporting purposes, our loan portfolio generally
is divided into real estate loans, consumer installment loans, commercial and industrial loans (including agricultural
production loans), and credit cards and related plans. We make credit card services available to our customers through a
correspondent relationship. Statistical information about our loan portfolio is contained in Item 7 of this report under the
caption “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”

Redl Estate Loans. Our real estate loan classification includes all loans secured by real estate. Real estate loans
include loans made to purchase, construct or improve residential or commercial real estate, for real estate development
purposes, and for various other commercial, agricultural and consumer purposes (which may or may not be related to our
real estate collateral). On December 31, 2009, loans amounting to approximately 79.8% of our loan portfolio were
classified as real estate loans. We do not make long-term residential mortgage loans ourselves, but we originate loans of
that type which are funded by and closed in the name of other lenders. Those arrangements permit us to make long-term
residential loans available to our customers and generate fee income but avoid risks associated with those loans in our loan

portfolio.

Commercial real estate and construction loans typically involve larger loan balances concentrated with single
borrowers or groups of related borrowers. Repayment of commercial real estate loans may depend on the successful
operation of income producing properties, a business, or a real estate project and, therefore, may, to a greater extent than
in the case of other loans, be subject to the risk of adverse conditions in the economy generally or in the real estate market
in particular.

Construction loans involve special risks because loan funds are advanced on the security of houses or other
improvements that are under construction and are of uncertain value before construction is complete. For that reason, it
is more difficult to evaluate accurately the total loan funds required to complete a project and the related loan-to-value
ratios. To reduce these risks, we generally limit loan amounts to 85% of the projected “as built” appraised values of our
collateral on completion of construction. For larger projects, we include amounts for contingencies in our construction
cost estimates. We generally require a qualified permanent financing commitment from an outside lender unless we have
agreed to convert the construction loan to permanent financing ourselves.

On December 31, 2009, our construction and acquisition and development loans (consumer and commercial)
amounted to approximately 21.8% of our loan portfolio, and our other commercial real estate loans amounted to
approximately 34.5% of our loan portfolio.

Our real estate loans also include home equity lines of credit that generally are used for consumer purposes and
usually are secured by junior liens on residential real property. Our commitment on each line is for a term of 15 years.
During the terms of the lines of credit, borrowers may either pay accrued interest only (calculated at variable interest

4



rates), with their outstanding principal balances becoming due in full at the maturity of the lines, or they may make
monthly payments of principal and interest equal to 1.5% of their outstanding balances. On December 31, 2009, our
home equity lines of credit amounted to approximately 5.3% of our loan portfolio.

Many of our real estate loans, while secured by real estate, were made for purposes unrelated to the real estate
collateral. This generally reflects our efforts to reduce credit risk by taking real estate as primary or additional collateral,
whenever possible, without regard to loan purpose. Substantially all of our real estate loans are secured by real property
located in or near our banking markets. Our real estate loans may be made at fixed or variable interest rates, and they
generally have maturities that do not exceed five years and provide for payments based on amortization schedules of less
than twenty years. A real estate loan with a maturity of more than five years or that is based on an amortization schedule of
more than five years generally will include contractual provisions that allow us to call the loan in full, or provide for a
“balloon” payment in full, at the end of a period of no more than five years.

Consumer Installment Loans. Our consumer installment loans consist primarily of loans for various consumer
purposes, as well as the outstanding balances of non-real estate secured consumer revolving credit accounts. A majority of
these loans are secured by liens on various personal assets of the borrowers, but they also may be made on an unsecured
basis. On December 31, 2009, our consumer installment loans made up approximately 0.7% of our loan portfolio, and
approximately 16.0% of the aggregate outstanding balances of those loans were unsecured. In addition to loans classified
on our books as consumer installment loans, many of our loans included in the real estate loan classification are made for
consumer purposes but are classified as real estate loans on our books because they are secured by first or junior liens on
real estate. Consumer loans generally are made at fixed interest rates and with maturities or amortization schedules that
generally do not exceed five years. However, consumer-purpose loans secured by real estate (and, thus, classified as real
estate loans as described above) may be made for terms of up to 15 years but under terms that allow us to call the loan in
full, or provide for a “balloon” payment, at the end of a period of no more than five years.

Consumer installment loans involve greater risks than other loans, particularly in the case of loans that are unsecured
or secured by depreciating assets. When damage or depreciation reduces the value of our collateral below the unpaid
balance of a defaulted loan, repossession may not result in repayment of the entire outstanding loan balance. The resulting
deficiency may not warrant further substantial collection efforts against the borrower. In connection with consumer
lending in general, the success of our loan collection efforts is highly dependent on the continuing financial stability of our
borrowers, and our collection of consumer installment loans may be more likely to be adversely affected by a borrower’s
job loss, illness, personal bankruptcy or other change in personal circumstances than is the case with other types of loans.

Commercial and Industrial Loans. Our commercial and industrial loan classification includes loans to small- and
medium-sized businesses and individuals for working capital, equipment purchases and various other business and
agricultural purposes. This classification excludes any loan secured by real estate. These loans generally are secured by
business assets, such as inventory, accounts receivable, equipment or similar assets, but they also may be made on an
unsecured basis. On December 31, 2009, our commercial and industrial loans made up approximately 15.8% of our loan
portfolio, and approximately 16.0% of the aggregate outstanding balances of those loans represented unsecured loans.
Those loans included approximately $25.5 million, or approximately 4.4% of our total loans, to borrowers engaged in
agriculture, commercial fishing or seafood-related businesses. In addition to loans classified on our books as commercial
and industrial loans, many of our loans included in the real estate loan classification are made for commercial or
agricultural purposes but are classified as real estate loans on our books because they are secured by first or junior liens on
real estate. Commercial and industrial loans may be made at variable or fixed rates of interest. However, any loan that has
a maturity or amortization schedule of longer than five years normally will be made at an interest rate that varies with our
prime lending rate and will include contractual provisions that allow us to call the loan in full, or provide for a “balloon”
payment in full, at the end of a period of no more than five years. Commercial and industrial loans typically are made on
the basis of the borrower’s ability to make repayment from business cash flow. As a result, the ability of borrowers to repay
commercial loans may be substantially dependent on the success of their businesses, and the collateral for commercial
loans may depreciate over time and cannot be appraised with as much precision as real estate.

Loan Pricing. We price our loans under policies established as a part of our asset/liability management function.
For larger loans, we use a pricing model developed by an outside vendor to reduce our exposure to interest rate risk on
fixed and variable rate loans that have maturities of longer than three years. On December 31, 2009, approximately 60.0%
of the total dollar amount of our loans accrued interest at variable rates.
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Loan Administration and Underwriting. 'We make loans based, to a great extent, on our assessment of borrowers’
income, cash flow, net worth, sources of repayment and character. The principal risk associated with each of the
categories of our loans is the creditworthiness of our borrowers, and our loans may be viewed as involving a higher degree
of credit risk than is the case with some other types of loans, such as long-term residential mortgage loans, in which
greater emphasis is placed on collateral values. To manage this risk, we have adopted written loan policies and procedures,
and our loan portfolio is administered under a defined process. That process includes guidelines and standards for loan
underwriting and risk assessment, and procedures for loan approvals, loan grading, ongoing identification and
management of credit deterioration, and portfolio reviews to assess loss exposure and to test our compliance with our
credit policies and procedures.

The loan underwriting standards we use include an evaluation of various factors, including a loan applicant’s income,
cash flow, payment history on other debts, and ability to meet existing obligations and payments on the proposed loan.
Although an applicant’s creditworthiness is a primary consideration in the loan approval process, our underwriting process
for secured loans also includes analysis of the value of the proposed collateral in relation to the proposed loan amount. We
consider the value of collateral, the degree of certainty of that value, the marketability of the collateral in the event of
foreclosure or repossession, and the likelihood of depreciation in the collateral value.

Our Board of Directors has approved levels of lending authority for lending and credit personnel based on our
aggregate credit exposure to a borrower. A loan that satisfies the Bank’s loan policies and is within a lending officer’s
assigned authority may be approved by that officer alone. Loans involving aggregate credit exposures in excess of a lending
officer’s authority may be approved by a Credit Policy Officer in our Loan Administration Department up to the amount
of that officer’s authority. Above those amounts, a secured or unsecured loan involving an aggregate exposure to a single
relationship of up to $2 million may be approved either by our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Operating Officer, Chief
Revenue Officer or Chief Credit Officer, and a loan involving an aggregate exposure to a single relationship of up to $3
million may be approved by our General Loan Committee which consists of our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Operating
Officer, Chief Revenue Officer and Chief Credit Officer. A loan that exceeds the approval authority of that Committee,
and, notwithstanding the above credit authorities, any single loan in excess of $2 million, must be approved by the
Executive Committee of our Board of Directors.

When a loan is made, our lending officer handling that loan assigns it a grade based on various underwriting and
other criteria under our risk grading procedures. Any proposed loan that grades below a threshold set by our Board of
Directors must be reviewed by a Credit Policy Officer before it can be made, even if the loan amount is within the loan
officer’s approval authority. The grades assigned to loans we make indicate the level of ongoing review and attention we
will give to those loans to protect our position and reduce loss exposure.

After loans are made, they are reviewed by our Loan Administration personnel for adequacy of contract
documentation, compliance with regulatory requirements, and documentation of compliance with our loan underwriting
criteria. Also, our Credit Policy Officers conduct detailed reviews of selected loans based on various criteria, including
loan type, amount, collateral, and borrower identity, and the particular lending officer’s or branch’s lending history. These
reviews include at least 10% of the loans made by each lending officer. All loans involving an aggregate exposure of
$2 million or more ultimately are reviewed after funding by the Executive Committee of our Board of Directors. Each
loan involving an aggregate exposure of more than $350,000 is required to be reviewed at least annually by the lending
officer who originated the loan, and those reviews are monitored by a Credit Policy Officer. Loan Administration
personnel also periodically review various loans based on various criteria, and we retain the services of an independent
credit risk management consultant to annually review our problem loans, a random sampling of performing loans related
to our larger aggregate credit exposures, and selected other loans.

During the life of each loan, its grade is reviewed and validated or modified to reflect changes in circumstances and
risk. We generally place a loan on a nonaccrual status when it becomes 90 days past due or whenever we believe collection
of that loan has become doubtful. We charge off loans when the collection of principal and interest has become doubtful
and the loans no longer can be considered sound collectible assets (or, in the case of unsecured loans, when they become
90 days past due).

Our Special Assets Manager, who reports directly to our Chief Credit Officer, monitors the overall performance of
our loan portfolio, monitors the collection activities of our lending officers, and directly supervises collection actions that
involve legal action or bankruptcies.



Allowance for Loan Losses. Our Board of Directors reviews all impaired loans at least quarterly, and our
management reviews asset quality trends monthly. Based on these reviews and our current judgments about the credit
quality of our loan portfolio and other relevant internal and external factors, we have established an allowance for loan
losses. The adequacy of the allowance is assessed by our management monthly and reviewed by our Board of Directors
each quarter. On December 31, 2009, our allowance was $9.7 million and amounted to 1.7% of our total loans and
approximately 66% of our nonperforming loans.

On December 31, 2009, our nonperforming loans (consisting of non-accrual loans, loans past due greater than 90
days and still accruing interest, and restructured loans) amounted to approximately $14.7 million, and we had $5.4 million
of other real estate owned and repossessed collateral acquired in settlement of loans on our books. (See Item 7
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”)

Seasonality and Cycles

Because the local economies of communities in our Outer Banks, Inner Banks, and Coastal Regions depend, to a
large extent, on tourism and agribusiness (including seafood related businesses), historically there has been an element of
seasonality in our business in those regions. However, more recently, the extent to which seasonality affects our business
has diminished somewhat, largely as a result of a shift away from the seasonal population growth that once characterized
many of our coastal communities and toward a more year-round economy resulting from increasing numbers of
permanent residents and retirees relocating to these markets. The seasonal patterns that once characterized agribusiness
also have been lessened with agricultural product diversification, the year round marketing and sales of agricultural
commodities, and agribusiness tax and financial planning.

The current real estate cycle has been trending downward in most of the Bank’s markets. This downward trend has
and will continue to have an impact on the real estate lending of the Bank. Continued emphasis will be placed on the
customer’s ability to generate sufficient cash flow to support their total credit exposure rather than reliance upon the
underlying value of the real estate being held as collateral for those loans.

We do not believe we have any one customer from whom more than 10% of our revenues are derived. However, we
have multiple customers, commercial and retail, that are directly or indirectly affected by, or engaged in businesses
related to, the tourism and agribusiness industries and that, in the aggregate, historically have provided greater than 10%
of our revenues.

Deposit Activities

Our deposit services include business and individual checking accounts, NOW accounts, money market checking
accounts, savings accounts and certificates of deposit. We monitor our competition in order to keep the rates paid on our
deposits at a competitive level. On December 31, 2009, our time deposits of $100,000 or more amounted to approximately
$198.4 million, or approximately 26.3% of our total deposits. We derive the majority of our deposits from within our
banking market. However, we also accept deposits through deposit brokers and market our certificates of deposit by
advertising our deposit rates on an Internet certificate of deposit network, and we generate a significant amount of
out-of-market deposits in that manner. Although we accept these deposits primarily for liquidity purposes, we also use
them to manage our interest rate risk. On December 31, 2009, our out-of-market deposits amounted to approximately
$172.3 million, or approximately 22.8% of our total deposits and approximately 34.5% of our total certificates of deposit.

Statistical information about our deposit accounts is contained in Item 7 of this report under the caption
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”

Investment Portfolio

On December 31, 2009, our investment portfolio totaled approximately $239.3 million and included municipal
securities, corporate notes, mortgage-backed securities guaranteed by the Government National Mortgage Association or
issued by the Federal National Mortgage Corporation and Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (including
collateralized mortgage obligations), securities issued by U.S. government-sponsored enterprises and agencies and equity
securities. We have classified all of our securities as “available-for-sale,” and we analyze their performance at least
quarterly. Our securities have various interest rate features, maturity dates and call options.
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Statistical information about our investment portfolio is contained in Item 7 of this report under the caption
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”

Employees

On December 31, 2009, the Bank employed 211 full-time employees (including our executive officers), and 11 part-
time employees. We have no separate employees of our own. The Bank is not party to any collective bargaining agreement
with its employees, and we consider the Bank'’s relations with its employees to be good.

Supervision and Regulation

Our business and operations are subject to extensive federal and state governmental regulation and supervision. The
following is a summary of some of the basic statutes and regulations that apply to us. However, it is not a complete
discussion of all the laws that affect our business, and it is qualified in its entirety by reference to the particular statutory
or regulatory provision or proposal being described.

General. 'We are a bank holding company registered with the Federal Reserve Board (the “FRB”) under the Bank
Holding Company Act of 1956, as amended (the “BHCA”). We are subject to supervision and examination by, and the
regulations and reporting requirements of, the FRB. Under the BHCA, a bank holding company’s activities are limited to
banking, managing or controlling banks, or engaging in other activities the FRB determines are closely related and a
proper incident to banking or managing or controlling banks.

The BHCA prohibits a bank holding company from acquiring direct or indirect control of more than 5.0% of the
outstanding voting stock, or substantially all of the assets, of any financial institution, or merging or consolidating with
another bank holding company or savings bank holding company, without the FRB’s prior approval. Additionally, the
BHCA generally prohibits bank holding companies from engaging in a nonbanking activity, or acquiring ownership or
control of more than 5.0% of the outstanding voting stock of any company that engages in a nonbanking activity, unless
that activity is determined by the FRB to be closely related and a proper incident to banking. In approving an application
to engage in a nonbanking activity, the FRB must consider whether that activity can reasonably be expected to produce
benefits to the public, such as greater convenience, increased competition, or gains in efficiency, that outweigh possible
adverse effects, such as undue concentration of resources, decreased or unfair competition, conflicts of interest or
unsound banking practices.

The law imposes a number of obligations and restrictions on a bank holding company and its insured bank
subsidiaries designed to minimize potential losses to depositors and the FDIC insurance funds. For example, if a bank
holding company’s insured bank subsidiary becomes “undercapitalized,” the bank holding company is required to
guarantee the bank’s compliance (subject to certain limits) with the terms of any capital restoration plan filed with its
federal banking agency. A bank holding company is required to serve as a source of financial strength to its bank
subsidiaries and to commit resources to support those banks in circumstances in which, absent that policy, it might not do
so. Under the BHCA, the FRB may require a bank holding company to terminate any activity or relinquish control of a
nonbank subsidiary if the FRB determines that the activity or control constitutes a serious risk to the financial soundness

and stability of a bank subsidiary of a bank holding company.

The Bank is an insured, North Carolina-chartered bank. Its deposits are insured under the FDIC’s Deposit
Insurance Fund, and it is subject to supervision and examination by, and the regulations and reporting requirements of,
the FDIC and the North Carolina Commissioner of Banks (the “Commissioner”). The Bank is not a member of the
Federal Reserve System.

As an insured bank, the Bank is prohibited from engaging as a principal in an activity that is not permitted for
national banks unless (1) the FDIC determines that the activity would pose no significant risk to the deposit insurance
fund and (2) the Bank is in compliance with applicable capital standards. Insured banks also are prohibited generally from
directly acquiring or retaining any equity investment of a type or in an amount not permitted for national banks.

The Commissioner and the FDIC regulate all areas of the Bank’s business, including its payment of dividends and
other aspects of its operations. They conduct regular examinations of the Bank, and the Bank must furnish periodic
reports to the Commissioner and the FDIC containing detailed financial and other information about its affairs. The
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Commissioner and the FDIC have broad powers to enforce laws and regulations that apply to the Bank and to require
corrective action of conditions that affect its safety and soundness. These powers include, among others, issuing cease and
desist orders, imposing civil penalties, removing officers and directors, and otherwise intervening in the Bank’s operation
and management if examinations of the Bank and the reports it files indicate the need to do so.

The Bank’s business also is influenced by prevailing economic conditions and governmental policies, both foreign and
domestic, and, though it is not a member bank of the Federal Reserve System, by the monetary and fiscal policies of the
FRB. The FRB’s actions and policy directives determine to a significant degree the cost and availability of funds the Bank
obtains from money market sources for lending and investing, and they also influence, directly and indirectly, the rates of
interest the Bank pays on its time and savings deposits and the rates it charges on commercial bank loans.

Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act. The federal Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act enacted in 1999 (the “GLB Act”) dramatically
changed various federal laws governing the banking, securities and insurance industries.

The GLB Act permitted bank holding companies to become “financial holding companies” and, in general
(1) expanded opportunities to affiliate with securities firms and insurance companies; (2) overrode certain state laws that
would prohibit certain banking and insurance affiliations; (3) expanded the activities in which banks and bank holding
companies may participate; (4) requires that banks and bank holding companies engage in some activities only through
affiliates owned or managed in accordance with certain requirements; and (5) reorganized responsibility among various
federal regulators for oversight of certain securities activities conducted by banks and bank holding companies.

The GLB Act expanded opportunities for us and the Bank to provide other services and obtain other revenues.
However, this expanded authority also presents challenges as our larger competitors are able to expand their services and
products into areas that are not feasible for smaller, community oriented financial institutions. To date we have not
elected to become a “financial holding company.”

Payment of Dividends. Under North Carolina law, we are authorized to pay dividends as declared by our Board of
Directors, provided that no such distribution results in our insolvency on a going concern or balance sheet basis. However,
although we are a legal entity separate and distinct from the Bank, our principal source of funds with which we can pay
dividends to our shareholders is dividends we receive from the Bank. For that reason, our ability to pay dividends
effectively is subject to the same limitations that apply to the Bank.

In general, the Bank may pay dividends only from its undivided profits. However, if its surplus is less than 50% of its
paid-in capital stock, the Bank’s directors may not declare any cash dividend until it has transferred to surplus 25% of its
undivided profits or any lesser percentage necessary to raise its surplus to an amount equal to 50% of its paid-in capital stock.

Federal law prohibits the Bank from making any capital distributions, including paying a cash dividend, if it is, or
after making the distribution it would become, “undercapitalized” as that term is defined in the Federal Deposit
Insurance Act (the “FDIA”). Also, if in the FDIC’s opinion an insured bank under its jurisdiction is engaged in or is about
to engage in an unsafe or unsound practice, the FDIC may require, after notice and hearing, that the bank cease and
desist from that practice. The FDIC has indicated that paying dividends that deplete a bank’s capital base to an
inadequate level would be an unsafe and unsound banking practice. (See “—Prompt Corrective Action” below.) The
FDIC has issued policy statements which provide that insured banks generally should pay dividends only out of their
current operating earnings. Also, under the FDIA no dividend may be paid by an FDIC-insured bank while it is in default
on any assessment due the FDIC. The Bank’s payment of dividends also may be affected or limited by other factors, such
as events or circumstances that lead the FDIC to require the Bank to maintain its capital above regulatory guidelines.

In the future, our ability to declare and pay cash dividends will be subject to our Board of Directors’ evaluation of our
operating results, capital levels, financial condition, future growth plans, general business and economic conditions, and
other relevant considerations. See “—U.S. Treasury’s TARP Capital Purchase Program” below for a discussion of
additional restrictions on our ability to pay dividends.

Capital Adequacy. We and the Bank are required to comply with the FRB’s and FDIC'’s capital adequacy standards
for bank holding companies and insured banks. The FRB and FDIC have issued risk-based capital and leverage capital
guidelines for measuring capital adequacy, and all applicable capital standards must be satisfied for us or the Bank to be
considered in compliance with regulatory capital requirements.
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Under the risk-based capital guidelines, the minimum ratio (“Total Capital Ratio”) of an entity’s total capital (“Total
Capital”) to its risk-weighted assets (including certain off-balance-sheet items, such as standby letters of credit) is 8.0%. At
least half of Total Capital must be composed of “Tier 1 Capital.” Tier 1 Capital includes common equity, undivided
profits, minority interests in the equity accounts of consolidated subsidiaries, qualifying noncumulative perpetual
preferred stock, and a limited amount of cumulative perpetual preferred stock, less goodwill and certain other intangible
assets. The remaining Total Capital may consist of “Tier 2 Capital” which includes certain subordinated debt, certain
hybrid capital instruments and other qualifying preferred stock, and a limited amount of loan loss reserves. A bank or bank
holding company that does not satisfy minimum capital requirements may be required to adopt and implement a plan
acceptable to its federal banking regulator to achieve an adequate level of capital.

Under the leverage capital measure, the minimum ratio (the “Leverage Capital Ratio”) of Tier 1 Capital to average
assets, less goodwill and various other intangible assets, is 3.0% for entities that meet specified criteria, including having
the highest regulatory rating. All other entities generally are required to maintain an additional cushion of 100 to 200 basis
points above the stated minimum. The guidelines also provide that banks experiencing internal growth or making
acquisitions will be expected to maintain strong capital positions substantially above the minimum levels without
significant reliance on intangible assets. A bank’s “Tangible Leverage Ratio” (deducting all intangibles) and other
indicators of capital strength also will be taken into consideration by banking regulators in evaluating proposals for
expansion or new activities.

The FRB and the FDIC also consider interest rate risk (when the interest rate sensitivity of an institution’s assets
does not match the sensitivity of its liabilities or its off-balance-sheet position) in evaluating capital adequacy. Banks with
excessive interest rate risk exposure must hold additional amounts of capital against their exposure to losses resulting from
that risk. The regulators also require banks to incorporate market risk components into their risk-based capital. Under
these market risk requirements, capital is allocated to support the amount of market risk related to a bank’s trading
activities.

The following table lists our consolidated regulatory capital ratios, and the Bank’s separate regulatory capital ratios, at
December 31, 2009. On that date, our capital ratios were at levels to qualify us as “well capitalized.”

Minimum

Reﬂuired to be Our Consolidated  The Bank’s
Required Ratios “Wel

Capitalized” Capital Ratios Capital Ratios

Leverage Capital Ratio (Tier 1 Capital to average

ASSEES) it 3.0% 5.0% 9.59% 7.53%
Risk-based capital ratios:
Tier 1 Capital Ratio (Tier 1 Capital to risk-
weighted assets) ..................o0 4.0% 6.0% 12.77% 10.03%
Total Capital Ratio (Total Capital to risk-
weighted assets) ............ ... 8.0% 10.0% 14.02% 11.28%

Our capital categories are determined only for the purpose of applying the “prompt corrective action” rules described
below which have been adopted by the various federal banking regulators, and they do not necessarily constitute an
accurate representation of overall financial condition or prospects for other purposes. A failure to meet capital guidelines
could subject us to a variety of enforcement remedies under those rules, including issuance of a capital directive,
termination of FDIC deposit insurance, a prohibition on taking brokered deposits, and other restrictions on our business.
As described below, substantial additional restrictions can be imposed on banks that fail to meet applicable capital
requirements. (See “—Prompt Corrective Action” below.)

Prompt Corrective Action. Federal law establishes a system of prompt corrective action to resolve the problems of
undercapitalized banks. Under this system, the FDIC has established five capital categories (“well capitalized,”
“adequately capitalized,” “undercapitalized,” “significantly undercapitalized,” and “critically undercapitalized”) and it is
required to take various mandatory supervisory actions, and is authorized to take other discretionary actions, with respect
to banks in the three undercapitalized categories. The severity of any actions taken will depend on the capital category in
which a bank is placed. Generally, subject to a narrow exception, current federal law requires the FDIC to appoint a
receiver or conservator for a bank that is critically undercapitalized.
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Under the FDIC's rules implementing the prompt corrective action provisions, an insured, state-chartered bank that
(1) has a Total Capital Ratio of 10.0% or greater, a Tier 1 Capital Ratio of 6.0% or greater, and a Leverage Ratio of 5.0%
or greater, and (2) is not subject to any written agreement, order, capital directive, or prompt corrective action directive
issued by the FDIC, is considered “well capitalized.” A bank with a Total Capital Ratio of 8.0% or greater, a Tier 1 Capital
Ratio of 4.0% or greater, and a Leverage Ratio of 4.0% or greater, is considered “adequately capitalized.” A bank that has
a Total Capital Ratio of less than 8.0%, a Tier 1 Capital Ratio of less than 4.0%, or a Leverage Ratio of less than 4.0%, is
considered “undercapitalized.” A bank that has a Total Capital Ratio of less than 6.0%, a Tier 1 Capital Ratio of less than
3.0%, or a Leverage Ratio of less than 3.0%, is considered “significantly undercapitalized,” and a bank that has a tangible
equity capital to assets ratio equal to or less than 2.0% is considered “critically undercapitalized.” For purposes of these
rules, the term “tangible equity” includes core capital elements counted as Tier 1 Capital for purposes of the risk-based
capital standards (see “—Capital Adequacy” above), plus the amount of outstanding cumulative perpetual preferred stock
(including related surplus), minus all intangible assets (with various exceptions). A bank may be deemed to be in a lower
capitalization category than indicated by its actual capital position if it receives an unsatisfactory examination rating.

A bank categorized as “undercapitalized,” “significantly undercapitalized,” or “critically undercapitalized” is required
to submit an acceptable capital restoration plan to the FDIC. An “undercapitalized” bank also is generally prohibited from
increasing its average total assets, making acquisitions, establishing new branches, or engaging in new lines of business,
other than in accordance with an accepted capital restoration plan or with the FDIC’s approval. Also, the FDIC may treat
an “undercapitalized” bank as being “significantly undercapitalized” if it determines that is necessary to carry out the
purpose of the law. On December 31, 2009, our capital ratios were at levels to qualify us as “well capitalized.”

Reserve Requirements. Under the FRB’s regulations, all FDIC-insured banks must maintain average daily reserves
against their transaction accounts. As of January 1, 2010 no reserves are required on the first $10.7 million of transaction
accounts, but a bank must maintain reserves equal to 3.0% on aggregate balances between $10.7 million and $55.2
million, and reserves equal to 10.0% on aggregate balances in excess of $55.2 million. The FRB may adjust these
percentages from time to time. Because our reserves must be maintained in the form of vault cash or in an account at a
Federal Reserve Bank or with a qualified correspondent bank, one effect of the reserve requirement is to reduce the
amount of our assets that are available for lending and other investment activities.

Federal Deposit Insurance. The Bank’s deposits are insured by the FDIC to the full extent provided in the Federal
Deposit Insurance Act, and the Bank pays assessments to the FDIC for that insurance coverage. Under the Act, the
FDIC may terminate the Bank’s deposit insurance if it finds that the Bank has engaged in unsafe and unsound practices, is
in an unsafe or unsound condition to continue operations, or has violated applicable laws, regulations, rules or orders.

The Federal Deposit Insurance Reform Act of 2005 (“FDIRA”) changed the Federal deposit insurance system by,
among other things:

® merging the Bank Insurance Fund and Savings Association Insurance Fund into a new Deposit Insurance Fund
(the “DIF”);

® raising the level of Federal deposit insurance coverage for retirement accounts to $250,000;

® establishing a range of 1.15% to 1.50% within which the FDIC must set and maintain the required reserve ratio for
the DIF;

® requiring that, if the DIF reserve ratio falls, or within six months is expected to fall, below the statutorily required
minimum of 1.15%, the FDIC must adopt a restoration plan that provides for the DIF to be restored; and

® eliminating restrictions on premium rates based on the DIF reserve ratio, and giving the FDIC discretion to price
deposit insurance according to the risk posed to the DIF by each insured institution, regardless of the DIF reserve
ratio.

During October 2008, the Emergency Economic Stabilization Act of 2008 temporarily raised the basic limit on
federal deposit insurance coverage for all accounts from $100,000 to $250,000 per depositor until December 31, 2009.
During May 2009, that increased coverage was extended until December 31, 2013, at which time it will return to $100,000
for all accounts other than retirement accounts for which FDIRA permanently increased the basic coverage to $250,000.
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FDIC Temporary Liquidity Guarantee Program. During 2008, the FDIC implemented its Temporary Liquidity
Guarantee Program (TLGP), which applies to, among others, all U.S. depository institutions insured by the FDIC and all
U.S. bank holding companies, unless they have opted out of the TLGP or the FDIC has terminated their participation.
We chose to participate in the TLGP. Under the original terms of the transaction account guarantee component of the
TLGP, all noninterest-bearing transaction accounts would be insured in full by the FDIC until December 31, 2009,
regardless of the standard maximum deposit insurance amount. During August 2009, the FDIC extended the transaction
account guarantee component of the TLGP through June 30, 2010.

FDIC Insurance Assessments. Under FDIRA, the FDIC uses a revised risk-based assessment system to determine
the amount of the Bank's deposit insurance assessment based on an evaluation of the probability that the DIF will incur a
loss with respect to the Bank. That evaluation takes into consideration risks attributable to different categories and
concentrations of the Bank’s assets and liabilities and any other factors the FDIC considers to be relevant, including
information obtained from the Commissioner. A higher assessment rate results in an increase in the assessments paid by
the Bank to the FDIC for deposit insurance

The FDIC is responsible for maintaining the adequacy of the DIF, and the amount the Bank pays for deposit
insurance is influenced not only by the assessment of the risk it poses to the DIF, but also by the adequacy of the
insurance fund at any time to cover the risk posed by all insured institutions. FDIC insurance assessments could be
increased substantially in the future if the FDIC finds such an increase to be necessary in order to adequately maintain
the insurance fund.

During 2008, and because the DIF reserve ratio had fallen below the minimum of 1.15% mandated by FDIRA, the
Board of Directors of the FDIC adopted a restoration plan to return the reserve ratio to that minimum level as required
by FDIRA within five years. During February 2009, the Board amended its restoration plan to provide for the minimum
DIF reserve ratio to be restored within seven years and voted to impose a special assessment on insured institutions of 20
basis points, and to increase regular assessment rates for 2009. However, during May 2009, the special assessment was
reduced to 5 basis points on each insured institution’s assets minus its Tier 1 capital as of June 30, 2009, but not more than
10 basis points of the institution’s assessment base for the second quarter of 2009. The special assessment was payable on
September 30, 2009. :

During October 2009, the FDIC again amended its restoration plan to provide for the minimum DIF reserve ratio to
be restored within eight years, and adopted a uniform 3 basis point increase in regular assessment rates effective
January 1, 2011. During November 2009, the FDIC amended its regulations to require that insured institutions prepay
their estimated quarterly risk-based assessments for the fourth quarter of 2009 and for all of 2010, 2011 and 2012 on
December 30, 2009.

Restrictions on Transactions with Affiliates. The Bank is subject to the provisions of Section 23A of the Federal
Reserve Act which, among other things, places limits on the amount of:

@ 3 bank’s loans or extensions of credit to, or investment in, its affiliates;

® assets a bank may purchase from affiliates, except for real and personal property exempted by the FRB;

@ the amount of a bank’s loans or extensions of credit to third parties collateralized by securities or obligations of the
bank’s affiliates; and

@ a bank’s issuance of a guarantee, acceptance or letter of credit for its affiliates.

The total amount of these transactions is limited in amount, as to any one affiliate, to 10% of a bank’s capital and
surplus and, as to all affiliates, to 20% of a bank’s capital and surplus. In addition to the limitation on the amount of these
transactions, each of the above transactions must also meet specified collateral requirements. We also must comply with
other provisions under Section 23A that are designed to avoid the taking of low-quality assets from an affiliate.

The Bank also is subject to the provisions of Section 23B of the Federal Reserve Act which, among other things,
prohibit a bank or its subsidiaries generally from engaging in transactions with its affiliates unless those transactions are on
terms substantially the same, or at least as favorable to the bank or its subsidiaries, as would apply in comparable
transactions with nonaffiliated companies.
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Federal law also restricts the Bank’s ability to extend credit to its and our executive officers, directors, principal
shareholders and their related interests. These credit extensions (1) must be made on substantially the same terms,
including interest rates and collateral, as those prevailing at the time for comparable transactions with unrelated third
parties, and (2) must not involve more than the normal risk of repayment or present other unfavorable features.

Interstate Banking and Branching. The Bank Holding Company Act, as amended by the interstate banking
provisions of the Riegle-Neal Interstate Banking and Branching Efficiency Act of 1994 (the “Interstate Banking Law”),
permits adequately capitalized and managed bank holding companies to acquire control of the assets of banks in any state.
Acquisitions are subject to provisions that cap at 10.0% the portion of the total deposits of insured depository institutions
in the United States that a single bank holding company may control, and generally cap at 30.0% the portion of the total
deposits of insured depository institutions in a state that a single bank holding company may control. Under certain
circumstances, states have the authority to increase or decrease the 30.0% cap, and states may set minimum age
requirements of up to five years on target banks within their borders.

Subject to certain conditions, the Interstate Banking Law also permits interstate branching by allowing a bank in one
state to merge with a bank located in a different state. Each state was allowed to prohibit interstate branching in that state
by merger by enacting legislation to that effect. The Interstate Banking Law also permits banks to establish branches in
other states by opening new branches or acquiring existing branches of other banks, provided the laws of those other
states specifically permit that form of interstate branching. North Carolina has adopted statutes which, subject to
conditions, authorize out-of-state bank holding companies and banks to acquire or merge with North Carolina banks and
to establish or acquire branches in North Carolina.

Community Reinvestment. Under the Community Reinvestment Act (the “CRA”), an insured bank has a continuing
and affirmative obligation, consistent with its safe and sound operation, to help meet the credit needs of its entire
community, including low and moderate income neighborhoods. The CRA does not establish specific lending
requirements or programs for banks, nor does it limit a bank’s discretion to develop, consistent with the CRA, the types of
products and services it believes are best suited to its particular community. The CRA requires the federal banking
regulators, in their examinations of insured banks, to assess the banks’ records of meeting the credit needs of their
communities, using the ratings of “outstanding,” “satisfactory,” “needs to improve,” or “substantial noncompliance,” and to
take that record into account in its evaluation of various applications by those banks. All banks are required to make public
disclosure of their CRA performance ratings. We received a “satisfactory” rating in our last CRA examination during 2006.

USA Patriot Act of 2001. The USA Patriot Act of 2001 was enacted in response to the terrorist attacks that occurred
in the United States on September 11, 2001. The Act is intended to strengthen the ability of U.S. law enforcement and the
intelligence community to work cohesively to combat terrorism on a variety of fronts. The Act’s impact on all financial
institutions is significant and wide ranging. The Act contains sweeping anti-money laundering and financial transparency
requirements and imposes various other regulatory requirements, including standards for verifying customer identification
at account opening, and rules promoting cooperation among financial institutions, regulators and law enforcement
agencies in identifying parties that may be involved in terrorism or money laundering.

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.  The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, which became effective on July 30, 2002, is sweeping
federal legislation that addressed accounting, corporate governance and disclosure issues. The Act imposed significant
new requirements on all public companies. Some provisions of the Act became effective immediately while others are still
being implemented.

In general, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act mandated important new corporate governance and financial reporting
requirements intended to enhance the accuracy and transparency of public companies’ reported financial results. It
established new responsibilities for corporate chief executive officers, chief financial officers and audit committees in the
financial reporting process, and it created a new regulatory body to oversee auditors of public companies. It backed these
requirements with new SEC enforcement tools, increased criminal penalties for federal mail, wire and securities fraud,
and created new criminal penalties for document and record destruction in connection with federal investigations. It also
increased the opportunity for more private litigation by lengthening the statute of limitations for securities fraud claims
and providing new corporate whistleblower protection.

In response to the Act, the various securities exchanges adopted listing standards that require listed companies to
comply with various corporate governance requirements, including the requirement that (1) audit committees include
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only directors who are “independent” as defined by the SEC’s and Exchanges’ rules, and (2) actions on various other
matters (including executive compensation and director nominations) be approved, or recommended for approval, by
issuers’ full boards of directors or by committees that include only “independent” directors. Because our common stock is
listed on the NASDAQ Global Market, we are subject to those requirements.

The economic and operational effects of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act on public companies, including us, have been and
will continue to be significant in terms of the time, resources and costs associated with compliance. Because the Act, for
the most part, applies equally to larger and smaller public companies, we will continue to be presented with additional
challenges as a smaller, community-oriented financial institution seeking to compete with larger financial institutions in
our markets.

U.S. Treasury’s Troubled Asset Relief Program (TARP) Capital Purchase Program. On January 16, 2009, we issued
Series A Preferred Stock in the amount of $17,949,000 and a warrant to purchase 144,984 shares of our common stock to
the U.S. Treasury as a participant in the TARP Capital Purchase Program. The Series A Preferred Stock qualifies as Tier 1
capital for purposes of regulatory capital requirements and will pay cumulative dividends at a rate of 5% per annum for
the first five years and 9% per annum thereafter. Prior to January 16, 2012, unless we have redeemed all of this preferred
stock or the U.S. Treasury has transferred all of this preferred stock to a third party, the consent of the U.S. Treasury will
be required for us to, among other things, increase our common stock dividend above the current quarterly cash dividend
of $0.1825 per share or repurchase our common stock except in limited circumstances. In addition, until the U.S.
Treasury ceases to own our securities sold under the TARP Capital Purchase Program, the compensation arrangements
for our senior executive officers must comply in all respects with the U.S. Emergency Economic Stabilization Act of 2008,
as amended by the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009, and the rules and regulations thereunder.

Available Information

Copies of reports we file electronically with the Securities and Exchange Commission, including copies of our Annual
Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, and Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those
reports, are available free of charge through our Internet website as soon as reasonably practicable after they are filed.
Our website address is www.ecbbancorp.com.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

Ri1sK FACTORS

The following paragraphs describe material risks that could affect our business. Other risks and uncertainties not
presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial also may impair our business operations. If any of the
following risks actually occur, our business, results of operations and financial condition could suffer. The risks discussed
below also include forward-looking statements, and our actual results may differ materially from those discussed in these
forward-looking statements.

Risks Relating to our Business
®  Difficult market conditions and economic trends have adversely affected our industry and our business.

Dramatic declines in the housing market, with decreasing home prices and increasing delinquencies and
foreclosures, have negatively impacted the credit performance of mortgage and construction loans and resulted in
significant write-downs of assets by many financial institutions. In addition, the values of other real estate collateral
supporting many loans have declined and may continue to decline. General downward economic trends, reduced
availability of commercial credit and increasing unemployment have negatively impacted the credit performance of
commercial and consumer credit, resulting in additional write-downs. Concerns over the stability of the financial markets
and the economy have resulted in decreased lending by financial institutions to their customers and to each other. This
market turmoil and tightening of credit has led to increased commercial and consumer loan delinquencies, lack of
customer confidence, increased market volatility and widespread reduction in general business activity. Competition
among depository institutions for deposits has increased significantly. Financial institutions have experienced decreased
access to capital and to deposits or borrowings.

The resulting economic pressure on consumers and businesses and the lack of confidence in the financial markets has
adversely affected most businesses and the prices of securities in general, and financial institutions in particular, and it will
continue to adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and stock price.

Our ability to assess the creditworthiness of customers and to estimate the losses inherent in our credit exposure is
made more complex by these difficult market and economic conditions. As a result of the foregoing factors, there is a
potential for new federal or state laws and regulations regarding lending and funding practices and liquidity standards, and
bank regulatory agencies have been aggressive in responding to concerns and trends identified in examinations. This
increased government action may increase our costs and limit our ability to pursue certain business opportunities. We also
may be required to pay even higher Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) premiums than the recently
increased level, because financial institution failures resulting from the depressed market conditions have depleted and
may continue to deplete the deposit insurance fund and reduce its ratio of reserves to insured deposits.

We do not believe these difficult conditions are likely to improve in the near future. A worsening of these conditions
would likely exacerbate the adverse effects of these difficult market and economic conditions on us, our customers and the
other financial institutions in our market. As a result, we may experience increases in foreclosures, delinquencies and
customer bankruptcies, as well as more restricted access to funds.

®  Recent legislative and regulatory initiatives to address difficult market and economic conditions may not
stabilize the U.S. banking system or the economy.

In response to adverse economic conditions, and instability in the financial markets and the U.S. banking system,
Congress enacted the Emergency Economic Stabilization Act of 2008 (‘EESA”) in an attempt to restore confidence and
stability to the banking system and to encourage financial institutions to increase their lending to customers and to each
other. Later, the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (“ARRA”) was enacted to support the national
economy and aid in economic recovery.

The provisions of EESA and ARRA are in addition to numerous other actions by the Federal Reserve, Treasury, the
FDIC, the SEC and others to address the current decline in the national economy and liquidity and credit crisis that
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commenced in 2007. The purpose of these legislative and regulatory actions is to stabilize the U.S. banking system,
support the national economy and aid in economic recovery. However, there is no assurance that EESA, ARRA and the
other regulatory initiatives described above will be fully effective or have their desired effects. If the volatility in the
markets continues and economic conditions fail to improve or worsen, our business, financial condition and results of
operations could be materially and adversely affected.

®  Current levels of market volatility are unprecedented.

The capital and credit markets have experienced volatility and disruption for more than a year, producing downward
pressure on stock prices and credit availability for many issuers without regard to their underlying financial strength. This
has been particularly the case with respect to financial institutions, and the market prices of the stocks of financial services
companies in general, including ours, are at their lowest levels in recent history. If current levels of market disruption and
volatility continue or worsen, there can be no assurance that we will not experience an adverse effect, which may be
material, on our ability to access capital and on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

®  Our allowance for loan losses may prove to be insufficient to absorb probable losses in our loan portfolio.

Lending money is a substantial part of our business. Every loan carries a degree of risk that it will not be repaid in
accordance with its terms or that any underlying collateral will not be sufficient to assure repayment. This risk is affected
by, among other things:

@ cash flow of the borrower and/or a business activity being financed;

@ in the case of a collateralized loan, changes in and uncertainties regarding future values of collateral;

o the credit history of a particular borrower;

® changes in economic and industry conditions; and

@ the duration of the loan.

We use underwriting procedures and criteria that we believe minimize the risk of loan delinquencies and losses, but
banks routinely incur losses in their loan portfolios. Regardless of the underwriting criteria we use, we will experience loan
losses from time to time in the ordinary course of our business, and many of those losses will result from factors beyond
our control. These factors include, among other things, changes in market, economic, business or personal conditions, or

other events (including changes in market interest rates), that affect our borrowers’ abilities to repay their loans and the
value of properties that collateralize loans.

As a result of recent difficulties in the national economy and housing market, declining real estate values, rising
unemployment, and loss of consumer confidence, we and most other financial institutions have experienced increasing
levels of non-performing loans, foreclosures and loan losses. We maintain an allowance for loan losses which we believe is
appropriate to provide for potential losses in our loan portfolio. The amount of our allowance is determined by our
management through a periodic review and consideration of internal and external factors that affect loan collectibility,
including, but not limited to:

@ an ongoing review of the quality, size and diversity of the loan portfolio;

@ evaluation of non-performing loans;

@ historical default and loss experience;

® historical recovery experience;

® existing economic conditions;

@ risk characteristics of various classifications of loans; and

@ the amount and quality of collateral, including guarantees, securing the loans.

However, if delinquency levels continue to increase or we continue to incur higher than expected loan losses in the

future, there is no assurance that our allowance will be adequate to cover resulting losses or that we will not have to make
significant provisions to our allowance.
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® A large percentage of our loans are secured by real estate. Adverse conditions in the real estate market in
our banking markets have adversely affected our loan portfolio.

While we do not have a sub-prime lending program, a relatively large percentage of our loans are secured by real
estate. Our management believes that, in the case of many of those loans, the real estate collateral is not being relied upon
as the primary source of repayment, and the level of our real estate loans reflects, at least in part, our policy to take real
estate whenever possible as primary or additional collateral rather than other types of collateral. However, adverse
conditions in the real estate market and the economy in general have decreased real estate values in our banking markets.
If the value of our collateral for a loan falls below the outstanding balance of that loan, our ability to collect the balance of
the loan by selling the underlying real estate in the event of a default will be diminished, and we would be more likely to
suffer a loss on the loan. An increase in our loan losses could have a material adverse effect on our operating results and
financial condition.

The FDIC recently adopted rules aimed at placing additional monitoring and management controls on financial
institutions whose loan portfolios are deemed to have concentrations in commercial real estate (“CRE”). At December 31,
2009, our loan portfolio exceeded thresholds established by the FDIC for CRE concentrations and for additional
regulatory scrutiny. Indications from regulators are that strict limitations on the amount or percentage of CRE within any
given portfolio are not expected, but, rather, that additional reporting and analysis will be required to document
management’s evaluation of the potential additional risks of such concentrations and the impact of any mitigating factors.
It is possible that regulatory constraints associated with these rules could adversely affect our ability to grow loan assets
and thereby limit our overall growth and expansion plans. These rules also could increase the costs of monitoring and
managing this component of our loan portfolio. Either of these eventualities could have an adverse impact on our
operating results and financial condition.

® Liquidity risk could impair our ability to fund operations and jeopardize our financial condition.

Liquidity is essential to our business. An inability to raise funds through deposits, borrowings, the sale of loans and
other sources could have a substantial negative effect on our liquidity. Our access to funding sources in amounts adequate
to finance our activities, or on terms which are acceptable to us, could be impaired by factors that affect us specifically or
the financial services industry or economy in general. Factors that could detrimentally affect our access to liquidity
sources include a decrease in the level of our business activity as a result of a downturn in the markets in which our loans
are concentrated or adverse regulatory action against us. Our ability to borrow could also be impaired by factors that are
not specific to us, such as the current disruption in the financial markets or negative views and expectations about the
prospects for the financial services industry in light of the recent turmoil faced by banking organizations and the continued
deterioration in credit markets.

Among other sources of funds, we rely heavily on deposits, including out-of-market certificates of deposit, for funds
to make loans and provide for our other liquidity needs. Those out-of-market deposits may not be as stable as other types
of deposits and, in the future, depositors may not renew those time deposits when they mature, or we may have to pay a
higher rate of interest to attract or keep them or to replace them with other deposits or with funds from other sources.
Not being able to attract those deposits, or to keep or replace them as they mature, would adversely affect our liquidity.
Paying higher deposit rates to attract, keep or replace those deposits could have a negative effect on our interest margin
and operating results.

®  We may need to raise additional capital in the future in order to continue to grow, but that capital may not
be available when it is needed.

Federal and state banking regulators require us to maintain adequate levels of capital to support our operations. In
addition, in the future we may need to raise additional capital to support our business or to finance acquisitions, if any, or
we may otherwise elect or be required to raise additional capital. In that regard, recently a number of financial institutions
have sought to raise considerable amounts of additional capital in response to a deterioration in their results of operations
and financial condition arising from increases in their non-performing loans and loan losses, deteriorating economic
conditions, declines in real estate values and other factors. On December 31, 2009, our three capital ratios were above
“well capitalized” levels under bank regulatory guidelines. However, growth in our earning assets resulting from internal
expansion and new branch offices, at rates in excess of the rate at which our capital is increased through retained earnings,
will reduce our capital ratios unless we continue to increase our capital. Also, future unexpected losses, whether resulting
from loan losses or other causes, would reduce our capital.
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Should we need, or be required by regulatory authorities, to raise additional capital, we may seek to do so through the
issuance of, among other things, our common stock or preferred stock. However, our ability to raise that additional capital
will depend on conditions at that time in the capital markets, economic conditions, our financial performance and
condition, and other factors, many of which are outside our control. There is no assurance that, if needed, we will be able
to raise additional capital on terms favorable to us or at all. Our inability to raise additional capital, if needed, on terms
acceptable to us, may have a material adverse effect on our ability to expand our operations, and on our financial
condition, results of operations and future prospects.

® If we are unable to redeem our Series A Preferred Stock after five years, the cost of this capital to us will
increase substantially.

If we are unable to redeem the Series A Preferred Stock we have sold to Treasury prior to January 16, 2014, the cost
of this capital to us will increase from 5.0% per annum (approximately $897,450 annually) to 9.0% per annum
(approximately $1,615,410 annually). Depending on our financial condition at the time, this increase in the annual
dividend rate on the Series A Preferred Stock could have a material negative effect on our liquidity and on our net income
available to holders of our common stock.

®  Our profitability is subject to interest rate risk. Changes in interest rates could have an adverse effect on
our operating results.

Our profitability depends, to a large extent, on our net interest income, which is the difference between our income
on interest-earning assets and our expense on interest-bearing deposits and other liabilities. In other words, to be
profitable, we have to earn more interest on our loans and investments than we pay on our deposits and borrowings. Like
most financial institutions, we are affected by changes in general interest rate levels and by other economic factors beyond
our control. Interest rate risk arises in part from the mismatch (i.e., the interest sensitivity “gap”) between the dollar
amounts of repricing or maturing interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities, and is measured in terms of the
ratio of the interest rate sensitivity gap to total assets. When more interest-earning assets than interest-bearing liabilities
will reprice or mature over a given time period, a bank is considered asset-sensitive and has a positive gap. When more
liabilities than assets will reprice or mature over a given time period, a bank is considered liability-sensitive and has a
negative gap. A liability-sensitive position (i.e., a negative gap) may generally enhance net interest income in a falling
interest rate environment and reduce net interest income in a rising interest rate environment. An asset-sensitive position
(i.e., a positive gap) may generally enhance net interest income in a rising interest rate environment and reduce net
interest income in a falling interest rate environment. Our ability to manage our gap position determines to a great extent
our ability to operate profitably. However, fluctuations in interest rates are not predictable or controllable, and recent
economic and financial market conditions have made it extremely difficult to manage our gap position. Our profitability
and results of operations will be adversely affected if we do not successfully manage our interest sensitivity gap.

On December 31, 2009, we had a negative one-year cumulative interest sensitivity gap, which means that, during a
one-year period, our interest-bearing liabilities generally would be expected to reprice at a faster rate than our interest-
earning assets. A rising rate environment within that one-year period generally would have a negative effect on our
earnings, while a falling rate environment generally would have a positive effect on our earnings.

® Our long-range business strategy includes the continuation of our growth plans, and our financial
condition and operating results could be negatively affected if we fail to grow or fail to manage our growth
effectively.

Subject to market conditions and the economy, we intend to continue to grow in our existing banking markets
(internally and through additional offices) and to expand into new markets as appropriate opportunities arise. We have
opened nine de novo branch offices since 2000. Consistent with our business strategy, and to sustain our growth, in the
future we may establish other de novo branches or acquire other financial institutions or their branch offices.

There are considerable costs involved in opening branches, and new branches generally do not generate sufficient
revenues to offset their costs until they have been in operation for some period of time. Any new branches we open can be
expected to negatively affect our operating results until those branches reach a size at which they become profitable. In
establishing new branches in new markets, we compete against other banks with greater knowledge of those local markets

18



and may need to hire and rely on local managers who have local affiliations and to whom we may need to give significant
autonomy. If we grow but fail to manage our growth effectively, there could be material adverse effects on our business,
future prospects, financial condition or operating results, and we may not be able to successfully implement our business
strategy. On the other hand, our operating results also could be materially affected in an adverse way if our growth occurs
more slowly than anticipated, or declines.

Although we believe we have management resources and internal systems in place to successfully manage our future
growth, we cannot assure you that we will be able to expand our market presence in our existing markets or successfully
enter new markets, or that expansion will not adversely affect our operating results.

®  Our business depends on the condition of the local and regional economies where we operate.

We currently have offices only in eastern North Carolina. Consistent with our community banking philosophy, a
majority of our customers are located in and do business in that region, and we lend a substantial portion of our capital
and deposits to commercial and consumer borrowers in our local banking markets. Therefore, our local and regional
economy has a direct impact on our ability to generate deposits to support loan growth, the demand for loans, the ability
of borrowers to repay loans, the value of collateral securing our loans (particularly loans secured by real estate), and our
ability to collect, liquidate and restructure problem loans. The local economies of the coastal communities in our banking
markets are heavily dependent on the tourism industry. If our local communities are adversely affected by current
conditions in the national economy or by other specific events or trends, including a significant decline in the tourism
industry in our coastal communities, there could be a direct adverse effect on our operating results. Adverse economic
conditions in our banking markets could reduce our growth rate, affect the ability of our customers to repay their loans to
us, and generally affect our financial condition and operating results. We are less able than larger institutions to spread
risks of unfavorable local economic conditions across a large number of diversified economies.

The economy of North Carolina’s coastal region can be affected by adverse weather events, particularly hurricanes.
Our banking markets lie primarily in coastal communities, and we cannot predict whether or to what extent damage
caused by future hurricanes will affect our operations, our customers or the economies in our banking markets. However,
weather events could cause a decline in loan originations, destruction or decline in the value of properties securing our
loans, or an increase in the risks of delinquencies, foreclosures and loan losses.

® New or changes in existing tax, accounting, and regulatory rules and interpretations could have an adverse
effect on our strategic initiatives, results of operations, cash flows, and financial condition.

We operate in a highly regulated industry and are subject to examination, supervision and comprehensive regulation
by various federal and state agencies. Federal and state banking regulations are designed primarily to protect the deposit
insurance funds and consumers, not to benefit a financial company’s shareholders. These regulations may sometimes
impose significant limitations on our operations, and our compliance with regulations is costly and restricts certain of our
activities, including payment of dividends, mergers and acquisitions, investments, loans and interest rates charged, interest
rates paid on deposits, and locations of offices.

The significant federal and state banking regulations that affect us are described under “Item 1. Business—
Supervision and Regulation.” These regulations, along with the currently existing tax, accounting, securities, insurance,
and monetary laws, regulations, rules, standards, policies, and interpretations, control the methods by which financial
institutions conduct business, implement strategic initiatives and tax compliance, and govern financial reporting and
disclosures. The laws, regulations, rules, standards, policies, and interpretations are constantly evolving and may change
significantly over time. As a result of recent turmoil in the financial services industry, it is likely that there will be an
increase in the regulation of all financial institutions. We cannot predict the effects of future changes on our business and
profitability.

®  Significant legal actions could subject us to substantial liabilities.

We are from time to time subject to claims related to our operations. These claims and legal actions, including
supervisory actions by our regulators, could involve large monetary claims and significant defense costs. As a result, we
may be exposed to substantial liabilities, which could adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.
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Among the laws that apply to us, the USA Patriot and Bank Secrecy Acts require financial institutions to develop
programs to prevent financial institutions from being used for money laundering and terrorist activities. If such activities
are detected, financial institutions are obligated to file suspicious activity reports with the Treasury’s Office of Financial
Crimes Enforcement Network. These rules require financial institutions to establish procedures for identifying and
verifying the identity of customers seeking to open new financial accounts. Failure to comply with these regulations could
result in fines or sanctions. Several banking institutions have recently received large fines for non-compliance with these
laws and regulations. Although we have developed policies and procedures designed to assist in compliance with these
laws and regulations, no assurance can be given that these policies and procedures will be effective in preventing
violations of these laws and regulations.

® Competition from financial institutions and other financial service providers may adversely affect our
profitability.

Our future growth and success will depend on, among other things, our ability to compete effectively with other
financial services providers in our banking markets. To date, we have grown our business by focusing on our lines of
business and emphasizing the high level of service and responsiveness desired by our customers. However, commercial
banking in our banking markets and in North Carolina as a whole is extremely competitive. We compete against
commercial banks, credit unions, savings and loan associations, mortgage banking firms, consumer finance companies,
securities brokerage firms, insurance companies, money market funds and other mutual funds, as well as other local and
community, super-regional, national and international financial institutions that operate offices in our market areas and
elsewhere. We compete with these institutions in attracting deposits and in making loans, and we have to attract our
customer base from other existing financial institutions and from new residents. Our larger competitors have greater
resources, broader geographic markets and name recognition, and higher lending limits than we do, and they can offer
more products and services and better afford and more effectively use media advertising, support services and electronic
technology than we can. Also, larger competitors may be able to price loans and deposits more aggressively than we do.
While we believe we compete effectively with other financial institutions, we may face a competitive disadvantage as a
result of our size, lack of geographic diversification and inability to spread marketing costs across a broader market.
Although we compete by concentrating our marketing efforts in our primary markets with local advertisements, personal
contacts and greater flexibility and responsiveness in working with local customers, we cannot assure you that we will
continue to be an effective competitor in our banking markets.

®  We rely on dividends from the Bank for substantially all of our revenue.

We receive substantially all of our revenue as dividends from the Bank. As described under “Item 1. Business—
Supervision and Regulation, federal and state regulations limit the amount of dividends that the Bank may pay to us. If the
Bank becomes unable to pay dividends to us, then we may not be able to service our debt, pay our other obligations or pay
dividends on our common stock and the Series A Preferred Stock we have sold to Treasury. Accordingly, our inability to
receive dividends from the Bank could also have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results
of operations and the value of your investment in our common stock.

®  We depend on the services of our current management team.

Our operating results and ability to adequately manage our growth and minimize loan losses are highly dependent on
the services, managerial abilities and performance of our executive officers. Smaller banks, like us, sometimes find it more
difficult to attract and retain experienced management personnel than larger banks. We currently have an experienced
management team that our Board of Directors believes is capable of managing and growing the Bank. However, changes
in or losses of key personnel of any company could disrupt that company’s business and could have an adverse effect on its
business and operating results.
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Risks Relating to Our Common Stock

®  The price of our common stock may fluctuate significantly, and this may make it difficult for you to resell
our common stock when you want or at prices you find attractive.

We cannot predict how or at what prices our common stock will trade in the future. The market value of our common
stock will likely continue to fluctuate in response to a number of factors including the following, most of which are beyond
our control, as well as the other factors described in this “Risk Factors” section:

® actual or anticipated quarterly fluctuations in our operating and financial results;
® changes in financial estimates and recommendations by financial analysts;

® actions of our current shareholders, including sales of common stock by existing shareholders and our directors and
executive officers;

@ fluctuations in the stock price and operating results of our competitors;
® regulatory developments; and

® developments related to the financial services industry.

The market value of and trading in our common stock also is affected by conditions (including price and trading
fluctuations) affecting the financial markets in general, and in the market for the stocks of financial services companies in
particular. These conditions may result in volatility in the market prices of stocks generally and, in turn, our common
stock. Also, market conditions may result in sales of substantial amounts of our common stock in the market. In each case,
market conditions could affect the market price of our stock in a way that is unrelated or disproportionate to changes in
our operating performance.

®  The trading volume in our common stock has been low, and the sale of a substantial number of shares in
the public market could depress the price of our stock and make it difficult for you to sell your shares.

Our common stock is listed on the NASDAQ Global Market, but it has a relatively low average daily trading volume
relative to many other stocks. Thinly traded stock can be more volatile than stock trading in an active public market, which
can lead to significant price swings even when a relatively small number of shares are being traded and limit an investor’s
ability to quickly sell blocks of stock. We cannot predict what effect future sales of our common stock in the market, or the
availability of shares of our common stock for sale in the market, will have on the market price of our common stock.

Of the shares of our common stock beneficially owned by our directors and executive officers, in excess of 10% of our
outstanding shares are held by an estate. We cannot predict the timing or amount of sales, if any, of those shares in the
public markets or the effects any such sales may have on the trading price of our common stock.

®  Our management beneficially owns a substantial percentage of our common stock, so our directors and
executive officers can significantly affect voting results on matters voted on by our shareholders.

Our current directors and executive officers, as a group, beneficially own a significant percentage of our outstanding
common stock, much of which is held by an estate of which one of our directors serves as a co-executor. Because of their
voting rights, in matters put to a vote of our shareholders it could be difficult for any group of our other shareholders to
defeat a proposal favored by our management (including the election of one or more of our directors) or to approve a
proposal opposed by management.

®  The securities purchase agreement between us and Treasury limits our ability to pay dividends on and
repurchase our common stock.

The securities purchase agreement between us and Treasury provides that prior to the earlier of January 16, 2012,
and the date on which all of the shares of Series A Preferred Stock held by Treasury have been redeemed by us or
transferred by Treasury to third parties, we may not, without the consent of Treasury:

® increase the cash dividend on our common stock; or

® subject to limited exceptions, redeem, repurchase or otherwise acquire shares of our common stock or preferred
stock (other than the Series A Preferred Stock) or trust preferred securities.
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In addition, we are unable to pay any dividends on our common stock unless we are current in our dividend payments
on the Series A Preferred Stock. These restrictions, together with the potentially dilutive impact of the warrant described
in the next risk factor, could have a negative effect on the value of our common stock. Moreover, holders of our common
stock are entitled to receive dividends only when, as and if declared by our Board of Directors. Although we have
historically paid cash dividends on our common stock, we are not required to do so and our Board of Directors could
reduce or eliminate our common stock dividend in the future.

®  Our outstanding Series A Preferred Stock affects net income available to our common shareholders and
earnings per common share, and the warrant we issued to Treasury may be dilutive to holders of our
common stock.

The dividends declared on our Series A Preferred Stock will reduce the net income available to common
shareholders and our earnings per common share. The Series A Preferred Stock will also receive preferential treatment in
the event of liquidation, dissolution or winding up of our company. Additionally, the ownership interest of the existing
holders of our common stock will be diluted to the extent the warrant we issued to Treasury in conjunction with the sale to
Treasury of Series A Preferred Stock is exercised. The shares of common stock underlying the warrant represent
approximately 4.84% of the shares of our common stock outstanding as of March 6, 2010 (including the shares issuable
upon exercise of the warrant). Although Treasury has agreed not to vote any of the shares of common stock it receives
upon exercise of the warrant, a transferee of any portion of the warrant or of any shares of common stock acquired upon
exercise of the warrant is not bound by this restriction.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

Not applicable.

22



Item 2. Properties

Our offices are located in the Bank’s corporate offices in Engelhard, North Carolina, and we do not own or lease any
separate properties. The Bank maintains 24 branch offices, 21 of which are owned by the Bank, and three of which are
leased from unaffiliated third parties. The following table contains information about our branch offices.

Opening date of Date current
original banking facility built
M office Owned/Leased or purchased (1)
35050 Hwy 264
Engelhard, NC ......... ... .o January 1920 Owned 2004
80 Main and Pearl St.
Swan Quarter, NC .. ... ...t March 1935 Ovwned (2) 1975
204 Scuppernong Dr.
Columbia, NC ... . i December 1936 Owned (2) 1975
7th St. & Hwy. 64
Creswel L NC . ... ... January 1963 Owned 1963
205 Virginia Dare Rd.
Manteo, NC .. ...t e June 1969 Owned 1999
2721 S Croatan Hwy.
NagsHead, NC ...... ... ... i, April 1971 Owned (2) 1974
State Hwy. 12
Hatteras, NC ...ttt it it April 1973 Owned (2) 1980
6839 N.C. Hwy. 94
Fairfield, NC ... .. .. e June 1973 Owned (2) 1973
Hwy. 12
Ocracoke, NC .. ..ottt May 1978 Owned 1978
Hwy. 158 & Juniper Tr.
Kitty Hawk, NC ... May 1984 Owned (3) 2006
1001 Red Banks Rd.
Greenville, NC . ... it e August 1989 Owned 1990
2400 Stantonsburg Rd.
Greenville, NC .. ... .. . . . e June 1995 Owned 1995
NC Hwy. 12
AVON, NC .o e June 1997 Leased (4) —
2878 Caratoke Hwy.
Currituck, NC ... e e January 1998 Owned 2001
1418 Carolina Ave.
Washington, NC . ....... ... i May 1999 Leased (4) —
1801 S Glenburnie Rd.
NewBern, NC . ..ottt August 2000 Owned 1996
1103 Harvey Point Road
Hertford, NC .. ..ot e e e October 2000 Owned (5) 2006
403 East Blvd.
Williamston, NC ...ttt May 2003 Owned 2003
168 Hwy. 24
Morehead City, NC . ...t January 2004 Owned 2004



Wilmington, NC ...

Office location
1724 Eastwood Rd.
100 Causeway Drive Unit 4

OceanIsle Beach, NC ....... ... .0,

1221 Portertown Rd.

Greenville, NC .. .. . i e e

3810 S. Memorial Dr.

Winterville, NC ... ..

1101 New Pointe Blvd.

Leland, NC ... oo e e e e

(1) Includes only facilities owned by the Bank.

enin, datq of

Date current

O e O med/Leased orf;'ii:l; fooe W
June 2004 Owned 2004
May 2007 Leased (4) —

July 2007 Owned 2007
July 2007 Owned 2007
July 2008 Owned 2008

(2) Leased from the Bank’s subsidiary, ECB Realty, Inc. until February 2, 2007. ECB Realty, Inc. was merged into the Bank on that date and the Bank

acquired title to the property.

(3) Constructed by the Bank and first occupied during February 2006 to replace a facility previously leased from ECB Realty, Inc.

(4) Leased from a third party.

(5) Constructed by the Bank and first occupied during January 2006 to replace a facility previously leased from a third party.

The Bank owns a vacant property in each of Jacksonville, Wilmington, Ocean Isle, New Bern and Grandy, North

Carolina, as sites for possible future branch offices.

All the Bank’s existing branch offices are in good condition and fully equipped for the Bank’s purposes. At
December 31, 2009, our consolidated investment in premises and banking equipment (cost less accumulated

depreciation) was approximately $25.3 million.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

From time to time we may become involved in legal proceedings in the ordinary course of our business. However,
subject to the uncertainties inherent in any litigation, we believe that, at December 31, 2009 there was no pending or
threatened proceedings that are likely to result in a material adverse change in our financial condition or operating results.

(Removed and Reserved)
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity; Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities

Our common stock is listed on The NASDAQ Global Market under the trading symbol “ECBE.” The following table
lists the high and low sales prices for our common stock as reported by The Nasdaq Stock Market, and cash dividends
declared on our common stock, for the periods indicated.

w Cash Dividend
Quarter High Low  Declared Per Share
2009 Fourth ... . $17.21 $11.11 $0.1825
Third ..o 19.89 15.56 0.1825
Second . ... 21.18 15.30 0.1825
Farst .o 17.75  13.52 0.1825
2008 Fourth ... ...\ $23.50 $14.30 $0.1825
Third ... 25.01 20.29 0.1825
SECOnd ..ot 2749  23.00 0.1825
Farst Lo 27.00 22.00 0.1825

On March 6, 2010, there were approximately 656 record holders of our common stock. We believe the number of
beneficial owners of our common stock is greater than the number of record holders because a large amount of our
common stock is held of record through brokerage firms in “street name.”

Under North Carolina law, we are authorized to pay dividends as declared by our Board of Directors, provided that
no such distribution results in our insolvency on a going concern or balance sheet basis. We have paid cash dividends since
we were incorporated during 1998, and we intend to continue to pay dividends on a quarterly basis. However, although we
are a legal entity separate and distinct from the Bank, our principal source of funds with which we can pay dividends to
our shareholders is dividends we receive from the Bank. For that reason, our ability to pay dividends effectively is subject
to the limitations that apply to the Bank.

In general, the Bank may pay dividends only from its undivided profits. However, if its surplus is less than 50% of its
paid-in capital stock, the Bank’s directors may not declare any cash dividend until it has transferred to surplus 25% of its
undivided profits or any lesser percentage necessary to raise its surplus to an amount equal to 50% of its paid-in capital
stock. The Bank’s ability to pay dividends to us is subject to other regulatory restrictions. (See “Supervision and
Regulation—Dividends” under Item 1. Business.)

Our sale of Series A Preferred Stock to the U.S. Treasury during January 2009 under the TARP Capital Purchase
Program resulted in additional restrictions on our ability to pay dividends on our common stock and to repurchase shares
of our common stock. Unless all accrued dividends on the Series A Preferred Stock have been paid in full, (1) no
dividends may be declared or paid on our common stock, and (2) we may not repurchase any of our outstanding common
stock. Additionally, until January 16, 2012, we are required to obtain the consent of the U.S. Treasury in order to declare
or pay any dividend or make any distribution on our common stock other than regular quarterly cash dividends of not
more than $0.1825 per share, or, subject to certain exceptions, repurchase shares of our common stock unless we have
redeemed all of the Series A Preferred Stock or the U.S. Treasury has transferred all of those shares to third parties.

In the future, in addition to the restrictions discussed above, our ability to declare and pay cash dividends on our
common stock will be subject to evaluation by our Board of Directors of our and the Bank’s operating results, capital
levels, financial condition, future growth plans, general business and economic conditions, and other relevant
considerations. We cannot assure you that we will continue to pay cash dividends on any particular schedule or that we
will not reduce the amount of dividends we pay in the future.
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The following information is being furnished for purposes of Rule 14a-3. It is not deemed to be filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission or to be incorporated by reference into any filing under
the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, except to the extent
that we specifically incorporate it by reference into such a filing.

The following graph compares the cumulative total shareholder return (CTSR) on our common stock during the
previous five years with the CTSR over the same measurement period of the Nasdaq Composite index and the SNL Bank
NASDAQ index. Each trend line assumes that $100 was invested on December 31, 2004, and that dividends were

reinvested for additional shares.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following table contains summary historical consolidated financial information from our consolidated financial
statements. You should read it in conjunction with our audited year end consolidated financial statements, including the
related notes, and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” which are
included elsewhere in this report.

At or for the Year Ended December 31,
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

Income Statement Data:

Netinterest INCOME . . .. oot ittt e e $ 26,748 $ 20273 $ 20357 $ 20520 $ 18,952
Provision forloanlosses . ......... ... ... i 11,100 2,450 (99) 351 757
Non-interest inCOME ... ..o vr ittt 8,649 6,809 6,377 6,360 6,225
Non-interest expense .................ooiiiiiiinnaa. .. 23,152 20,633 20,344 18,5637 17,465
Provision forincome taxes . ............ .. ..o, (357) 580 1,677 2,410 2,102
NetinCome . ... vvin ettt it 1,502 3,419 4,812 5,582 4,853
Preferred stock dividend & accretion of discount ........... 1,003 — - - —_—
Net income available to common shareholders ............. 499 3,419 4,812 5,582 4,853
Per Share Data and Shares Outstanding:
Basicnetincome® .. .. ... . . $ 018 $ 1.19 $ 1.65 $ 207 $ 2.41
Diluted netincome™ .. ... .. .. ... . .. 0.18 1.18 1.65 2.05 2.37
Cash dividends declared ............... ... . ... ... .. 0.73 0.73 0.70 0.68 0.64
Bookvalue at periodend ........... ... .. .. oL 23.62 23.89 22.88 21.64 16.94
Weighted-average number of common shares outstanding;
BasiC . 2844950 2,884,396 2,908,371 2,700,663 2,014,879
Diluted . ... 2,845,966 2,889,016 2,914,352 2,724,717 2,046,129
Shares outstanding at periodend .......... ... ... ... ... 2,847,881 2844489 2,920,769 2,902,242 2,040,042
Balance Sheet Data:
Total ASSetS . ..o vttt $ 888,720 $ 841,851 $ 643,889 $ 624,070 $ 547,686
Loansreceivable ............ ... ... . iiiiiiii.. 577,791 538,836 454,198 417,943 386,786
Allowance forloanlosses ............................... 9,725 5,931 4,083 4,725 4,650
Other interest-earning assets . . .......................... 253,183 244 470 133,970 151,555 107,583
Total deposits ... 754,730 629,152 526,361 512,249 465,208
BOITOWINGS . ...t tea 43,910 83,716 43,174 41,415 41,908
Shareholders’ equity ......... ..ot 84,375 67,943 66,841 62,793 34,565
Selected Performance Ratios:
Return on average assets ............................... 0.17% 0.47% 0.77% 0.96% 0.93%
Return on average shareholders’ equity ................... 1.74 5.14 7.48 10.13 14.56
Netinterestmargin® . .......... ... .. ... ... ... ... 3.41 3.12 3.72 4.01 416
Efficiency ratio® ....... ... . .. i 63.48 73.91 73.44 67.06 67.30
Asset Quality Ratios:
Nonperforming loans to period-end loans ................. 2.54% 1.85% 0.10% 0.04% 0.02%
Allowance for loan losses to period-end loans .............. 1.68 1.10 0.90 1.13 1.20
Allowance for loan losses to nonperforming loans ........... 66.17 59.42 876.92 2,567.93 7,153.85
Nonperforming assets to total assets® .................... 2.27 1.63 0.08 0.07 0.01
Net loan charge-offs to average loans outstanding .. ......... 1.30 0.12 0.13 0.01 0.08
Capital Ratios:
Equity-to-assets ratio® ... . ... ... . oo 9.49% 8.07% 10.38% 10.06% 6.31%
Leverage capital ratio® . ..... .. ... ... .. ... ... 9.59 8.65 10.66 12.05 8.43
Tier 1 capital ratio® .. .......... .. ... ... oL 12.77 10.83 12.94 15.08 10.32
Total Capital ratio® L 14.02 11.80 13.72 16.04 11.36

(1) Per share amounts are computed based on the weighted-average number of shares outstanding during each period.

(2) Net interest margin is net interest income divided by average interest earning assets, net of allowance for loan losses.

(3) Efficiency ratio is non-interest expense divided by the sum of net interest income and non-interest income, both as calculated on a fully taxable-
equivalent basis.

(4) Nonperforming assets consist of the aggregate amount of any non-accruing loans, loans past due greater than 90 days and still accruing interest,
restructured loans, repossessions and foreclosed assets on each date.

(5) Equity-to-assets ratios are computed based on total shareholders’” equity and total assets at each period end.

(6) These ratios are described in Item 1 under the captions “Supervision and Regulation—Capital Adequacy” and “—Prompt Corrective Action.”
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

This section presents management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations. You
should read the discussion in conjunction with our financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this report.
This discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ
significantly from those described in these forward-looking statements as a result of various factors. This discussion is
intended to assist in understanding our financial condition and results of operations.

Executive Summary

ECB Bancorp, Inc. is a bank holding company headquartered in Engelhard, North Carolina. Our wholly-owned
subsidiary, The East Carolina Bank (the “Bank”), is a state-chartered community bank that was founded in 1919. For the
purpose of this discussion, “we,” “us” and “our” refers to the Bank and the bank holding company as a single, consolidated
entity unless the context otherwise indicates.

Our consolidated assets increased 5.6% to $888.7 million on December 31, 2009, from $841.9 million at year-end
2008. Our loan portfolio increased 7.2% to $577.8 million at December 31, 2009, from loans of $538.8 million at year-end
2008 while deposits increased 19.9% to $754.7 million at year-end 2009 from $629.2 million at year-end 2008. Total
shareholders” equity was approximately $84.4 million at year-end 2009.

In 2009, our income available to common shareholders was $499 thousand or $0.18 basic and $0.18 diluted earnings
per share, compared to income available to common shareholders of $3.4 million or $1.19 basic and $1.18 diluted earnings
per share for the year ended December 31, 2008. The 2009 income available to common shareholders represents a
decrease of $2.9 million over reported 2008 income available to common shareholders mainly due to an increase in
provision for loan loss expense.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our significant accounting policies are set forth in Note 1 to our audited consolidated financial statements included
in Ttem 8 of this report. Of these significant accounting policies, we consider our policy regarding the allowance for loan
losses to be our most critical accounting policy, because it requires management’s most subjective and complex
judgments. In addition, changes in economic conditions can have a significant impact on the allowance for loan losses and,
therefore, the provision for loan losses and results of operations. We have developed policies and procedures for assessing
the adequacy of the allowance for loan losses, recognizing that this process requires a number of assumptions and
estimates with respect to our loan portfolio. Our assessments may be impacted in future periods by changes in economic
conditions, the results of regulatory examinations, and the discovery of information with respect to borrowers that is not
currently known to management. For additional discussion concerning our allowance for loan losses and related matters,
see “—Allowance for Loan Losses” and “—Nonperforming Assets and Past Due Loans.”

We also consider our determination of retirement plans and other postretirement benefit plans to be a critical
accounting estimate as it requires the use of estimates and judgments related to the amount and timing of expected future
cash out-flows for benefit payments and cash in-flows for maturities and return on plan assets. Our retirement plans and
other postretirement benefit plans are actuarially determined based on assumptions on the discount rate, estimated future
return on plan assets and the health care cost trend rate. Changes in estimates and assumptions related to mortality rates
and future health care costs could have a material impact to our financial condition or results of operations. The discount
rate is used to determine the present value of future benefit obligations and the net periodic benefit cost. The discount
rate used to value the future benefit obligation as of each year-end is the rate used to determine the periodic benefit cost
in the following year. For additional discussion concerning our retirement plans and other postretirement benefits refer to
Note 8 of our consolidated financial statements.

Results of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007

In 2009, our income available to common shareholders was $499 thousand or $0.18 basic and $0.18 diluted earnings
per share, compared to income available to common shareholders of $3.4 million or $1.19 basic and $1.18 diluted earnings
per share for the year ended December 31, 2008. The decrease in earnings is primarily due to an increase in provision for
loan loss expense.
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The following table shows return on assets (net income divided by average assets), return on equity (net income
divided by average shareholders” equity), dividend payout ratio (dividends declared per share divided by net income per
share) and shareholders’ equity to assets ratio (average shareholders” equity divided by average total assets) for each of the
years presented.

Year Ended December 31,

2009 2008 2007
ReEtUIm OI ASS0tS . . oot e 017% 047% 0.77%
Return on eqUity ... ...t 1.74 5.14 7.48
Dividend payout .. ....... .. 40556 61.34 4242
Shareholders” equity to assets . ... ... 998 913 1034

Our core strategies continue to be: (1) grow the loan portfolio while maintaining high asset quality; (2) grow core
deposits; (3) increase non-interest income; (4) control expenses; and (5) make strategic investments in new and existing
communities that will result in increased shareholder value. We continued to make strategic investments in our future as
we began construction on one branch that is scheduled to open in 2010.

Net Interest Income

Net interest income (the difference between the interest earned on assets, such as loans and investment securities
and the interest paid on liabilities, such as deposits and other borrowings) is our primary source of operating income. The
level of net interest income is determined primarily by the average balances (volume) of interest-earning assets and our
interest-bearing liabilities and the various rate spreads between our interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities.
Changes in net interest income from period to period result from increases or decreases in the volume of interest-earning
assets and interest-bearing liabilities, increases or decreases in the average interest rates earned and paid on such assets
and liabilities, the ability to manage the interest-earning asset portfolio, and the availability of particular sources of funds,
such as non-interest-bearing deposits.

The banking industry uses two key ratios to measure profitability of net interest income: net interest rate spread and
net interest margin. The net interest rate spread measures the difference between the average yield on earning assets and
the average rate paid on interest-bearing liabilities. The net interest rate spread does not consider the impact of
non-interest-bearing deposits and gives a direct perspective on the effect of market interest rate movements. The net
interest margin is defined as net interest income as a percentage of total average earning assets and takes into account the
positive effects of investing non-interest-bearing deposits in earning assets.

Our net interest income for the year ended December 31, 2009 was $26.7 million, an increase of $6.4 or 31.5% when
compared to net interest income of $20.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. Our net interest margin, on a
tax-equivalent basis, for 2009 was 3.41% compared to 3.12% for 2008. The increase in our net interest margin is mainly
the result of decreased rates paid on our interest bearing liabilities. Our net interest rate spread, on a tax-equivalent basis,
for 2009 was 3.09% compared to 2.60% for 2008. The spread increased by forty-nine basis points as the decrease in the
rates paid on interest-bearing liabilities was forty-nine basis points more than the change in yields earned on interest-
earning assets for the year. '

Total interest income increased $1.8 million or 4.6% to $40.9 million in 2009 compared to $39.1 million in interest
income in 2008. Increases in our average earning assets of $135.4 million in 2009 when compared to 2008 resulted in
$7.0 million increase in interest income from 2008 to 2009 but this was partially offset by a decrease in interest income of
$5.2 million from a decline in yields. We funded the increases in interest-earning assets primarily with certificates of
deposit. The tax equivalent yield on average earning assets decreased 77 basis points during 2009.

The effect of variances in volume and rate on interest income and interest expense is illustrated in the table titled
“Change in Interest Income and Expense on Tax Equivalent Basis.” We attribute the decrease in the yield on our earning
assets to the drop in short-term market interest rates. During 2008, the Federal Open Market Committee (“FOMC”)
decreased short-term rates 325 to 350 basis points from 3.50% to a range of 0.00% to 0.25%. Approximately $346.4
million or 60.0% of our loan portfolio consists of variable rate loans that adjust with the movement of the prime rate. As a
result, composite yield on our loans decreased approximately 72 basis points for the year ended December 31, 2009
compared to December 31, 2008. ~
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Similarly, our average cost of funds for 2009 was 2.07%, a decrease of 126 basis points when compared to 3.33% for
2008. The average cost on Bank certificates of deposit decreased 155 basis points from 4.09% paid in 2008 to 2.54% paid
in 2009, while our average cost of borrowed funds decreased 173 basis points during 2009 compared to 2008.

Total interest expense decreased $4.6 million or 24.5% to $14.2 million in 2009 from $18.8 million in 2008, primarily
the result of decreased market rates paid on Bank certificates of deposit. The volume of average interest-bearing liabilities
increased approximately $117.8 million when comparing 2009 with that of 2008. The decrease to interest expense
resulting from decreased rates on all interest-bearing liabilities was $7.9 million and the increase attributable to higher
volumes of interest-bearing liabilities was $3.2 million.

Our net interest income for the year ended December 31, 2008 was $20.3 million, a decrease of $0.1 million or 0.5%
when compared to net interest income of $20.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. Our net interest margin,
on a tax-equivalent basis, for 2008 was 3.12% compared to 3.72% for 2007. The decreased net interest margin resulted
from increased competitive pricing for money market accounts and certificates of deposits. Our net interest rate spread,
on a tax-equivalent basis, for 2008 was 2.60% compared to 2.91% for 2007. As a result of interest rate cuts by the Federal
Reserve loan rates decreased more than rates paid on our interest-bearing liabilities. The spread decreased by thirty-one
basis points as the change in the rates paid on interest-bearing liabilities was thirty-one basis points less than the change in
yields earned on interest-earning assets for the year.

Total interest income decreased $0.7 million or 1.8% to $39.1 million in 2008 compared to $39.8 million in interest
income in 2007. Increases in our average earning assets of $106.5 million in 2008 when compared to 2007 resulted in
$6.8 million increase in interest income from 2007 to 2008 but this was offset by a decrease in interest income of $7.4
million from a decline in yields. We funded the increases in interest-earning assets primarily with certificates of deposit
and Federal Home Loan Bank advances. The tax equivalent yield on average earning assets decreased 123 basis points
during 2008.

Similarly, our average cost of funds for 2008 was 3.33%, a decrease of 92 basis points when compared to 4.25% for
2007. The average cost on Bank certificates of deposit decreased 93 basis points from 5.02% paid in 2007 to 4.09% paid in
2008, while our average cost of borrowed funds decreased 245 basis points during 2008 compared to 2007. Part of the
borrowing cost decrease was because on June 26, 2007, we redeemed all of our higher cost trust preferred securities
($10.3 million), originally issued June 26, 2002 which bore an interest rate of 3.45% over the three month LIBOR rate,
with lower cost funding sources.

Total interest expense decreased $610 thousand or 3.1% to $18.8 million in 2008 from $19.4 million in 2007,
primarily the result of decreased market rates paid on Bank certificates of deposit. The volume of average interest-bearing
liabilities increased approximately $107.1 million when comparing 2008 with that of 2007. The decrease to interest
expense resulting from decreased rates on all interest-bearing liabilities was $4.3 million and the increase attributable to
higher volumes of interest-bearing liabilities was $3.7 million.
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The following table presents an analysis of average interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities, the interest
income or expense applicable to each asset or liability category and the resulting yield or rate paid.

Average Consolidated Balances and Net Interest Income Analysis

Year Ended December 31,
2009 2008 2007
Average Yield/ Income/ Average Yield/ Income/ Average Yield/ Income/
Balance Rate Expense Balance Rate Expense Balances Rate Expense
(Dollars in thousands)

Assets:
Loans—net® .. .................... $556,017 5.50% $30,595 $499,771 6.22% $31,104 $426,965 7.85% $33,497
Taxable securities . .................. 201,676 4.41 8,901 125,985 5.11 6,432 95,325 4.74 4,521
Nontaxable securities® .............. 36,743 5.80 2,130 34,733 5.69 1,977 33,101 5.61 1,856
Other investments® . ................ 11,705 0.03 3 10,279 2_52 257 8,859 6.20 549
Total interest-earning assets .......... 806,141 5.16 41,629 670,768 593 39,770 564,250 7.16 40,423
Cash and due frombanks ............ 10,999 12,663 14,877
Bank premises and equipment, net . . . .. 25,506 25,255 24,391
Otherassets ............coivivvun.n. 23,745 19,407 18,396
Totalassets ..............coovnnn.. $866,391 $728,093 $621,914
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity:
Interest-bearing deposits ............. $607,880 2.13% $12,958 $488,309 3.33% $16,276 $417,675 4.10% $17,129
Short-term borrowings® ............. 52,293 0.94 492 55,131 3.44 1,895 39,818 5.79 2,306
Long-term obligations ............... 22,219 3.18% 707 21,120 3.10% 654 —_ = —
Total interest-bearing liabilities . . ... ... ‘682,392 2.07 14,157 564,560 3.33 18,825 457,493 4.25 19,435
Non-interest-bearing deposits . ........ 90,732 90,031 94,397
Other liabilities . . ................... 6,783 7,037 5,712
Shareholders” equity ................ 86,484 66,465 64,312
Total liabilities and shareholders’

equity ....... ... il $866,391 $728,093 $621,914
Net interest income and net interest

margin (FTE)® ... . . %% $27.472 %% $20,945 ﬂg% $20,988
Net interest rate spread (FTE)® 2.60% %

3.09%

thousand for 2009, 2008, and 2007, respectively, are included in interest income.

equivalent adjustment was $724 thousand, $672 thousand, and $631 thousand for the years 2009, 2008, and 2007, respectively.
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Other investments include federal funds sold and interest-bearing deposits with banks and other institutions.
For 2008, expense includes $ 350 thousand for interest on taxes.
Net interest margin is computed by dividing net interest income by total average earning assets, net of the allowance for loan losses.
Net interest rate spread equals the earning asset yield minus the interest-bearing liability rate.

2.91

Average loans include non accruing loans, net of allowance for loan losses. Amortization of deferred loan fees of $9 thousand, $5 thousand, and $813

Yields on tax-exempt investments have been adjusted to a fully taxable-equivalent basis (FTE) using the federal income tax rate of 34%. The taxable



The following table presents the relative impact on net interest income of the volume of earning assets and interest-
bearing liabilities and the rates earned and paid by us on such assets and liabilities. Variances resulting from a combination
of changes in rate and volume are allocated in proportion to the absolute dollar amount of the change in each category.

Change in Interest Income and Expense on Tax Equivalent Basis

2009 Compared to 2008 2008 Compared to 2007
Volume®  Rate® Net Volume  Rate® Net
(Dollars in thousands)
Loans® ... e $3,208 $(3,807) $ (509) $5,122 $(7,515) $(2,393)
Taxable securities . ........ ...t 3,602 (1,133) 2,469 1,510 401 1,911
Nontaxable securities® .. ............ .. ... 115 38 153 92 29 121
Otherinvestments . .. ...ttt 18 (272) (254) 62 (354) (292)
INtEreSt iNCOME . . . vttt ettt ettt 7,033 (5,174) 1,859 6,786 (7,439) (653)
Interest-bearing deposits ................ ... .l 3,267 (6,585) (3,318) 2,626 (3,479) (853)
Short-term borrowings .............. ... ..o (62) (1,341) (1,403) 707 (1,118) (411)
Long-term obligations .............. ... ..., 35 18 53 327 327 654
Interest eXpense ... ..........c.iiiiiiiiaiiti e 3,240 (7,908) (4,668) 3,660 (4,270) (610)
Net interest iNCOMe .. .. .o vttt einenenns $3,793 $2734 $6527 $3126 $(3,169) $ (43)

(1) The combined rate/volume variance for each category has been allocated equally between rate and volume variances.

(2) Income on non-accrual loans is included only to the extent that it represents interest payments received.

(3) Yields on tax-exempt investments have been adjusted to a fully taxable-equivalent basis (FTE) using the federal income tax rate of 34%. The taxable
equivalent adjustment was $724 thousand, $672 thousand, and $631 thousand for the years 2009, 2008, and 2007, respectively.

Rate Sensitivity Management

Rate sensitivity management, an important aspect of achieving satisfactory levels of net interest income, is the
management of the composition and maturities of rate-sensitive assets and liabilities. The following table sets forth our
interest sensitivity analysis at December 31, 2009 and describes, at various cumulative maturity intervals, the gap-ratios
(ratios of rate-sensitive assets to rate-sensitive liabilities) for assets and liabilities that we consider to be rate sensitive. The
interest-sensitivity position has meaning only as of the date for which it was prepared. Variable rate loans are considered to
be highly sensitive to rate changes and are assumed to reprice within 12 months.

The difference between interest-sensitive asset and interest-sensitive liability repricing within time periods is referred
to as the interest-rate-sensitivity gap. Gaps are identified as either positive (interest-sensitive assets in excess of interest-
sensitive liabilities) or negative (interest-sensitive liabilities in excess of interest-sensitive assets).

As of December 31, 2009, we had a negative one-year cumulative gap of 19.2%. We have interest-earning assets of
$422.2 million maturing or repricing within one year and interest-bearing liabilities of $581.8 million repricing or
maturing within one year. This is primarily the result of short-term interest sensitive liabilities being used to fund longer
term interest-earning assets, such as loans and investment securities. A negative gap position implies that interest-bearing
liabilities (deposits and other borrowings) will reprice at a faster rate than interest-earning assets (loans and investments).
In a falling rate environment, a negative gap position will generally have a positive effect on earnings, while in a rising rate
environment this will generally have a negative effect on earnings.

On December 31, 2009, our savings and core time deposits of $462.9 million included savings, NOW and Money
Market accounts of $161.6 million. In our rate sensitivity analysis, these deposits are considered as repricing in the earliest
period (3 months or less) because the rate we pay on these interest-bearing deposits can be changed weekly. However, our
historical experience has shown that changes in market interest rates have little, if any, effect on those deposits within a
given time period and, for that reason, those liabilities could be considered non-rate sensitive. If those deposits were
excluded from rate sensitive liabilities, our rate sensitive assets and liabilities would be more closely matched at the end of
the one-year period.
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Rate Sensitivity Analysis as of December 31, 2009

3 Months 4-12 W?tl?;nal 12 Over 12
Or Less Months Months Months Total
(Dollars in thousands)

Earning assets:
LOANS—GIOSS ...t vvveit ittt $353,504 $ 40,482 $ 394,076 $183,715 $577,791
Investment SECUrities . .......ovvv it 13,917 378 14,295 225,037 239,332
Interest bearing deposits ............... ... ...l 870 — 870 — 870
Federalfundssold ........... ... ... ... .. . it 7,865 — 7,865 — 7,865
FHLB stock ..ot i 5,116 — 5,116 — 5,116
Total earning assets ................coeiiiiiiiiiia... 381,362 40,860 4229292 408,752 830,974
Percent of total earnings assets .......................... 45.9% 4.9% 50.8% 49.2% 100.0%
Cumulative percentage of total earning assets .............. 45.9 50.8 50.8 100.0
Interest-bearing liabilities:
Savings, NOW and Money Market deposits ................ 161,551 — 161,551 — 161,551
Time deposits of $100,000 ormore . .............cooiun... 84,455 88,701 173,156 25232 198,388
Other time deposits ................................... 46,003 178,216 224 219 77,080 301,299
Short-term borrowings .. ........... . o oo 22.910 — 292910 — 29910
Long-term obligations .................. ... — — — 21,000 21,000
Total interest-bearing liabilities ... ....................... $314,919 $ 266,917 $ 581,836 $123,312 $705,148
Percent of total interest-bearing liabilities ................. 44.7% 37.8% 82.5% 17.5%  100.0%
Cumulative percent of total interest-bearing liabilities . ...... 44.7 82.5 82.5 100.0
Ratios:
Ratio of earning assets to interest-bearing liabilities

(gap TAHO) © vttt e e 121.1% 15.3% 72.6% 333.5% 117.8%
Cumulative ratio of earning assets to interest-bearing liabilities

(cumulative gap ratio) ............. ... .o i 121.1% 72.6% 726% 117.8%
Interest sensitivitygap ................. i $ 66,443 $(226,057) $(159,614) $285,440 $125,826
Cumulative interest sensitivity gap ....................... 66,443 (159,614) (159,614) 125,826 125826
As a percent of total earningsassets ...................... 8.0% (19.2)% (19.2)% 15.1% 15.1%

As of December 31, 2009, approximately 50.8% of our interest-earning assets could be repriced within one year and
approximately 70.0% of interest-earning assets could be repriced within five years. Approximately 82.5% of interest-
bearing liabilities could be repriced within one year and 100.0% could be repriced within five years.
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Market Risk

Our primary market risk is interest rate risk. Interest rate risk results from differing maturities or repricing intervals
of interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities and the fact that rates on these financial instruments do not
change uniformly. These conditions may impact the earnings generated by our interest-earning assets or the cost of our
interest-bearing liabilities, thus directly impacting our overall earnings.

We actively monitor and manage interest rate risk. One way this is accomplished is through the development of and
adherence to our asset/liability policy. This policy sets forth our strategy for matching the risk characteristics of interest-
earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities so as to mitigate the effect of changes in the rate environment.

Market Risk Analysis
Principal Maturing in Years Ended December 31,
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 Thereafter Total ‘Faa.llll:e
(Dollars in thousands)
Assets:
Loans, gross:
Fixedrate ................ $ 47,650 $49,407 $43,830 $38,317 $12,963 $ 39,198 $231,365 $231,256
Averagerate (%) ........... 6.87% 657T% 692% 657% 7.01% 5.81% 6.59%
Variablerate .............. 125424 29,160 34,803 47,241 62,080 47,718 346,426 343,647
Average rate (%) ... 4.89 4.89 4.98 4.37 4.89 3.93 4.70
Investment securities:
Fixedrate ................ 870 979 2,293 1,514 9,371 207,336 222363 223,963
Averagerate (%) ........... 7.26 6.50 5.37 5.45 3.28 4.60 4.57
Variablerate .............. — — — — — 15,231 15,231 15,369
Averagerate (%) ........... — —_ — — — 2.72 2.72
Interest-bearing deposits:
Variablerate .............. 870 — — — — —_ 870 870
Averagerate (%) ........... 0.01 — — — — — 0.01
Liabilities:
Savings and interest-
bearing checking:
Variablerate .............. 161,551 —_ — — — —_— 161,551 161,551
Averagerate (%) ........... 0.69 0.69
Certificate of deposit:
Fixedrate ................ 396,598 61,775 28,347 457 11,733 — 498910 503,827
Averagerate (%) ........... 1.92 2.53 2.92 2.50 3.10 — 2.08
Variablerate .............. 777 — — — — — 777 777
Averagerate (%) ........... 0.50 0.50
Short-term borrowings:
Fixedrate ................ 20,000 — — — — — 20,000 20,000
Averagerate (%) ........... 0.81 0.81
Variablerate .............. 2,910 — — —_ — —_ 2,910 2,910
Average rate (%) ........... 1.00% 1.00
Long-term borrowings:
Fixedrate ................ 21,000 — — — — — 21,000 21,210

Average rate (%) ........... 3.22 3.22
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Non-interest Income

Non-interest income, principally charges and fees assessed for the use of our services, is a significant contributor to
net income. The following table presents the components of non-interest income for 2009, 2008 and 2007.

Non-interest Income

Year Ended December 31,
2009 2008 2007
(Dollars in thousands)

Service charges on depositaccounts . ............. .. il $3,652 $3,500 $3,219
Other service chargesand fees . ... i 1,160 1,367 1,508
Mortgage origination brokeragefees .............. .. ... .o o 950 1,035 1,091
Net gain (loss) on sale of securities ............. .. ... i 2,565 218 (161)
Income from bank owned life insurance ......... ... . ... . .. . . 310 316 289
Other operating income .. ...ttt e 12 373 431
Total NON-INtErest INCOME . . ..\ vttt et e e et e e e e e $8,649 $6,809 $6,377

Non-interest income increased $1.8 million or 26.4% to $8.6 million compared to $6.8 million for the same period in
2008. The increase in non-interest income for the year ending December 31, 2009 is primarily the result of $2.6 million in
gains on the sale of securities compared to $218 thousand for the same period in 2008. Service charges on deposit
accounts were up by $152 thousand or 4.3% as we saw an increase in cardholder fees. Other service charges and fees
decreased $207 thousand or 15.1% in 2009 compared to the prior year mainly due to decreased investment brokerage fees
of $105 thousand. Mortgage origination brokerage fees decreased $85 thousand or 8.2% over 2008. Other operating
income decreased $361 thousand in 2009 compared to the prior year. The main reason for this decrease is that 2008
included a nonrecurring Visa distribution in the amount of $386 thousand.

Non-interest income increased $432 thousand or 6.8% to $6.8 million in 2008 compared to $6.4 million for the same
period in 2007. The increase in non-interest income was primarily the result of an income distribution from Visa
International’s initial public offering in the amount of $386 thousand. As a member bank of Visa, we received the
proceeds for the redemption of approximately 9 thousand shares of class B common stock. The increase in non-interest
income also included a net gain on sale of securities of $218 thousand in 2008 compared to a net loss of $161 thousand in
2007. Non-interest income in 2007 included nonrecurring income from the recapture of $240 thousand relating to the
allowance for losses on unfunded loan commitments. Other service charges and fees decreased $141 thousand or 9.4% in
2008 compared to the prior year mainly due to decreased investment brokerage fees of $163 thousand. Service charges on
deposit accounts were up by $281 thousand or 8.7% as we saw an increase in overdraft protection fees. Mortgage
origination brokerage fees decreased $56 thousand or 5.1% over 2007.
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Non-interest Expense

Non-interest expense increased $2.6 million or 12.6% to $23.2 million in 2009 compared to $20.6 million in 2008 and
non-interest expense increased $289 thousand or 1.4% in 2008 compared to $20.3 million in 2007. The following table
presents the components of non-interest expense for 2009, 2008 and 2007.

Non-interest Expense

Year Ended December 31,
2009 2008 2007
{Dollars in thousands)

SalaTIES o vttt e e e e s $ 8287 $ 8161 $ 8431
Retirement and other employee benefits ............... .. ..o i 2,488 2,706 2,503
OCCUPAIICY .« . . o ettt ettt ettt et e et e 1,832 1,857 1,788
EQUIPIENt .. ...ttt ettt 1,763 1,638 1,885
Professional fEeS . . ..ottt e 832 717 673
SUPPLES . . . o ettt 216 312 432
Telephone .. ..........iiiie 642 679 563
FDIC INSUTATICE .+« o v v vttt e et et e e e et et e ettt ee ey 1,689 384 62
Net cost of real estate and repossessions acquired in settlement of loans ................ 1,345 145 48
Other OULSIAE SEIVICES .+« v v v o et ettt e e e e ettt it e e e 470 482 445
O BT . o e e e e 3,588 3,552 3,514
s 2\ A O OGP $23,152 $20,633 $20,344

Expenses for salaries and benefits decreased 0.8% and 0.6% for the years ended December 31, 2009 and
December 31, 2008, respectively. Salaries and benefits increased 6.5% for the year ended December 31, 2007. The
decrease in salary and benefit expenses in 2009 compared to 2008 is due to a decrease of $304 thousand in supplemental
employee retirement plan expense. The decrease in 2008 is related to deferred loan origination expense. Prior to this
salary and benefits increased $589 thousand or 5.35% in 2008 compared to 2007. This increase along with the increase in
2007 is related to staff additions to accommodate our growth and additional branches. As of December 31, 2009, we had
292 employees and operated 24 full service banking offices, a loan production office and a mortgage loan origination

office.

Salary expense increased $126 thousand or 1.5% in 2009 compared to 2008. The increase is the result of general cost
of living and merit increases. Employee benefits decreased $218 thousand or 8.1% in 2009 over the prior year principally
due a decrease in supplemental employee retirement plan expense and a decrease in employee incentive expense.

Equipment expense increased $124 thousand or 7.6% in 2009 mainly due to maintenance expense increasing $73
thousand and depreciation expense increasing $34 thousand.

Professional fees, which include audit, legal and consulting fees, increased $115 thousand or 16.0% to $832 thousand
for 2009 compared to $717 thousand in 2008. Legal fees remained relatively flat only increasing $4 thousand year over
year. Consulting fees increased $33 thousand in 2009 compared to 2008 mainly the result of fees associated with the
search for our new president and CEO. Audit fees increased $36 thousand during 2009 as compared to 2008 due to fees
associated with an IRS audit and various fees associated with other consultations.

Supplies expense decreased $96 thousand in 2009 compared to same period of 2008 primarily the result of decreases
at our bankcard center and at our corporate office.

FDIC insurance increased $1.3 million in 2009 due to increased assessment rates and an increase in our deposit
balances. Also, $405 thousand of the increase is related to the special assessment that was levied on all banks by the
FDIC.

Net cost of real estate and repossessions acquired in settlement of loans expense increased $1.2 million to $1.3
million in 2009 compared to $145 thousand in 2008. The majority of this expense is related to the disposition of collateral
on two large real estate loans.
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Salary expense decreased $270 thousand or 3.2% in 2008 compared to 2007. Prior to deferring loan origination costs,
salary expense increased $387 thousand or 4.4% as we opened one new branch in 2008 and had full years of expenses for
three branches that opened mid year 2007. Employee benefits increased $203 thousand or 8.1% in 2008 over the prior
year principally due to health insurance increases of $210 thousand and $68 thousand in expense related to split-dollar life
insurance arrangements due to a change in accounting standards related to postretirement benefits.

Occupancy expense increased $69 thousand or 3.9% in 2008 as we opened an additional branch in 2008. Also,
branches opened in 2007 impacted expenses for a full year in 2008 compared to only a partial year in 2007.

Professional fees, which include audit, legal and consulting fees, increased $44 thousand or 6.5% to $717 thousand
for 2008 compared to $673 thousand in 2007. The main reason for the increase was an increase in legal fees of $138
thousand during 2008 compared to 2007 primarily the result of increased general corporate reporting and disclosure
matters. The increase was offset by a reduction in consulting fees as our human resource department incurred fees of $76
thousand in 2007 that did not recur in 2008. Audit fees increased approximately $12 thousand in 2008 compared to 2007
mainly the result of fees associated with an IRS audit.

Supplies expense decreased $120 thousand in 2008 compared to same period of 2007 primarily the result of
outsourcing our item processing in 2007 which required us to purchase various new forms and documents.

FDIC deposit insurance increased $322 thousand or 519% for 2008 compared to 2007. The primary reason for this
increase was that the FDIC began assessing deposit insurance fees again in 2007 but allowed eligible institutions to use a
one time credit towards the assessment. The one time credit covered a large portion of our FDIC expense in 2007.

Income Taxes

For the year-ended December 31, 2009, we recorded income tax benefit of $357 thousand, compared to expenses of
$580 thousand and $1.7 million for the year-ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Our effective tax rate for
the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 was (31.2%), 14.5% and 25.8%, respectively.

Our effective tax rate for 2008 was lower due to the recognition of a tax benefit associated with the reduction of the
valuation allowance on a deferred tax asset and a higher ratio of tax-exempt to taxable income compared to 2007. The
valuation allowance for deferred tax assets was $43 thousand for December 31, 2009, $105 thousand for December 31,
2008 and $335 for December 31, 2007. The valuation allowance was for certain capital losses related to perpetual
preferred stock issued by FNMA and FHLMC. These losses are capital in character and we may not have current capital
gain capacity to offset these losses. The effective tax rate in 2009, 2008 and 2007 also differs from the federal statutory rate
of 34.0% primarily due to tax-exempt interest income we earned on tax-exempt securities in our investment portfolio. For
more information see disclosure on income taxes in note 6.

Financial Condition at December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007

Our total assets were $888.7 million at December 31, 2009, $841.9 million at December 31, 2008 and $643.9 million
at December 31, 2007. Asset growth during 2009 was funded primarily by an increase in time deposits of $76.6 million
and an increase in interest bearing demand accounts of $42.9 million. For the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008,
we grew our loans $39.0 million and $84.6 million, respectively, due to favorable loan demand in our market areas and our
addition of new branches during 2007 and 2008. For the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, we grew our deposits
$125.6 million and $102.8 million, respectively, mainly through wholesale certificates of deposit, the proceeds of which
were invested in interest-earning assets.

We believe our financial condition is sound. The following discussion focuses on the factors considered by us to be
important in assessing our financial condition.
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The following table sets forth the relative composition of our balance sheets at December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007.

Distribution of Assets and Liabilities

December 31,
2009 2008 2007
(Dollars in thousands)
Assets:
L0an, GIOSS « .\ vttt et $577,791  65.0% $538,836  64.0% $454,198  70.5%
Investment securities . .. ..... oo it i e e 239,332 269 239,709 284 125888 19.6
Interest-bearing deposits . ............. ..o 870 0.1 902 0.1 925 0.1
FHLB Stock ..o oo i e et i e 5,116 0.6 3,859 0.5 2,382 0.4
Federal fundssold . ...t e 7,865 0.9 — 0.0 4,775 0.7
Total earning assets . ... 830,974 935 783306 93.0 588,168 913
Allowance forloanlosses . ...t (9,725) (1.1) (5,931) (0.7) (4,083) (0.6)
Non-interest-bearing depositsand cash .................... 9,076 1.0 15,897 1.9 16,303 2.5
Bank premises and equipment, net............... ... 25,329 2.9 25,737 3.1 24,450 3.8
Other assets . .o vvv it e e 33,066 3.7 22,842 2.7 19,051 3.0
TOtal ASSEES .+ . v v ottt e e e e $888,720 100.0% $841,851 100.0% $643,889 100.0%
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity:
Demand deposits . ........ ..o $ 93,492 10.5%$ 90,197 10.7%8$ 95,596 14.9%
Savings, NOW and Money Market deposits . ................ 161,551 182 115,893 138 121,839 18.9
Time deposits of $100,000 0rmore .. ...t 198,388 223 224185 266 162,276 252
Other time deposits .. ..........ooviiiiiaiii it 301,299 339 198877 23.6 146,650 22.8
Total deposits ......................................... 754,730 849 629,152 747 526,361 818
Short-term borrowings . ............ceiiieienieiii. 22910 2.6 57,716 6.8 43,174 6.7
Long-term obligations ............. ... ... 21,000 2.4 26,000 3.1 — 0.0
Accrued interest and other liabilities ...................... 5,705 0.6 61,040 7.3 7,513 1.1
Total Habiliies .. ..ottt 804345 905 773908 919 577,048 89.6
Shareholders’ equity .............. it 84,375 9.5 67,943 8.1 66,841 104
Total liabilities and share-holders’ equity ................... $888,720 100.0% $841,851 100.0% $643,889 100.0%
Loans

As of December 31, 2009, total loans increased to $577.8 million, up 7.2% from total loans of $538.8 million at
December 31, 2008. Construction and land development loans decreased from $132.5 million in 2008 to $125.9 million in
92009. The decrease in construction and development loans was a function of the declining economic conditions during the
past two years. Commercial and residential real estate loans increased from $299.0 million in 2008 to $335.0 million in
2009. The growth in residential and commercial real estate loans was due to the growth in branches and a focus on growth
by the bank in owner-occupied small business lending during the year.

As of December 31, 2008, total loans increased to $538.8 million, up 18.6% from total loans of $454.2 million at
December 31, 2007. Loan growth for 2008 was strong partially the result of growth in the three new branches opened in
2007 and a new branch opened in 2008. Construction and land development loans increased from $104.3 million in 2007
to $132.5 million in 2008. The growth in construction and development loans was a function of that growth coupled with
several larger construction/permanent loans which funded out in 2008. Commercial and residential real estate loans
increased from $234.8 million in 2007 to $299.0 million in 2008. The growth in residential and commercial real estate
loans was due to the growth in branches and a focus on growth by the bank in owner-occupied small business lending

during the year.

At December 31, 2009, our loan portfolio contained no foreign loans, and we believe the portfolio is adequately
diversified. Real estate loans represent approximately 79.8% of our loan portfolio. Real estate loans are primarily loans
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secured by real estate, including mortgage and construction loans. Residential mortgage loans accounted for
approximately $110.8 million or 24.0% of our real estate loans at December 31, 2009. Commercial loans are spread
throughout a variety of industries, with no particular industry or group of related industries accounting for a significant
portion of the commercial loan portfolio. At December 31, 2009, our ten largest loans accounted for approximately 7.39%
of our loans outstanding. As of December 31, 2009, we had outstanding loan commitments of approximately $86.7 million.
The amounts of loans outstanding at the indicated dates are shown in the following table according to loan type.

Loan Portfolio Composition

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
(Dollars in thousands)
Real estate—construction and land development . ............ $125856 $132,525 $104,339 $116279 $ 91,334
Real estate—commercial, residential and other® ., .. ......... 335,004 298,959 234,812 211,440 198,931
Installment loans . .. ...ttt 4,351 5,115 5,808 6,109 8,518
Overdraftplans ......... .. ... o i 2,451 2,214 2,002 2,167 2,630
Commercial and all otherloans ........................... 110,129 100,023 107,237 81,948 85,373
Total ... $577,791 $538,836 $454,198 $417,943 $386,786

(1) The majority of the commercial real estate is owner-occupied and operated.

Maturities and Sensitivities of Loans to Changes in Interest Rates
The following table sets forth the maturity distribution of our loans as of December 31, 2009. A significant majority of

our loans maturing after one year reprice at two and three year intervals. In addition, approximately 60.0% of our loan
portfolio is comprised of variable rate loans.

Loan Maturities at December 31, 2009

Due after 1 year
1 year through 5 years Due after 5 years
or less Floating Fixed Floating Fixed Total
— (Dollars in thousands)

Real estate—construction and land development ... .. $ 64,869 $ 34079 $ 26276 $ 322 $ 310 $125,856
Real estate—commercial, residential and other . . ... .. 54767 119,058 102,059 37,761 21,359 335,004
Installmentloans ................cviiunoin.. 711 30 3,220 — 390 4,351
Overdraft protectionplans ....................... 1,039 483 202 30 697 2,451
Commercial and allotherloans . ................... 51,689 26,588 18,169 2,650 11,033 -110,129
Total ... $173,075 $180,238 $149,926 $40,763 $33,789 $577,791

Allowance for Loan Losses

We consider the allowance for loan losses adequate to cover estimated probable loan losses relating to the loans
outstanding as of each reporting period. The procedures and methods used in the determination of the allowance
necessarily rely upon various judgments and assumptions about economic conditions and other factors affecting our loans.
In addition, various regulatory agencies, as an integral part of their examination process, periodically review our allowance
for loan losses. Those agencies may require us to recognize adjustments to the allowance for loan losses based on their
judgments about the information available to them at the time of their examinations. No assurance can be given that we
will not in any particular period sustain loan losses that are sizable in relation to the amount reserved or that subsequent
evaluations of the loan portfolio, in light of conditions and factors then prevailing, will not require significant changes in
the allowance for loan losses or future charges to earnings.
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The following table summarizes the balances of loans outstanding, average loans outstanding, changes in the
allowance arising from charge-offs and recoveries by category and additions to the allowance that have been charged to
expense.

Analysis of the Allowance for Loan Losses

Year ended December 31,
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
(Dollars in thousands)
Total loans outstanding at end of year—gross . ............... $577,791 $538,836 $454,198 $417,943 $386,786
Average loans outstanding—gross .............. o $562,095 $504,426 $431,579 $409,565 $355,755
Allowance for loan losses at beginning of year ............... $ 5931 $ 4083 $ 4,725 $ 4650 $§ 4,300
Loan charged off:
O 7,032 381 433 — 12
Installment Ioans . . ... cov e 18 64 43 68 45
Credit cards and related plans ........... ... ... ... 19 — — — 31
Commercial and all otherloans .............. ... ........ 497 253 161 59 218
Total charge-offs . ............ ... i 7,566 698 637 127 306
Recoveries of loans previously charged off:
Real @State . v o oottt 72 1 — 7 —
Installment loans . . ..o vttt 3 4 18 16 16
Credit cards and related plans .................. ... ... 4 9 — 3 18
Commercial and all otherloans ............ ... .. ... ... ... 181 82 76 65 1
TOtal TECOVETIES « « v o v v e v e et e e e e e e et e 260 96 94 91 35
Net charge-offs ............. ... o 7,306 602 543 36 271
Provision forloanlosses . ........ ..o 11,100 2,450 (99) 351 757
Adjustment for loans sold®™ ........... .. ..o — — — — (136)
Adjustment for unfunded loans® .. ......... ... — — — (240) —
Allowance for loan losses atend of year . .................... $ 9725 $ 5931 $ 4083 $ 4725 $ 4,650
Ratios:
Net charge-offs during year to average loans outstanding .. .... 1.30% 0.12% 0.13% 0.01% 0.08%
Allowance for loan losses to loans at yearend® .. ............ 1.68 1.10 0.90 1.13 1.20
Allowance for loan losses to nonperforming loans ............ 66 59 877 2,568 7,154

(1) During 2005 the Bank sold its credit card portfolio with outstanding balances of approximately $2.7 million. Prior to the sale, the Bank had reserved
5% of the outstanding balances in the allowance for loan losses. The allowance was reduced by $136 thousand when the credit card portfolio was
sold.

(2) $240 thousand allocated to approximately $80 million of committed but unfunded loan obligations was reclassed to other liabilities from the Bank’s
allowance for loan losses.

(3) As aresult of the Interagency Policy Statement on the Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses jointly issued in December 2006 by the federal banking
regulatory agencies, management re-evaluated and adjusted the methodology it used to estimate the allowance for loan losses during the second
quarter of 2007.

At December 31, 2009, our allowance for loan losses as a percentage of loans was 1.68%, up from 1.10% at
December 31, 2008. The increase in part reflects the increase in our historical loss rate as our charge-offs have increased
during the past year. Also, the increase reflects the recognition of additional loans identified as being impaired. In
evaluating the allowance for loan losses, we prepare an analysis of our current loan portfolio through the use of historical
loss rates, homogeneous risk analysis grouping to include probabilities for loss in each group by risk grade, estimation of
years to impairment in each homogeneous grouping, analysis of internal credit processes, past due loan portfolio
performance and overall economic conditions, both regionally and nationally.
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Historical loss calculations for each homogeneous risk group are based on a three year average loss ratio calculation
with the most recent quarter’s loss history included in the model. The impact is to more quickly recognize and increase
the loss history in a respective grouping. For those groups with little or no loss history, management increases the
historical factor through a positive adjustment to more accurately represent current economic conditions and their
potential impact on that particular loan group.

Homogeneous loan groups are assigned risk factors based on their perceived loss potential, current economic
conditions and on their respective risk ratings. The probability of loss is increased as the risk grade increases within each
risk grouping to more accurately reflect the Bank’s exposure in that particular group of loans. The Bank utilizes a system
of eight—possible risk ratings. The risk ratings are established based on perceived probability of loss. All loans risk rated
“doubtful” and “loss” are removed from their homogeneous group and individually analyzed for impairment. Other groups
of loans based on loan size may be selected for impairment review. Loans are considered impaired if, based on current
information and events, it is probable that the bank will be unable to collect the scheduled payments of principal and
interest when due according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement. The measurement of impaired loans is based
on either the fair value of the underlying collateral, the present value of the future cash flows discounted at the historical
effective interest rate stipulated in the loan agreement, or the estimated market value of the loan. In measuring the fair
value of the collateral, management uses a comparison to the recent selling price of similar assets, which is consistent with
those that would be utilized by unrelated third parties.

A portion of the Bank’s allowance for loan losses is not allocated to any specific category of loans. This general portion
of the allowance reflects the elements of imprecision and estimation risk inherent in the calculation of the overall
allowance. Due to the subjectivity involved in determining the overall allowance, including the unallocated portion, the
portion of the allowance considered unallocated may fluctuate from period to period based on management’s evaluation of
the factors affecting the assumptions used in calculating the allowance, including historical loss experience, current and
expected economic conditions and geographic conditions. The Bank has identified an acceptable range for this unallocated
portion to be 5%—15% of the total reserve. While we believe that our management uses the best information available to
determine the allowance for loan losses, unforeseen market conditions could result in adjustments to the allowance for
loan losses, and net income could be significantly affected, if circumstances differ substantially from the assumptions used
in making the final determination. Because these factors and management’s assumptions are subject to change, the
allocation is not necessarily indicative of future loan portfolio performance.

Loans are charged-off against the Bank's allowance for loan losses as soon as the loan becomes uncollectible.
Unsecured loans are considered uncollectible when no regularly scheduled monthly payment has been made within three
months, the loan matured over 90 days ago and has not been renewed or extended or the borrower files for bankruptcy.
Secured loans are considered uncollectible when the liquidation of collateral is deemed to be the most likely source of
repayment. Once secured loans reach 90 days past due, they are placed into non-accrual status. If the loan is deemed to be
collateral dependent, the principal balance is written down immediately to reflect the current market valuation based on
current independent appraisal. Included in the write-down is the estimated expense to liquidate the property and typically
an additional allowance for the foreclosure discount. Generally, if the loan is unsecured the loan must be charged-off in
full while if it is secured the loan is charged down to the net liquidation value of the collateral.

Net charge-offs of $7.3 million in 2009 increased $6.7 million and $6.8 million when compared to 2008 and 2007,
respectively. Net charge-offs from real estate secured loans were $7.0 million, $381 thousand and $433 thousand for 2009,
2008 and 2007, respectively. Asset quality remains a top priority of the Bank. For the year ending December 31, 2009, net
loan charge-offs were 1.30% of average loans compared to 0.12% for the year ending December 31, 2008. The ratio of
annualized net charge-offs to average loans increased mainly due to the Bank writing-down several large collateral
dependent loans. Declining economic conditions, particularly in our southern coastal markets, resulted in an increased
number of impaired collateral dependant loans which resulted in a portion of these loans being charged-off. The increase
in the allowance for loan losses to loans to 1.68% at December 31, 2009 from 1.10% at December 31, 2008 reflects the
increase in our historical loss rate as our charge-offs have increased during the past year. Also, the increase reflects the
recognition of additional loans identified as being impaired. The ratio of our allowance for loan losses to nonperforming
loans increased to 66% as of December 31, 2009 compared to 59% at December 31, 2008. The increase is the result of
our allowance increasing approximately 64% year over year while our nonperforming loans have only increased
approximately 47% year over year.
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Construction, land and development (“CLD”) loans make up 21.8% of the Bank’s loan portfolio. This sector of the
economy has been particularly impacted by declines in housing activity, and has had a disproportionate impact on the
credit quality of the Company. The table below shows trends of CLD loans, along with ratios relating to their relative
credit quality.

CLD Loans All Other Loans Total
Balance % of Total Balance % of Total Loans
Dollars in thousands

Balances at December 31,2009 ..................... . ..., $125,856 21.8% $451,935 78.2% $577,791
Impaired JOAMS o e 8,959 37.5% 14,935 62.5% 23,894
Allocated ReSEIVES .. ..o ittt 4,622 55.6% 3,694 44.4% 8,316
YTD Net Charge-offs ................................... 5,101 69.8% 2,205 30.2% 7,306
Nonperforming loans (NPL) ............................. 5,946 40.5% 8,750 59.5% 14,696
NPLas %ofloans ..........couiiiiiiiiian, 4.7% 1.9% 2.5%

While balances of CLD loans make up 21.8% of the Bank’s loan portfolio, they represent 37.5% and 69.8% of the
Bank’s impaired loans and YTD net charge-offs, respectively. CLD loans represent 40.5% of the Bank’s nonperforming
loans and 55.6% of the Bank’s allowance for loan loss is allocated to CLD loans.

Allocation of the Allowance for Loan Losses

The following table sets forth the allocation of allowance for loan losses and percent of our total loans represented by
the loans in each loan category for each of the years presented. The reserves allocated to real estate increased during 2009
and 2008 as declining economic conditions, particularly in our southern coastal markets, resulted in an increased number
of impaired collateral dependant loans.

Allocation of the Allowance for Loan Losses

December 31,
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
Amount Percent Amount Percent Amount Percent Amount Percent Amount Percent
(Dollars in thousands)

Realestate .................. $7,572 91.0% $4,762  80.1% $2,642 74.7% $3,630 78.4% $3,292 75.0%
Installmentloans ............ 23 0.3 25 0.9 73 1.3 233 1.5 122 2.2
Credit cards and related

plans ......... ... ... 13 0.2 16 0.4 38 04 8 05 21 0.7
Commercial and all other

loans .................... 708 8.5 507 18.6 773  23.6 817 19.6 1,073 2211
Total allocated .............. 8,316 100.0% 5,310 100.0% 3,526 100.0% 4,688 100.0% 4,508 100.0%
Unallocated ................. 1,409 621 557 37 142
Total ......... ... ... ..... $9,725 $5,931 $4,083 $4.725 $4,650

Loans Considered Impaired under SFAS No. 114

We review our nonperforming loans and other groups of loans based on loan size or other factors for impairment. At
December 31, 2009, we had loans totaling $23.9 million (which includes $14.4 million in nonperforming loans) which
were considered to be impaired compared to $16.5 million at December 31, 2008. Loans are considered impaired if,
based on current information, circumstances or events, it is probable that the Bank will not collect the scheduled
payments of principal and interest when due according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement. However, treating
a loan as impaired does not necessarily mean that we expect to incur a loss on that loan, and our impaired loans may
include loans that currently are performing in accordance with their terms. For example, if we believe it is probable that a
loan will be collected, but not according to its original agreed upon payment schedule, we may treat that loan as impaired
even though we expect that the loan will be repaid or collected in full. As indicated in the table below, when we believe a
loss is probable on a non-collateral dependent impaired loan, a portion of our reserve is allocated to that probable loss. If
the loan is deemed to be collateral dependent, the principal balance is written down immediately to reflect the current
market valuation based on current independent appraisal.
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The following table sets forth the number and volume of loans net of previous charge-offs considered impaired and
their associated reserve allocation, if any, at December 31, 2009.
Loan

Number Balances Allocated
of Loans Outstanding Reserves

(Dollars in millions)
Non-accrual 10ans . ......... ...t e 34 $13.0 $0.7
Restructured loans . . ... i 3 1.4 0.7
Total nonperformingloans .......... ... ... .. i 37 $14.4 $1.4
Other impaired loans with allocated reserves ............. .. ... ... o 10 3.3 0.7
Impaired loans without allocated reserves ................ . ... 16 6.2 —
Total impaired loans .. .............. . i 63 $23.9 $2.1

Nonperforming Assets and Past Due Loans

The following table summarizes our nonperforming assets and past due loans at the dates indicated.

Nonperforming Assets and Past Due Loans

December 31,
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
(Dollars in thousands)

Non-acerual Ioans . . ..ottt e $13,343 $ 9,957 $393 8130 $—
Loans past due 90 days or more days still accruing ........................ — - - = =
Restructured JOans . . .. .o ottt e e e 1,353 24 73 54 65
Other real estate owned & repoSSESSIONS . .. ... ovvvttorite i 5,443 3,724 66 240 —
otal .o e e $20,139 $13,705 $532 $424 $ 65

A loan is placed on non-accrual status when, in our judgment, the collection of interest income appears doubtful or
the loan is past due 90 days or more. Interest receivable that has been accrued and is subsequently determined to have
doubtful collectability is charged to the appropriate interest income account. Interest on loans that are classified as
non-accrual is recognized when received. In some cases, where borrowers are experiencing financial difficulties, loans may
be restructured to provide terms significantly different from the original terms.

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, nonperforming assets were approximately 3.49% and 2.54%, respectively, of the
loans outstanding at such dates. The general downturn in the overall economy has contributed to the overall increase in
nonperforming assets reflected at year end. The impact of our impaired loans at December 31, 2009, on our interest
income was approximately $1.0 million as we would have accrued $1.3 million in interest income versus the $0.3 million

thousand recognized.

Any loans that are classified for regulatory purposes as loss, doubtful, substandard or special mention, and that are
not included as non-performing loans, do not (i) represent or result from trends or uncertainties that management
reasonably expects will materially impact future operating results; or (i) represent material credits about which
management has any information which causes management to have serious doubts as to the ability of such borrower to
comply with the loan repayment terms.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Contractual Obligations

We have various financial instruments (outstanding commitments) with off-balance sheet risk that are issued in the
normal course of business to meet the financing needs of our customers. These financial instruments include
commitments to extend credit and standby letters of credit. We also have contractual cash obligations and commitments,
including certificates of deposit, other borrowings, operating leases and loan commitments. The following tables set forth
our commercial commitments and contractual payment obligations as of December 31, 2009.

Amount of Commitment Expiration per Period

Less than 1-3 4-5 More than
Commercial Commitments Total 1 year years years 5 years
(Dollars in thousands)
Loan commitments and linesof credit ...................... $ 84906 $ 42,750 $ 11,086 $ 5869 $25,201
Standby letters of credit . ......... ... o 1,837 1,837 — — —_
Total commercial commitments ........... ..., $ 86,743 $ 44,587 $ 11,086 §$ 5,869 $25,201

Amount of Payments Due per Period

Less than 1-3 4-5 More than
Contractual Obligations Total 1 year years years 5 years
(Dollars in thousands)
Short-term borrowings . ........ ... ... oo i 22.910 22,910 — — —
Long-term borrowings ............... i 21,000 — 13,500 7,500 —
Operatingleases ............ ... ... i, 3,055 520 904 698 933
DEpPOSItS ..ot 754,730 652,418 90,122 12,190 —
Total contractual obligations ...................... ... ..., $888,438 $720,435 $115,612 $26,257 $26,134

Investment Portfolio

The composition of our securities portfolio reflects our investment strategy of maintaining an appropriate level of
liquidity while providing a relatively stable source of income. Our securities portfolio also provides a balance to interest
rate risk and credit risk in other categories of the balance sheet while providing a vehicle for investing available funds,
furnishing liquidity and supplying securities to pledge as required collateral for certain deposits and borrowed funds. We
use two categories to classify our securities: “held-to-maturity” and “available-for-sale.” Currently, none of our investments
are classified as held-to-maturity. While we have no plans to liquidate a significant amount of our securities, the securities
classified as available-for-sale may be sold to meet liquidity needs should management deem it to be in our best interest.

Our investment securities totaled $239.3 million at December 31, 2009, $239.7 million at December 31, 2008 and
$125.9 million at December 31, 2007. The balance of the investment portfolio at December 31, 2008 compared to
December 31, 2009 remained flat. The increase in investment securities of $113.8 million or 90.4% from December 31,
2007 when compared to December 31, 2008 was principally due to leverage strategies implemented to take advantage of
favorable spreads between yields on securities and borrowing cost from the Federal Home Loan Bank. Additions to the
investment securities portfolio depend to a large extent on the availability of investable funds that are not otherwise
needed to satisfy loan demand. Investable funds not otherwise utilized are temporarily invested as federal funds sold or as
interest-bearing balances at other banks, the level of which is affected by such considerations as near-term loan demand

and liquidity needs.
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The carrying values of investment securities held by us at the dates indicated are summarized as follows:

Securities available-for-sale:

Investiment Portfolio Composition

December 31,

2009 Percentage 2008 Percentage

2007 Percentage

(Dollars in thousands)

Government-sponsored enterprises and FFCB

bonds ................. ...
Collaterized mortgage obligations . .
Corporatenotes . ................
Mortgage-backed securities .. .....
Tax-exempt municipal securities . ..
Equity securities ................

Total investments ...............

........... $ 35,843 15.0% $ 29,524 12.3% $ 33,022 26.2%
........... 25,285 10.6 20,759 8.7 21,687 17.2
........... 5,860 2.5 6,888 2.9 2,958 2.3
........... 125,516 52.4 148,649 62.0 31,453 25.0
........... 46,022 19.2 33,209 13.8 35,941 28.6
........... 806 0.3 680 0.3 827 0.7
........... $239,332 100.0% $239,709 100.0% $125,888 100.0%

The following table shows maturities of the carrying values and the weighted-average yields of investment securities

held by us at December 31, 2008.

Investment Portfolio Maturity Schedule

Over Over Over
3 months 1 year 5 years
3 months through through but within Over
or less 1 year 5 years 10years 10 years
Amount/ Amount/ Amount/ Amount/ Amount/ Total/
Yield Yield Yield Yield Yield Yield
(Dollars in thousands)

Securities available-for-sale:
Government-sponsored enterprises and FFCB bonds ... $ — $ — $ 7166 $ 20,392 8,285 $ 35,843

— % — % 2.74% 3.70% 4.70% 3.74%
Collaterized mortgage obligations® .................. 188 1,488 20,121 3,488 — 25,285

4.96 2.90 4.38 3.86 — 4.23
Corporate notes . ...t — —_ — 5,860 — 5,860

— — — 5.95 — 5.95
Mortgage-backed securitiestV) . .. ... ... i 1,154 3,600 53,812 54057 12,893 - 125,516

5.50 5.69 3.94 412 4.39 4.13
Tax-exempt municipal securities® ................... 497 378 7,343 18,449 19,355 46,022

7.22 7.31 5.44 5.70 5.72 5.70
Equity securities® ........... ... ..o — — — — 806 806

— — — — 11.13 11.13

Total investments ...............

$1,839  $5,466 $88,442 $102,246 $41,339 $239,332

593%  5.02% 4.07% 442%  5.23%

4.46%

(1) Mortgage-backed securities (MBS) and collaterized mortgage obligations (CMO) maturities are based on the average life at the projected

prepayment assumptions. All other bond maturities are based on maturity date.
(2) Yields on tax-exempt investments have been adjusted to a fully taxable-equivalent basis (FTE) using the federal income tax rate of 34%.
(3) Equity securities yield is based on dividends paid in 2009.

The weighted average yields shown are calculated on the basis of cost and effective yields for the scheduled maturity
of each security. At December 31, 2009, the market value of the investment portfolio was approximately $2.1 million
above its book value, which is primarily the result of lower market interest rates compared to the interest rates on the

investments in the portfolio.
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We currently have the ability to hold our available-for-sale investment securities to maturity. However, should
conditions change, we may sell unpledged securities. We consider the overall quality of the securities portfolio to be high.
All securities held are traded in liquid markets. As of December 31, 2009, we owned securities from issuers in which the
aggregate amortized cost from such issuers exceeded 10% of our shareholders’ equity. As of December 31, 2009 the
amortized cost and market value of the securities from each issuer were as follows:

Amortized Cost Market Value

(Dollars in thousands)
Federal National Mortgage Corporation ................cooiiiieneanoo... $60,315 $60,866
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation ...............ooiiiiiieani.... 36,597 37,011
Federal Home Loan Banks . . ... ... i e 14,045 13,860
Government National Mortgage Association . .............. ..o, 30,023 30,336
Federal Farm Credit Banks .. ...t 11,992 11,907
Small Business Administration .. ........cotvinir i e 32,338 32,665

At December 31, 2009, we held $8.7 million in bank owned life insurance, compared to $8.3 million at December 31,
2008.

Deposits

Deposits increased to $754.7 million, up 19.9% as of December 31, 2009 compared to deposits of $629.2 million at
December 31, 2008. Non-interest-bearing deposits increased $3.3 million from year-end 2008 to year-end 2009, while
total interest-bearing deposits increased $122.3 million over the same period. The most significant increases in deposits
are attributed to time deposits, including wholesale time deposits, which increased $76.6 million year over year. Time
deposits of less than $100,000 increased $102.4 million while time deposits of $100,000 or more decreased $25.8 million.
We believe that we can improve our core deposit funding by improving our branch network and providing more
convenient opportunities for customers to bank with us. We anticipate that our deposits will continue to increase
throughout 2010.

Total deposits at December 31, 2008 increased $102.8 million or 19.5% compared to total deposits of $526.4 million
at December 31, 2007. Non-interest-bearing deposits decreased $5.4 million from year-end 2007 to year-end 2008, while
total interest-bearing deposits increased $108.2 million over the same period. Time deposits increased $114.1 million
during 2008 of which $61.9 million was attributable to increases in time deposits of $100,000 or more.

The average balance of deposits and interest rates thereon for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007
are summarized below.

Average Deposits

Year ended December 31,
2009 2008 2007

Average Average Average
Balance Rate Balance Rate Balance Rate

(Dollars in thousands)

Interest-bearing demand deposits ................ ... ... $112.971 0.74% $ 96,032 0.93% $ 95,008 1.87%
Savings deposits .. ... ... 18,429 0.25 17,870 0.49 18,740 0.50
Time deposits . ... 476,480 @ 374,407 é@ 303,927 _52
Total interest-bearing deposits .............. ... ... . ... 607,880 2.13 488,309 3.33 417,675 4.10
Non-interest-bearing deposits . . ................... ... 90,732 90,031 94,397

Total deposits ............................................ $698,612 1.85% $578,340 2.81% $512,072 3.33%

For the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, our average non-interest-bearing deposits have been
approximately 13.0%, 15.6% and 18.4%, respectively of our average total deposits. Owing to our loan growth, during 2009
we continued to look to the wholesale funds market to augment our core funding. We subscribe to an Internet bulletin
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board service to advertise our deposit rates. At year-end 2009 and 2008, we had approximately $140.8 million and $134.5
million, respectively, in these types of deposits, most of which have a maturity of two years or less.

As of December 31, 2009, we held approximately $87.9 million in time deposits of $100,000 or more of individuals,
local governments or municipal entities and $110.5 million of wholesale deposits of $100,000 or more. Non-brokered time
deposits less than $100,000 were approximately $239.5 million at December 31, 2009. The following table is a maturity
schedule of our time deposits as of December 31, 2009.

Time Deposit Maturity Schedule

3 months 4-6 7-12 Over 12
or less months months months Total
(Dollars in thousands)

Non-wholesale time certificates of deposit of less than

100,000 ...t $ 36,570 $23,896 $118,618 $ 60,399 $239,483
Non-wholesale time certificates of deposit of $100,000 or

1070 ) o < NN 37,247 16,094 29,114 5,442 87,897
Wholesale time certificates of deposit of less than $100,000 .. ... 9,434 9,536 26,165 16,681 61,816
Wholesale time certificates of deposit of $100,000 or more . . .. .. 47208 25,156 18,338 19,789 110,491
Total time deposits ...................................... $130,459 $74,682 $192,235 $102,311 $499,687
Borrowings

Short-term borrowings include sweep accounts, advances from the Federal Home Loan Bank of Atlanta (the
“FHLB”) having maturities of one year or less, Federal Funds purchased and repurchase agreements. Our short-term
borrowings totaled $22.9 million on December 31, 2009, compared to $57.7 million on December 31, 2008, a decrease of
$34.8 million. Our short-term advances from FHLB decreased $14.0 million while repurchase agreements decreased $6.3
million and sweep accounts decreased $1.5 million from December 31, 2008 to December 31, 2009. Federal funds
purchased decreased $13.0 million from December 31, 2008 to December 31, 2009.

The following table details the maturities and rates of our borrowings from the FHLB, as of December 31, 2009.

Borrow Date Type Principal Term Rate Maturity
(Dollars in thousands)

December 31, 2009 Fixed rate 15,000 30 days 0.23 January 29, 2010

March 12, 2008 Fixed rate 5,000 2 years 2.56 March 12, 2010

March 12, 2008 Fixed rate 6,500 3 years 2.89 March 14, 2011

February 29, 2008 Fixed rate 5,000 4 years 3.18 February 29, 2012

March 12, 2008 Fixed rate 2,000 4 years 3.25 March 12, 2012

March 12, 2008 Fixed rate 7,500 5 years 3.54 March 12, 2013
Total Borrowings: $ 41,000 Composite rate: 2.05%

Long-Term Obligations

Long-term obligations consist of advances from FHLB with maturities greater than one year. Our long-term
borrowings from the FHLB totaled $21.0 million on December 31, 2009, compared to $26.0 million long-term FHLB
advances on December 31, 2008. The decrease of $5.0 million in long-term FHLB advances is due to $5.0 million being
reclassed to short-term borrowing.

Liquidity
Liquidity refers to our continuing ability to meet deposit withdrawals, fund loan and capital expenditure

commitments, maintain reserve requirements, pay operating expenses and provide funds for payment of dividends, debt
service and other operational requirements. Liquidity is immediately available from five major sources: (a) cash on hand
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and on deposit at other banks; (b) the outstanding balance of federal funds sold; (c) lines for the purchase of federal funds
from other banks; (d) lines of credit established at the FHLB, less existing advances; and (e) our investment securities
portfolio. All our debt securities are of investment grade quality and, if the need arises, can promptly be liquidated on the
open market or pledged as collateral for short-term borrowing.

Consistent with our general approach to liquidity management, loans and other assets of the Bank are funded
primarily using a core of local deposits, proceeds from retail repurchase agreements and excess Bank capital. During 2009
the Bank relied more heavily on wholesale time deposits to meet our liquidity needs. Wholesale deposits increased $37.8
million from December 31, 2008 to December 31, 2009 primarily because of increased use of internet deposits and the
use of a wholesale time deposit placement network. The Bank intends to focus on increasing core deposits in order to
decrease the amount of wholesale deposits.

We are a member of the Federal Home Loan Bank of Atlanta. Membership, along with a blanket collateral
commitment of our one-to-four family residential mortgage loan portfolio, as well as our commercial real estate loan
portfolio, provided us the ability to draw up to $177.7 million, $168.6 million and $128.8 million of advances from the
FHLB at December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. At December 31, 2009, we had outstanding FHLB advances
totaling $41.0 million compared to $60.0 million and $28.0 million at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

As a requirement for membership, we invest in stock of the FHLB in the amount of 1.0% of our outstanding
residential loans or 5.0% of our outstanding advances from the FHLB, whichever is greater. That stock is pledged as
collateral for any FHLB advances drawn by us. At December 31, 2009, we owned 51,160 shares of the FHLB’s $100 par
value capital stock, compared to 38,591 and 23,822 shares at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. No ready market
exists for FHLB stock, which is carried at cost.

We also had unsecured federal funds lines in the aggregate amount of $36.0 million available to us at December 31,
2009 under which we can borrow funds to meet short-term liquidity needs. At December 31, 2009, we did not have any
advances under these federal funds lines. We also have the ability to borrow from the Federal Reserve Discount Window
by pledging certain types of collateral. Another source of funding available is loan participations sold to other commercial
banks (in which we retain the servicing rights). As of December 31, 2009, we did not have any loan participations sold. We
believe that our liquidity sources are adequate to meet our operating needs.

Capital Resources and Shareholders’ Equity

As of December 31, 2009, our total shareholders’ equity was $84.4 million (consisting of common shareholders’
equity of $67.3 million and preferred stock of $17.1 million) compared with total shareholders” equity of $67.9 million as
of December 31, 2008 (consisting of common shareholders’ equity of $67.9 million and no preferred stock). On
January 16, 2009, the Company entered into an agreement with the United States Department of the Treasury
(“Treasury”). The Company issued and sold to the Treasury 17,949 shares of the Company’s Series A Preferred Stock. The
preferred stock calls for cumulative dividends at a rate of 5% per year for the first five years, and at a rate of 9% per year
in following years. The Company also issued a warrant to purchase 144,984 shares of the Company’s common stock. The
Company received $17,949,000 in cash.

Common shareholders’ equity decreased by approximately $0.6 million to $67.3 million at December 31, 2009 from
$67.9 million at December 31, 2008. We experienced net income in 2009 of $1.5 million and recognized stock
compensation of $85 thousand on restricted stock awards and stock options. We had a decrease in net unrealized gains on
available-for-sale securities of $205 thousand. We declared cash dividends of $2.1 million on our common shares or $0.73
per share during 2009 and dividends of $745 thousand on preferred shares.

Common shareholders’ equity increased by approximately $1.1 million to $67.9 million at December 31, 2008 from
$66.8 million at December 31, 2007. We experienced net income in 2008 of $3.4 million and recognized stock
compensation of $212 thousand on restricted stock awards and stock options. We had a change from a net unrealized loss
to an unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities of $1.7 million and we declared cash dividends of $2.1 million or
$0.73 per share during 2008. During 2008 we repurchased 78,780 shares of our outstanding common stock at a cost of
$1.8 million. We also recorded a liability of $387 thousand to record the postretirement benefit related to split-dollar life
insurance arrangements due to a change in accounting standards related to postretirement benefits on January 1, 2008,
which was reflected as a cumulative effect adjustment to retained earnings.

48



The following table presents information concerning capital required of us and our actual capital ratios.

To be well Minimum
capitalized required for
under prompt capital
corrective action  adequacy
provisions purposes Our Bank’s
Ratio Ratio Ratio  Ratio

As of December 31, 2009:

Tier 1 Capital (to Average Assets) .............coovieiiiinen .. > 5.00% >3.00% 959% 7.53%

Tier 1 Capital (to Risk Weighted Assets) ........................ > 6.00 >4.00 12.77 10.03

Total Capital (to Risk Weighted ASSEtS) .. ii =>10.00 >8.00 14.02 11.28
As of December 31, 2008:

Tier 1 Capital (to Average Assets) .............cooiiiiiirnnnenns > 5.00% >3.00% 8.65% 8.65%

Tier 1 Capital (to Risk Weighted Assets) ........................ > 6.00 >4.00 10.83 10.83

Total Capital (to Risk Weighted Assets) ......................... >10.00 >8.00 11.80 11.80

Inflation and Other Issues

Because our assets and liabilities are primarily monetary in nature, the effect of inflation on our assets is less
significant compared to most commercial and industrial companies. However, inflation does have an impact on the growth
of total assets in the banking industry and the resulting need to increase capital at higher than normal rates in order to
maintain an appropriate equity-to-assets ratio. Inflation also has a significant effect on other expenses, which tend to rise
during periods of general inflation. Notwithstanding these effects of inflation, management believes our financial results
are influenced more by our ability to react to changes in interest rates than by inflation.

Except as discussed in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis, management is not aware of trends, events or
uncertainties that will have or that are reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on the liquidity, capital resources
or operations. Management is not aware of any current recommendations by regulatory authorities which, if they were
implemented, would have such an effect.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Please refer to Note (1) (S) of our consolidated financial statements for a summary of recent authoritative
pronouncements that could impact our accounting, reporting, and/or disclosure of financial information.
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CAUTIONARY NOTE ABOUT FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Statements in this Report and exhibits relating to plans, strategies, economic performance and trends, projections of
results of specific activities or investments, expectations or beliefs about future events or results, and other statements that
are not descriptions of historical facts, may be forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934. Forward-looking information is inherently subject to risks and uncertainties, and actual results could differ
materially from those currently anticipated due to a number of factors, which include, but are not limited to, risk factors
discussed in Item 1A under the heading “Rick Factors” and in other documents filed by the Company with the Securities
and Exchange Commission from time to time. Forward-looking statements may be identified by terms such as “may”,
“will”, “should”, “could”, “expects”, “plans”, “intends”, “anticipates”, “believes”, “estimates”, “predicts”, “forecasts”,
“potential” or “continue,” or similar terms or the negative of these terms, or other statements concerning opinions or
judgments of the Company’s management about future events. Factors that could influence the accuracy of such forward-
looking statements include, but are not limited to: (a) pressures on the earnings, capital and liquidity of financial
institutions resulting from current and future adverse conditions in the credit and equity markets and the banking industry
in general, (b) the financial success or changing strategies of the Company’s customers, (c) actions of government
regulators, (d) the level of market interest rates, (e) weather and similar conditions, particularly the effect of hurricanes on
the Company’s banking and operations facilities and on the Company’s customers and the communities in which it does
business, (f) changes in general economic conditions and the real estate values in our banking market (particularly changes
that affect our loan portfolio, the abilities of our borrowers to repay their loans, and the values of loan collateral),
(g) changes in competitive pressures among depository and other financial institutions or in our ability to compete
effectively against larger financial institutions in our banking market. Although the Company believes that the expectations
reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, it cannot guarantee future results, levels of activity,
performance or achievements. All forward-looking statements attributable to the Company are expressly qualified in their
entirety by the cautionary statements in this paragraph. The Company has no obligations, and does not intend, to update
these forward-looking statements.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Information required by this Item is included in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations contained in Item 7 under the caption “Market Risk.”
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DIXON HUGHES::
Certified Public Accountants and Advisors

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors

ECB Bancorp, Inc.
Engelhard, North Carolina

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of ECB Bancorp, Inc. and Subsidiary (the
“Company”) as of December 31, 2009 and 2008 and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders” equity,
and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2009. These consolidated financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of ECB Bancorp, Inc. and Subsidiary as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2009, in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), ECB Bancorp, Inc. and Subsidiary’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2009, based on
criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission, and our report dated March 16, 2010 expressed an unqualified opinion.

Pm%&&c

Greenville, North Carolina
March 16, 2010
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ECB BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

DECEMBER 31, 2009 AND 2008
(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

2009 2008
ASSETS
Non-interest bearing deposits and cash ............ . ... .o $ 9,076 $ 15,897
Interest-bearing deposits . ... ........o.oiiiii 870 902
Overnight INVESEMENTS . . . ... ...ttt 7,865 —
Total cash and cash equivalents . ......... ... ... i 17,811 16,799
Investment securities available-for-sale, at fair value (cost of $237,594 and $237,638 at
December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively) ......... ... . ..o i 239,332 239,709
LOaIIS & vttt e e e e e e e 577,791 538,836
Allowance for 10am LOSSES . . . . o v v ettt (9,725) (5,931)
LOANS, MEL . ottt et e e e e 568,066 532,905
Real estate and repossessions acquired in settlement ofloans,met ..o 5,443 3,724
Federal Home Loan Bank common stock, at COst .. ..o 5,116 3,859
Bank premises and equipment, Net . . ... ... 25,329 25,737
Accrued interest receivable . . .. oot e e 4,967 4,663
Bank owned Bfe inSUTAnCe . . . . oo oottt e 8,657 8,347
OhET ASSEES .« o v o v o e e et e e e e e e e 13,999 6,108
TOtal . .t e $ 888,720 $ 841,851
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS” EQUITY
Deposits
Demand, non-interest-bearing ............. ... i $ 03492 $ 90,197
Demand, interest-bearing . ........ ... . .. 141,956 99,011
SAVINES ... 19,595 16,882
1576 7= Tt U 499,687 423,062
Total dEPOSIES . . . et ettt et 754,730 629,152
Payable, settlement for securities purchased ...... ... ... — 53,426
Accrued interest payable .. ........ .. 1,121 2,889
Short-term borrowings . ... 22910 57,716
Long-term obligations ................... PP 21,000 26,000
Other Habiliies . . . oot 4,584 4,725
Total Habiliies . .. o oottt e e e e e e e e 804,345 773,908
Commitments and contingent liabilities
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Preferred stock, Series A .. ... 17,122 —
Common stock, par value $3.50 pershare .......... ... ... ... i 9,968 9,956
Capital surplus . ... ... 25,803 25,707
Warrant ...............c..... R 878 —
Retained €arnings .......... ..o 29,555 31,026
Accumulated other comprehensive income . ........... .. oo 1,049 1,254
Total shareholders equity ........ ... i 84,375 67,943
Total . .ot e e $ 888720 $ 841,851
Common shares outstanding . .. ... 2,847 881 2,844,489
Common shares authorized . . .. ... i e 10,000,000 10,000,000
Preferred shares outstanding . .. .......... .. i 17,949 —
Preferred shares authorized .. ... ... .. i 2,000,000 —

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ECB BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009, 2008 AND 2007

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

2009 2008 2007
INTEREST INCOME
Interest and fees OnJOAnS . . .. oottt et $ 30,595 $ 31,104 $ 33,497
Interest on investment securities:
Interest exempt from federal income taxes . ........... ..., 1,406 1,305 1,225
Taxable interest income . .............. i 8,774 6,215 4,384
Dividend income ............ . 127 217 137
Other interest ... ...ttt e e 3 257 549
Total interest iNCOME . ...\ttt ettt 40,905 39,098 39,792
INTEREST EXPENSE
Deposits
Demand aCCOUNES . . ..ottt vttt ettt et et e 833 894 1,779
SavINGS . ... 46 87 94
7' TP 12,079 15,295 15,256
Short-term bOrrowings . ... ........utitr e 462 1,545 2,306
Long-term obligations .......... ... ... .. i e 707 654 —
Other interest EXPEnSe . . . ...ttt ettt e 30 350 —
Total interest EXPEnse . . ... ..ottt et e 14,157 18,825 19,435
Netinterest iINCOME . ... ..ottt e e e e 26,748 20,273 20,357
Provision for loan 1osses ... ... ... .. 11,100 2,450 (99)
Net interest income after provision for loanlosses ......................... 15,648 17,823 20,456
NON-INTEREST INCOME
Service charges on deposit aCCOUNES . . .. ...vuvueu ittt 3,652 3,500 3,219
Other service chargesand fees . . ........ ... i i 1,160 1,367 1,508
Mortgage origination brokeragefees .. .......... .. .. 950 1,035 1,001
Net gain (loss) on sale of securities ... ........c.ooviiiiiii it 2,565 218 (161)
Income from bank owned life insurance . ........... ... ... 310 316 289
Other operating inCome ... ... ..ottt e e 12 373 431
Total non-interest iNCOME . ...ttt .. 8,649 6,809 6,377
NON-INTEREST EXPENSE
Salaries . ... 8,287 8,161 8,431
Retirement and other employee benefits .......... ... .. .. ... ... L. 2,488 2,706 2,503
OCCUPANCY . . . e 1,832 1,857 1,788
EqQUipment . ......... ... e 1,763 1,638 1,885
Professional fees .. ... ........ .. 832 717 673
SUPPliEs . .. 216 312 432
Tefephone ................................................................. 642 679 563
FDIC INSUIaNCe ...\ttt ittt ettt e e e e e 1,689 384 62
Other outside SEIVICES . ... ..ttt e 470 482 445
Net cost of real estate and repossessions acquired in settlement of loans .. ............. 1,345 145 48
Other operating eXpenses . ... .......tuureutt et e 3,588 3,552 3,514
Total non-interest eXpense . .............oourutreititei ey 23,152 20,633 20,344
Income before income taxes ......... ... ... 1,145 3,999 6,489
Income tax expense (benefit) .. ... ... . i e (357) 580 1,677
Nt INCOMIE . oottt et ittt e e e e e e 1,502 3,419 4 812
Preferred stock dividends . ... ... ...t 853 — —
Accretion of discount . ....... ... ... 150 — —
Income available to common shareholders ............. i $ 499 $ 3419 $ 4812
Net income per share—basic .. .........oouiitriiii i e i e $ 018 $ 1.19 § 1.65
Netincome per share—diluted ....... ... .. .. i $ 018 $ 118 § 1.65
Weighted average shares outstanding—basic ................ ... ... .o i 2,884,950 2,884,396 2,908,371
Weighted average shares outstanding—diluted ...................... ... .. .. e 2,845966 2,889,016 2,914,352

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ECB BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009, 2008 AND 2007

(Dollars in thousands)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Nt ICOMIE . vttt ettt ettt et e e e

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation ............. ..
Amortization of premium on investment securities,net . ............ .. ...
Provision for loanlosses ........... ... .. . .
Deferred income taxes . ...ttt e
(Gain) loss on sale of SeCUTItIES ... ... ovtn
Impairment charge on community bank trust services investment .............
Stock based compensation ........ ... ... o o
Loss on sale of real estate and repossessions acquired in settlement of loans . . . ..
Loss on disposal of premises and equipment .................... ... ...,
(Increase) decrease in accrued interest receivable ..........................
Income from bank owned life insurance ........... ... ... i,
(Increase) decrease in other assets . . ...ttt
(Decrease) increase in accrued interest payable . ...........................
Decrease in other liabilities ............. ... . i

Net cash provided by operating activities ...............................

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sales of investment securities classified as available-for-sale ... .....
Proceeds from maturities of investment securities classified as available-for-sale . ..
Purchases of investment securities classified as available-for-sale ................
Purchase of Federal Home Loan Bank commonstock.........................
Proceeds from disposal of premises and equipment . .................. ... ..
Purchases of premises and equipment . . . ........... ... o oo
Purchase of real estate in settlement of foreclosed property ....................
Proceeds from disposal of real estate and repossessions acquired in settlement of
J0anS . .
Net loan originations . . ... ...ttt e

Net cash used in investing activities . .. ............. ...,

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net increase in deposits .. ....... ...
Net increase (decrease) in borrowings . ........... ... ... i
Dividends paid to common shareholders ................... ... ... ...
Dividends paid on preferred stock . . ........ .. .. oo
Repurchase of common stock ........... ... ... o oo
Net proceeds from stock options exercised . .................. ... ... ... ...
Net proceeds from issuance of preferred stock and warrant to purchase common
StOCK .

Net cash provided by financing activities . ....................oooeeun...

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ...............................
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year ................................

Cash and cash equivalentsatendofyear.................. ... ... .. o L

Years Ended December 31,
2009 2008 2007
$ 1502 $ 3419 $ 4812
1,351 1,342 1,470
940 110 43
11,100 2,450 (99)
(3,918) (746) (1)
(2,565) (218) 161
37 100 90
85 212 205
1,156 93 20
15 23 11
(304) (207) 163
(310) (316) (289)
(4,010) 1,037 (380)
(1,768) 364 162
(13) (1,737) (280)
3,298 5,926 6,088
120,310 34,839 12,143
55,613 28,580 10,418
(227.680) (120,907) (20,376)
(1,257) (1,477)  (1,153)
12 — —_—
(970) (2,652) (2,889)
— (145) —
2,801 223 187
(51,937) (89,069) (36,831)
(103,108) (150,608) (38,501)
125578 102,791 14,112
(39,806) 40,542 2,069
(2,078) (2,096) (2,028)
(745) — -
— (1,759) (31)
23 —_ 237
17,850 — —
100,822 139,478 14,359
1,012 (5,204) (18,054)
16,799 22,003 40,057
$ 17,811 $ 16,799 $ 22,003

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ECB BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS, continued

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009, 2008 AND 2007
(Dollars in thousands)

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NONCASH FINANCING AND INVESTING
ACTIVITIES
Unrealized gains on available-for-sale securities, net of deferredtaxes ................

Transfer from long-term to short-term borrowings ...
Cash dividends declared but not paid . ...... ...
Investment in SBIC transferred from other assets to available-for-sale securities .. .....
Redemption of trust preferred common stock . ...... ...
Transfer from loans to real estate and repossessions acquired in settlement of loans . .. . .
Record postretirement benefit related to split-dollar insurance .....................
Payable, settlement for securities purchased . . ...

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Interest Paid . ... ... ..t

Taxes PAIA © .« v .ottt e e

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Years Ended December 31,

2009

2008

2007

$ (205) $ 1,722

$ 871

$ —

$ —

$ 519

$ 511

$ —

$ 1,000

$ —

$ 310

$ 3,829

$ 33

$ 387

$ —

$53,426

$ —

$15,925

$18,461

$19,273

$ 3,455

$ 1,905

$ 1,570




ECB BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2009 and 2008

(1) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(A) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of ECB Bancorp, Inc. (Bancorp) and its wholly owned
subsidiary, The East Carolina Bank (the Bank) (collectively referred to hereafter as the Company). The Bank has one
wholly-owned subsidiary, ECB Financial Services, Inc., which formerly provided courier services to the Bank but is
currently inactive. All significant inter-company transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.

(B) Basis of Financial Statement Presentation

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the balance sheets and the reported
amounts of income and expenses for the periods presented. Actual results could differ significantly from those estimates.

Material estimates that are particularly susceptible to significant change in the near-term relate to the determination
of the allowance for loan losses and the valuation of the deferred tax asset.

(C) Business

Bancorp is a bank holding company incorporated in North Carolina on March 4, 1998. The principal activity of
Bancorp is ownership of the Bank. The Bank provides financial services through its branch network located in eastern
North Carolina. The Bank competes with other financial institutions and numerous other non-financial services
commercial entities offering financial services products. The Bank is further subject to the regulations of certain federal
and state agencies and undergoes periodic examinations by those regulatory authorities. The Company has no foreign
operations, and the Company’s customers are principally located in eastern North Carolina.

(D) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include demand and time deposits (with original maturities of ninety days or less) at other
financial institutions and overnight investments. Overnight investments include federal funds sold which are generally
outstanding for one-day periods.

(E) Investment Securities

Certain debt securities that management has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are classified as “held
to maturity” and recorded at amortized cost. Trading securities are recorded at fair value with changes in fair value
included in earnings. Securities not classified as held to maturity or trading, including equity securities with readily
determinable fair values, are classified as “available for sale” and recorded at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses
excluded from earnings and reported in other comprehensive income.

Purchase premiums and discounts are recognized in interest income using the interest method over the terms of the
securities. Declines in the fair value of held-to-maturity and available-for-sale securities below their cost that are deemed
to be other than temporary are reflected in earnings as realized losses. In determining whether other-than-temporary
impairment exists, management considers many factors, including (1) the length of time and the extent to which the fair
value has been less than cost, (2) the financial condition and near-term prospects of the issuer, and (3) the intent and
ability of the Company to retain its investment in the issuer for a period of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated
recovery in fair value. Gains and losses on the sale of securities are recorded on the trade date and are determined using
the specific identification method.
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ECB BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
DECEMBER 31, 2009 and 2008

(F) Loans

Loans are generally stated at their outstanding unpaid principal balances adjusted for charge-offs, the allowance for
loan losses and any deferred fees or costs. Loan origination fees net of certain direct loan origination costs are deferred
and amortized as a yield adjustment over the contractual life of the related loans using the level-yield method.

Impaired loans are defined as those which management believes it is probable we will not collect all amounts due
according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement, as well as those loans whose terms have been modified in a
troubled debt restructuring.

Interest on loans is recorded based on the principal amount outstanding. The Company ceases accruing interest on
loans (including impaired loans) when, in management’s judgment, the collection of interest appears doubtful or the loan
is past due 90 days or more. All interest accrued but not collected for loans that are placed on nonaccrual or charged off is
reversed against interest income. The interest on these loans is accounted for on the cash-basis or cost-recovery method,
until qualifying for return to accrual. Management may return a loan classified as nonaccrual to accrual status when the
obligation has been brought current, has performed in accordance with its contractual terms over an extended period of
time, and the ultimate collectability of the total contractual principal and interest is no longer in doubt.

(G) Allowance for Loan Losses

The allowance for loan losses (AFLL) is established through provisions for losses charged against income. Loan
amounts deemed to be uncollectible are charged against the AFLL, and subsequent recoveries, if any, are credited to the
allowance. The AFLL represents management’s estimate of the amount necessary to absorb estimated probable losses in
the loan portfolio. Management's periodic evaluation of the adequacy of the allowance is based on individual loan reviews,
past loan loss experience, economic conditions in the Company’s market areas, the fair value and adequacy of underlying
collateral, and the growth and loss attributes of the loan portfolio. This evaluation is inherently subjective as it requires
material estimates, including the amounts and timing of future cash flows expected to be received on impaired loans that
may be susceptible to significant change. Thus, future changes to the AFLL may be necessary based on the impact of
changes in economic conditions. In addition, various regulatory agencies, as an integral part of their examination process,
periodically review the Company’s AFLL. Such agencies may require the Company to recognize adjustments to the AFLL
based on their judgments about information available to them at the time of their examination.

The AFLL related to loans that are identified for evaluation and deemed impaired is based on discounted cash flows
using the loan’s initial effective interest rate, the loan’s observable market price, or the fair value of the collateral for
collateral dependent loans. Another component of the AFLL covers non-impaired loans and is based on historical loss
experience adjusted for qualitative factors. An unallocated component is also maintained to cover uncertainties that could
affect management’s estimate of probable losses. The unallocated component of the allowance reflects the margin of
imprecision inherent in the underlying assumptions used in the methodologies for estimating specific and general losses in
the portfolio.

(H) Real Estate and Repossessions Acquired in Settlement of Loans

Real estate acquired in settlement of loans consists of property acquired through a foreclosure proceeding or
acceptance of a deed-in-lieu of foreclosure. Real estate acquired in settlement of loans is recorded initially at estimated
fair value of the property less estimated selling costs at the date of foreclosure. The initial recorded value may be
subsequently reduced by additional allowances, which are charged to earnings if the estimated fair value of the property
less estimated selling costs declines below the initial recorded value. Costs related to the improvement of the property are
capitalized, whereas those related to holding the property are expensed. Such properties are held for sale and, accordingly,
no depreciation or amortization expense is recognized. Repossessions are recorded at the lower of cost or market.
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(I) Membership/Investment in Federal Home Loan Bank Stock

The Company is a member of the Federal Home Loan Bank of Atlanta (FHLB). Membership, along with a signed
blanket collateral agreement, provided the Company with the ability to draw $177.7 million and $168.4 million of
advances from the FHLB at December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively. At December 31, 2009 and 2008, the Company
had outstanding advances totaling $41.0 million and $60.0 million, respectively, from the FHLB.

As a requirement for membership, the Company invests in stock of the FHLB in the amount of 1% of its outstanding
residential loans or 5% of its outstanding advances from the FHLB, whichever is greater. Such stock is pledged as
collateral for any FHLB advances drawn by the Company. At December 31, 2009 and 2008, the Company owned 51,160
and 38,591 shares, respectively, of the FHLB’s $100 par value capital stock. No ready market exists for such stock, which
is carried at cost. Due to the redemption provisions of the FHLB, cost approximates market value.

(J) Premises and Equipment

Land is carried at cost. Buildings and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is
computed by the straight-line method and is charged to operations over the estimated useful lives of the assets which
range from 25 to 50 years for bank premises and 3 to 10 years for furniture and equipment. Construction in progress
includes buildings and equipment carried at cost and depreciated once placed into service.

Maintenance, repairs, renewals and minor improvements are charged to expense as incurred. Major improvements
are capitalized and depreciated.

(K) Short-Term Borrowings

Short-term borrowings consist of securities sold under agreements to repurchase, overnight sweep accounts, federal
funds purchased and short-term FHLB advances.

(L) Long-Term Obligations

Long-term obligations consist of advances from FHLB with maturities greater than one year. Our long-term
borrowing from the FHLB totaled $21.0 million on December 31, 2009, compared to $26.0 million long-term FHLB

advances on December 31, 2008.

(M) Income Taxes

The Company records income taxes using the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred income taxes
are determined based on temporary differences between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities and
gives current recognition to changes in tax rates and laws.

Tax positions are analyzed in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and are discussed in Note 6.
Interest recognized as a result of our analysis of tax positions would be classified as interest expense. Penalties would be
classified as noninterest expense.

(N) Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred.
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(0) Stock Option Plan

The Company recognizes compensation cost relating to share-based payment transactions in the financial statements
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. The cost is measured based on the fair value of the equity or
liability instruments issued. The expense measures the cost of employee services received in exchange for stock options
based on the grant-date fair value of the award, and recognizes the cost over the period the employee is required to
provide services for the award.

During 2008, the Company adopted the 2008 Omnibus Equity Plan (the Plan) which replaced the expired 1998
Omnibus Stock Ownership and Long-Term Incentive Plan. The Plan provides for the issuance of up to an aggregate of
900,000 shares of common stock of the Company in the form of stock options, restricted stock awards and performance
share awards. It is the Company’s policy to issue new shares to satisfy option exercises. Stock options generally vest
one-third each year beginning three years after the grant date and expire after 10 years. However, certain grants vest
one-third each year, beginning one year after the grant date. Restricted stock generally vests one-third each year
beginning three years after the grant date.

(P) Net Income Per Share

Basic net income per share is calculated by dividing net income available to common shareholders by the weighted-
average number of common shares outstanding during the period. For purposes of basic net income per share, unvested
restricted stock is considered “contingently issuable” and is not included in the weighted average number of common
shares outstanding.

Diluted net income per share is computed by assuming the issuance of common shares for all dilutive potential
common shares outstanding during the reporting period. Restricted stock is considered outstanding for purposes of
diluted net income per share. The amount of compensation cost attributed to future services and not yet recognized is
considered “proceeds” using the treasury stock method. Restricted stock had no affect on diluted weighted-average shares
outstanding for the year ended December 31, 2009. Diluted weighted-average shares outstanding increased 2 thousand
and 6 thousand shares for 2008 and 2007, respectively, due to the dilutive impact of restricted stock.

In computing diluted net income per share, it is assumed that all dilutive stock options are exercised during the
reporting period at their respective exercise prices, with the proceeds from the exercises used by the Company to buy
back stock in the open market at the average market price in effect during the reporting period. The difference between
the number of shares assumed to be exercised and the number of shares bought back is added to the number of weighted-
average common shares outstanding during the period. The sum is used as the denominator to calculate diluted net
income per share for the Company. Diluted weighted-average shares outstanding increased by 1 thousand and 3 thousand
shares for 2009 and 2008, respectively, due to the dilutive impact of options. Options had no affect on diluted weighted-
average shares for the year ended December 31, 2007. As of December 31, 2009 the warrant, covering approximately
145 thousand shares, issued to the U.S. Treasury Department was not included in the computation of net income per
share for the period because its exercise price exceeded the average market price of the Company’s stock for the period.

The following is a reconciliation of the numerators and denominators used in computing basic and diluted net
income per share.

Year Ended December 31, 2009

Per
Income Shares Share
(Numerator) (Denominator) Amount
(Amounts in thousands, except per share data)
Basic net income pershare .......... ... .o $499 2,845 $0.18
Effect of dilutive securities .. ........ovveerneriieieerinns — 1
Diluted net income pershare ............. .. ... .o $499 2,846 $0.18
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At December 31, 2009, there were 54 thousand options outstanding and a warrant covering 145 thousand shares
with an exercise price above the average market value of the Company’s stock for the period.

Year Ended December 31, 2008

Per

Income Shares Share
(Numerator) (Denominator) Amount
(Amounts in thousands, except per share data)
Basic netincome pershare ............... ... ... oo $3,419 2,884 $1.19
Effect of dilutive securities ..................cciiiriiiiinn... — 5
Diluted netincome pershare ................................ $3,419 2,889 $1.18

At December 31, 2008, there were 54 thousand options outstanding with an exercise price above the average
market value of the Company’s stock for the period.

Year Ended December 31, 2007

P
Income Shares Sh::e
(Numerator) (Denominator) Amount
(Amounts in thousands, except per share data)
Basic netincome pershare ............. .. ... ... . $4,812 2,908 $1.65
Effect of dilutive securities . ................uuuurrreunnnnnnn. — 6
Diluted netincome pershare ................................ $4.812 2,914 $1.65

At December 31, 2007, there were 17 thousand options outstandmg with an exercise price above the average
market value of the Company’s stock for the period.

Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income is defined as the change in equity during a period for non-owner transactions and is divided

into net income and other comprehensive income (loss). Other comprehensive income (loss) includes revenues, expenses,
gains, and losses that are excluded from earnings under current accounting standards. The components of other
comprehensive income (loss) included in comprehensive income for the periods presented are as follows (dollars in

thousands):
2009 2008 2007
Unrealized gains arising during the period ... ............ ... . ... ... ...... $2232 $3,018 $1,256
Tax @Xpense .. ..... ...t (860) (1,163) (484)
Reclassification to realized (gains) losses ...........................ia... (2,565) (218) 161
Tax (benefit) expense .. ...t 988 85 (62)
Other comprehensive income (10ss) ............coviiiiiii i, $ (205) $ 1,722 $ 871
(R) Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified in the consolidated financial statements to conform with the

current year presentation. The reclassifications had no effect on previously reported net income or shareholders’ equity.
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(S) New Accounting Pronouncements
The following is a summary of recent authoritative pronouncements:

In June 2009, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB) issued guidance which restructured generally
accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) and simplified access to all authoritative literature by providing a single source
of authoritative nongovernmental GAAP. The guidance is presented in a topically organized structure referred to as the
FASB Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”). The new structure is effective for interim or annual periods ending
after September 15, 2009. All existing accounting standards have been superseded and all other accounting literature not
included is considered nonauthoritative.

The FASB issued new accounting guidance on accounting for transfers of financial assets in June 2009. The guidance
limits the circumstances in which a financial asset should be derecognized when the transferor has not transferred the
entire financial asset by taking into consideration the transferor’s continuing involvement. The standard requires that a
transferor recognize and initially measure at fair value all assets obtained (including a transferor’s beneficial interest) and
liabilities incurred as a result of a transfer of financial assets accounted for as a sale. The concept of a qualifying special-
purpose entity is no longer applicable. The standard is effective for the first annual reporting period that begins after
November 15, 2009, for interim periods within the first annual reporting period, and for interim and annual reporting
periods thereafter. Earlier application is prohibited. The Company does not expect the guidance to have any impact on
the Company’s financial statements. The ASC was amended in December, 2009, to include this guidance.

New guidance was issued in December 2008, on an employer’s disclosures about plan assets of a defined benefit
pension or other postretirement plan to provide the users of financial statements with an understanding of: (a) how
investment allocation decisions are made, including the factors that are pertinent to an understanding of investment
policies and strategies; (b) the major categories of plan assets; (c) the inputs and valuation techniques used to measure the
fair value of plan assets; (d) the effect of fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) on
changes in plan assets for the period; and (e) significant concentrations of risk within plan assets. The guidance was
effective for the Company for the year ended December 31, 2009 but had no effect on the consolidated financial
statements as there were no assets in the Company’s plan.

In January 2010, guidance was issued to alleviate diversity in the accounting for distributions to shareholders that
allow the shareholder to elect to receive their entire distribution in cash or shares but with a limit on the aggregate
amount of cash to be paid. The amendment states that the stock portion of a distribution to shareholders that allows them
to elect to receive cash or shares with a potential limitation on the total amount of cash that all shareholders can elect to
receive in the aggregate is considered a share issuance. The amendment is effective for interim and annual periods ending
on or after December 15, 2009 and had no impact on the Company’s financial statements.

Also in January 2010, an amendment was issued to clarify the scope of subsidiaries for consolidation purposes. The
amendment provides that the decrease in ownership guidance should apply to (1) a subsidiary or group of assets that is a
business or nonprofit activity, (2) a subsidiary that is a business or nonprofit activity that is transferred to an equity method
investee or joint venture, and (3) an exchange of a group of assets that constitutes a business or nonprofit activity for a
noncontrolling interest in an entity. The guidance does not apply to a decrease in ownership in transactions related to sales
of in substance real estate or conveyances of oil and gas mineral rights. The update is effective for the interim or annual
reporting periods ending on or after December 15, 2009 and had no impact on the Company’s financial statements.

Other accounting standards that have been issued or proposed by the FASB or other standards-setting bodies are not
expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

(T) Subsequent Events

In preparing these financial statements, the Company has evaluated events and transactions for potential recognition
or disclosure through the date the consolidated financial statements were issued.
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(2) INVESTMENT SECURITIES

The following is a summary of the securities portfolio by major classification (dollars in thousands):

December 31, 2009

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value
Securities available-for-sale:
Government-sponsored enterprises and FFCB bonds ............. $ 36,141 $ 69 $ (367) $ 35,843
Obligations of states and political subdivisions ................... 45,242 997 (217) 46,022
Mortgage-backed securities ............ .. ... . oo 149,167 2,203 (569) 150,801
Corporate Bonds . ...t 6,044 — (184) 5,860
Equity securities .......... ... ... i 1,000 — (194) 806
$237,594 $3,269 $(1,531) $239,332
December 31, 2008
Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Securities available-for-sale:
Government-sponsored enterprises and FFCB bonds ............. $ 28,899 $ 633 $ (8) $ 29,524
Obligations of states and political subdivisions ................... 33,434 306 (531) 33,209
Mortgage-backed securities ............ ... . ... o ool 167,250 2,163 (5) 169,408
Corporate Bonds .. ....... ..o 7,055 9 (176) 6,888
Equity SECUIities ... .....ovvuuruit it 1,000 — (320) 680
$237,638 $3,111 $(1,040) $239,709

Gross realized gains and losses on sales of securities for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 were as
follows (dollars in thousands):

2009 2008 2007

Grossrealized gains .. ........ ... ... i i $2579 $256 $ 10
Grossrealizedlosses ......... ... 0. . . 0 i (14) (38) (171)
Net realized (losses) gains .. ........c..ootiitiiii i, $2,565 $218 $(161)

At December 31, 2008, the Company had $53 million of mortgage-backed securities with a December trade date but
a settlement date subsequent to year-end. In accordance with SOP 01-6, “Accounting by Certain Entities (Including
Entities with Trade Receivables) that Lend to or Finance the Activities of Others,” the securities were recorded as of the
trade date with a corresponding liability recognized as of December 31, 2008.

Impairment of Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities. The following tables set forth the amount
of unrealized losses at December 31, 2009 and 2008 (that is, the amount by which cost or amortized cost exceeds fair
value), and the related fair value of investments with unrealized losses, none of which are considered to be other-than-
temporarily impaired. The tables are segregated into investments that have been in a continuous unrealized-loss position
for less than 12 months from those that have been in a continuous unrealized-loss position for 12 months or longer (dollars

in thousands).
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December 31, 2009

Less Than 12 Months 12 Months or longer Total
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses
Government-sponsored enterprises and FFCB
bonds . ..o $18,431 $ 367 $ — $— $18,431 $ 367
Obligations of states and political subdivisions ........ 7,315 96 3,118 121 10,433 217
Mortgage-backed securities ....................... 56,459 568 102 1 56,561 569
Corporatebonds . ...... ... 3,354 154 2,505 30 5,859 184
Equity securities ............. ... — — 806 194 806 194
Total ..o e $85,559  $1,185  $6,531 $346 $92.090  $1,531
December 31, 2008
Less Than 12 Months 12 Months or longer Total
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses
Government—sponsored enterprises and FFCB
bonds . ..o $ 3,989 $ 8 $ — $— $ 398 $ 8
Obligations of states and political subdivisions ........ 9,025 490 2,520 41 11,545 531
Mortgage-backed securities ............ .. ... 2,989 — 1,117 5 4,106 5
Corporate bonds . ...... ... 2,363 176 — — 2,363 176
Equity securities . ... — — 680 320 680 320
Total .. $18,366 $674 $4,317 $366 $22.683  $1,040

As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, management has concluded that the unrealized losses presented above are
temporary in nature since they are not related to the underlying credit quality of the issuers, and the Company has the
intent and ability to hold these investments for a time necessary to recover their cost. The losses above, except for equity
securities, are on debt securities that have contractual maturity dates and are primarily related to market interest rates.
Losses on obligations of states and political subdivisions are also related to lack of liquidity and demand in the general
investment market. All unrealized losses on investment securities are not considered to be other-than-temporary, because
they are related to changes in interest rates, lack of liquidity and demand in the general investment market and do not
affect the expected cash flows of the underlying collateral or the issuer. The Bank’s mortgage-backed securities are all
backed by government sponsored enterprises or agencies. The Bank does not own any private label mortgage-backed
securities.

During the first quarter of 2007, Triangle Mezzanine converted from a privately held SBIC to a publicly traded entity
called Triangle Capital Corporation (“TCAP”). As a result, the Bank reclassified the asset as an equity security in the
investment portfolio with no gain or loss on the transaction since the proceeds to the Bank equaled its initial cost of the
investment. Although TCAP’s stock price traded below it carrying price of $15 per share during the past year, it did report
a $2.3 million increase in net investment income to $10.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2009
compared to $7.7 million for the same period in 2008. TCAP also continued to increase its year over year quarterly
dividend by announcing a $0.41 dividend for the fourth quarter of 2009, a 2.5% increase over the same period in 2008.
This resulted in a dividend yield of over thirteen percent on an annualized basis as of December 31, 2009 and a book yield
of eleven percent. TCAP’s stock price had an 18.5% improvement as of December 31, 2009 compared to its closing price
on December 31, 2008. Based upon the analysis performed and the Bank’s ability and intent to hold the investment for a
reasonable period of time sufficient for a forecasted recovery of fair value, the Bank does not consider the investment to
be other-than-temporarily impaired.
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At December 31, 2009 and December 30, 2008, the balance of Federal Home Loan Bank (“FHLB”) of Atlanta stock
held by the Company was $5.1 million and $3.9 million, respectively. On November 2, 2009, FHLB paid a dividend for
the third quarter of 2009 of 0.41%. The FHLB also announced that it would not repurchase activity-based excess capital
stock and would continue to evaluate on a quarterly basis whether to repurchase excess capital stock. FHLB stated that
the dividend and excess capital stock repurchase decisions continue to reflect the FHLB conservative financial
management approach in light of continued volatility in the financial markets. Management believes that its investment in
FHLB stock was not other-than-temporarily impaired as of December 31, 2009 or December 31, 2008. However, there
can be no assurance that the impact of recent or future legislation on the Federal Home Loan Banks will not also cause a

decrease in the value of the FHLB stock held by the Company.

The aggregate amortized cost and fair value of the available-for-sale securities portfolio at December 31, 2009 by

remaining contractual maturity are as follows (dollars in thousands):

Amortized Fair
Cost Value
Government-sponsored enterprises and FFCB bonds:
Due in one through fiveyears . ................. ... .. ... ... IR $ 7152 $ 7,166
Due in five through tenyears ......... ... ... ... .. . . . 20,610 20,392
Due after ten years ... ........uuuiiuiiit it 8,379 8,285
Obligations of states and political subdivisions:
Dueinoneyearorless ..........ooiiiiie i 870 876
Dueinone throughfiveyears............. ... ... ... . i 7,006 7,343
Due in five through tenyears ......... ... ... ... .. . i 17,997 18,448
Due after ten years ......... ...ttt 19,369 19,355
Mortgage-backed securities:
Duein five through tenyears .......... ..., 14,447 14,802
Due after te yEars ... ....... ...ttt 134,720 135,999
Corporate Bonds:
Due in five through tenyears .......... .. ... ... . . 6,044 5,860
Equity securities:
Dueaftertenyears .............oiniiitiii i 1,000 806
Total SecUrities . . ... ..ot $237,594 $239,332

Securities with an amortized cost of $142.4 million at December 31, 2009 are pledged as collateral. Of this total,

amortized cost of $55.6 million and fair value of $56.6 million are pledged as collateral for FHLB advances.
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(3) LOANS
Loans at December 31, 2009 and 2008 classified by type are as follows (dollars in thousands):

2009 2008
Real estate loans:
Construction and land development .. ........... ..o $126,032 $132,703
Secured by farmland ... ... ... 25,025 25,693
Secured by residential properties .. ... 110,754 99,966
Secured by nonfarm, nonresidential properties ............ ... 199,501 173,524
Consumer installlment . .. ..ottt e 4,243 5,019
Credit cards and related plans . . . ... 2,452 2,214
Commercial and all other loans:
Commercial and industrial . ... ... e 65,949 58,718
Loans to finance agricultural production .............. ..o 25,481 22,962
AlL Other I0a1mS .« o v oot e e e e e e e e e 18,626 18,240
578,063 539,039
Less deferred fees and COSES, Bt . ..o o v ettt 272 203

$577,791  $538,836

Included in the above:
Nonacerual J0AMS . . . ot e e e e e e e $ 13344 $ 9,957

Restructured JOAns . . . oottt e et et e e e e 1,353 24

‘At December 31, 2009, the recorded investment in loans that are considered to be impaired is $23.9 million; of this
total, $8.7 million had allowance for loan losses allocated to these loans in the amount of $2.0 million. At December 31,
2009 $5.8 million of the recorded investment in impaired loans were loans that were written down through partial charge-
offs of $3.1 million and therefore did not require allocated reserves. At December 31, 2008, the recorded investment in
loans that were considered to be impaired was $16.5 million; of this total, $14.5 million had allowance for loan losses
allocated to these loans in the. amount of $1.8 million. At December 31, 2008 there were no impaired loans that were
written down through partial charge-offs and therefore did not require allocated reserves.

The average recorded investment in loans that are considered to be impaired during the year ended December 31,
2009 is $21.9 million. For the year ended December 31, 2009, the Company recognized approximately $0.3 million of
interest income on impaired loans.

The average recorded investment in loans that were considered to be impaired during the year ended December 31,
2008 was $10.7 million. For the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company recognized approximately $0.5 million of
interest income on impaired loans.

The Company, through its normal lending activity, originates and maintains loans receivable that are substantially
concentrated in the Eastern region of North Carolina, where its offices are located. The Company’s policy calls for
collateral or other forms of repayment assurance to be received from the borrower at the time of loan origination. Such
collateral or other form of repayment assurance is subject to changes in economic value due to various factors beyond the
control of the Company, and such changes could be significant.

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, included in mortgage, commercial, and residential loans were loans collateralized
by owner-occupied residential real estate of approximately $54.0 million and $53.4 million, respectively.

Loans of approximately $39.1 million at December 31, 2009 are pledged as eligible collateral for FHLB advances.
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(4) ALLOWANCE FOR LOAN LOSSES
An analysis of the allowance for loan losses for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 follows (dollars in
thousands):
December 31,
2009 2008 2007
Beginning balance ........... ... . . $ 5,931 $4,083 $4,725
Provision forloanlosses .......... ... ... . 11,100 2,450 (99)
ReCOVEIIES . . v\t 260 97 94
Loans charged off ...... ... . .. .. .. . . . (7,566)  (699)  (637)
Endingbalance ............ .. . $ 9,725 $5,931 $4,083
(3) BANK PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT
The components of bank premises and equipment at December 31, 2009 and 2008 are as follows (dollars in
thousands):
Accumulated Undepreciated
Cost Depreciation ost
December 31, 2009:
Land ... $10,036 $ — $10,036
Land improvements . . ................ooiiiiiiii . 280 188 92
Buildings ............ 17,492 4,866 12,626
Construction in progress . ..............oviiiieiiiniiiii.an. 617 — 617
Furniture and equipment . ................................. 6,399 4,441 1,958
Total ..o $34,824 $9,495 $25.329
December 31, 2008:
Land ... o $10,036 $ — $10,036
Land improvements . . .............outitiiiiiii i 260 177 83
Buildings ............................................... 17,492 4,300 13,192
Construction in progress ............ ..o, 188 — 188
Furniture and equipment . ..................... ... .. ..., .. 6,268 4,030 2,238
Total ... $34,244 $8,507 $25.737
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(6) INCOME TAXES

The components of income tax expense (benefit) are as follows (dollars in thousands):

Current Deferred®  Total

Year ended December 31, 2009:
Federal ... e e $2,863  $(3,455) $ (592)
SEALE .« v ot e e e e 698 (463) 235

$3,561  $(3,918) $ (357)

Year ended December 31, 2008:
Federal . ..o e $1,113  § (684) $ 429
A+ vt e e e e e e 213 (62) 151

$1,326 § (746) $ 580

Year ended December 31, 2007:
Federal ..o $1457 $ (22) 81,435
A .« oo e e e 221 21 242

$1,678 $ (1) $1677

*  Included in deferred tax is release of valuation allowance adjustment of $62 thousand for year ending December 31, 2009, $230 thousand for year
ending December 31, 2008 and $165 thousand for year ending December 31, 2007.

Total income tax expense was less than the amount computed by applying the federal income tax rate of 34% to
income before income taxes. The reasons for the difference were as follows (dollars in thousands):

Years ended December 31,
2009 2008 2007

Income taxes at StAtULOTY TALE ... ..o\ttt $ 389 $1.360 $2,206

Increase (decrease) resulting from:
Effect of non-taxable interest income . .......coiier i (548) (493)  (437)
Decrease in valuation allowance . .........v vt (62) (230)  (165)
Bank owned ife insurance . ... ...t e (105) (108) (98)
State taxes, net of federal benefit . ........ ... ... ..o 155 99 160
CAHEC tax credits . . oo ottt it e e et e (144) (122) (57)
OhET, NEL oottt et (42) 74 68

Applicable INCOME taXes . ... ... oouiu it $(357) $ 580 81,677
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The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities at December 31, 2009 and 2008 are presented below (dollars in thousands):

2009 2008

Deferred tax assets:

Allowance forloan loSses . .. . ...t $3,749 $2,286
Unrealized loss associated with FNMA and FHLMC preferred stock ................. 43 105
Postretirement benefits ... ......... ... 282 271
Unfunded postretirement benefits ............. ... ... .. ... .. 11 19
Bank premises and equipment, principally due to differences in depreciation .......... 49 —
Other o 1,254 1,286
Total gross deferred tax assets . ... $5,388 $3,967
Valuation allowance ... ...........ooiii (43)  (105)
Total net deferred tax assets . ... 5345 3,862
Deferred tax liabilities:
Bank premises and equipment, principally due to differences in depreciation .......... — 2423
Unrealized gains on securities available forsale . .................................. 669 798
Other .o 171 176
Total gross deferred tax liabilities ................... ... .. ... .. ........... 840 3,397
Net deferred tax asset ... ...t $4,505 $ 465

The valuation allowance for deferred tax assets was $43 thousand at December 31, 2009 and $105 thousand at
December 31, 2008. The valuation allowance required at December 31, 2009 and 2008 was for certain capital losses
related to perpetual preferred stock issued by Federal National Mortgage Association and Federal Home Loan Mortgage
Corporation. These losses are capital in character and the corporation may not have current capital gain capacity to offset
these losses. In order for these capital losses to be realized, the Company would need capital gains to offset them.

During 2009 and 2008, the Company recognized capital gains which decreased the valuation allowance. However the
Company does not have plans in place to generate any capital gains in the future. Accordingly, it is more likely than not
that these capital losses will fail to be realized and a valuation allowance is required on this portion of the deferred tax
asset.

Based on the Company’s historical and current earnings, management believes it is more likely than not the
Company will realize the benefits of the deferred tax assets which are not provided for under the valuation allowance.

The Company has analyzed the tax positions taken or expected to be taken in its tax returns and concluded it has no
liability related to uncertain tax positions. Years ended December 31, 2006 through December 31, 2008 remain open for
audit for all major jurisdictions.

During 2008, the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) conducted an audit of the Bank’s 2005 consolidated federal income
tax return. As a result of the examination, management determined that the tax depreciation deduction was overstated.
The increase in taxes owed was approximately $1.3 million. Income tax returns for 2006 and 2007 were also adjusted for
the depreciation difference. Additional taxes for those years were approximately $316 thousand. Interest associated with
the additional tax liability for the years 2005, 2006 and 2007 was approximately $380 thousand and has been paid during
2008 and 2009. There were no penalties assessed by the IRS.
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(7)  BORROWED FUNDS

Borrowed funds and the corresponding weighted average rates (WAR) at December 31, 2009 and 2008 are
summarized as follows (dollars in thousands):

2009 WAR 2008 WAR

Federal Funds Purchased . ...... .. i $ — — % $13,000 0.48%
SWEEP ACCOUILS .+ .+ v v v e eve e e e e et 2910 1.00 4416 0.99
Advances from FHLB ... oottt 20,000 0.81 34,000 2.75
Repurchase AETEETNENES . ..\ o vttt et et - = 6,300 ﬂS_
Total short-term borrowings . ............cooeoriiiiiaae . 22,910 0.84 57,716 2.29
Advances from FHILB .. ..ot e 21,000 3.22 26,000 3.10
Total long-term obligations . ..., 21,000 3.22 26,000 3.10
Total borrowed funds .. ... oo e $43910 1.98% $83,716 2.54%

The following table details the maturities and rates of our long-term borrowings from the FHLB, as of December 31,
2009.

Borrow Date Type Principal Term Rate Maturity
(Dollars in thousands)
March 12,2008 ... ... . it Fixedrate $6,500 3 years 2.89 March 14, 2011
February 29,2008 ......... ... ... .......0. Fixedrate 5,000 4 years 3.18 February 29, 2012
March 12,2008 ........ ... ....... U Fixed rate 2,000 4 years 3.25 March 12, 2012
March 12,2008 .. ... i Fixedrate 7,500 5 years 3.54 March 12, 2013

Pursuant to a collateral agreement with the FHLB, advances are collateralized by all the Company’s FHLB stock and
qualifying first mortgage loans. The eligible residential 1-4 family first mortgage loans as of December 31, 2009, were
$39.1 million. This agreement with the FHLB provides for a line of credit up to 20% of the Bank’s assets. In addition, the
Bank had $56.6 million of investment securities held as collateral by the FHLB on advances as of December 31, 2009.
The maximum month end balances were $107.0 million, $80.0 million and $28.0 million during the years ended
December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

The Company has established various credit facilities to provide additional liquidity if and as needed. These include
unsecured lines of credit with correspondent banks totaling $36.0 million.

The Company enters into agreements with customers to transfer excess funds in demand accounts into repurchase
agreements. Under the repurchase agreement, the Company sells the customer an interest in government-sponsored
enterprise securities. The customer’s interest in the underlying security shall be repurchased by the Company at the
opening of the next banking day. The rate paid fluctuates with the weekly average federal funds rate minus 125 basis
points and has a floor of 50 basis points. Securities with a fair value of $8.0 million secured repurchase agreements as of
December 31, 2009.

(8) RETIREMENT PLANS AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Company has a defined contribution 401(k) plan that covers all eligible employees. The Company matches
employee contributions up to certain amounts as defined in the plan. Total expense related to this plan was $414
thousand, $391 thousand and $314 thousand in 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The Company also has a
postretirement benefit plan whereby the Company pays postretirement health care benefits for certain of its retirees that
have met minimum age and service requirements.

72



ECB BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
DECEMBER 31, 2009 and 2008

In 2002, the Company adopted a supplemental executive retirement plan to provide benefits for members of
management and directors. The liability was calculated by discounting the anticipated future cash flows for the years
ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 at 6.25% and 5.75%. The liability accrued for this obligation was $2.3 million and
$2.1 million at December 31, 2009 and 2008, respéctively, Charges to income are based on changes in the cash value of
insurance, which funds the liability. The related expense for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 was $216
thousand, $360 thousand and $375 thousand, respectively.

The Company recognizes a liability for the future death benefit provided to certain employees in relation to the
postretirement benefit related to split-dollar life insurance arrangements. A liability of $387 thousand was recorded on
January 1, 2008 through a cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earnings and an additional $68 thousand was expensed
during 2008. During 2009 the Company expensed $18 thousand. The liability amounted to $473 thousand and $455
thousand at December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively. The calculation of the liability is based on the present value of the
post-retirement cost of insurance.

The following tables provide information relating to the Company’s postretirement health care benefit plan using a
measurement date of December 31 (dollars in thousands):

2009 2008
Reconciliation of benefit obligation:
Net benefit obligation, January 1 ....... ... ... .ot $746 $729
SETVICE COSE . . vt vt 5 5
Interest COSt ...\t e - 47 42
Prior service cost ......... R O (8) (7)
Benefit paid ... ... (42) (23)
Net benefit obligation, December 3L ... ... ... ... oiiiiriiii i, - $748  $746
Fairvalue of plan assets .. ......... ... ... . . $—  $—
Funding status and net amount recognized in other liabilities .............................. $748 $746

Net periodic postretirement benefit cost for 2009, 2008 and 2007 includes the following components (dollars in
thousands):

2009 2008 2007

SEIVICE COSE oottt e $5 $5 $5
Interest COSt .. ..ot 47 42 43
Amortization of prior year ServiCe CoSt . .............ouiurieiiiieaniieaan.. ﬁ) £ ) ﬁ)
Net periodic postretirement benefit cost .................................. $44  $40 40
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The following table presents assumptions relating to the plan at December 31, 2009 and 2008:

2009 2008

Discount rate in determining benefit ObHEAtoN . . ...« o.wvee e 53% 6.3%
Annual health care COSt tTENA TALE ... .« ..o venvereeeene e e s 70% 8.0%
Ultimate medical rend Tate . . ... ..o oeeverssneesssmn e 70% 8.0%
Medical trend rate period (in JEATS) . . oo e e e 4 4
Effect of 1% increase in assumed health care cost on:

Service and AEETESt COSE « .+« v nvvr e nnnee s eees st 132% 13.1%

Benefit ODHEAtON .+« oo v e eeecnsss e st 121% 12.2%
Effect of 1% decrease in assumed health care cost on:

Service And IMEETESE COSE -« .« o e neeees s e s s ss s s s (11.0)% (11.0)%

Bemefit ODLEAtIon . .« .. ..o oo eneees s (10.2)% (10.3)%

(9) STOCK OPTION AND RESTRICTED STOCK PLANS

During 2008, the Company adopted the 2008 Omnibus Equity Plan (the Plan) which replaced the expired 1998
Omnibus Stock Ownership and Long-Term Incentive Plan. The Plan provides for the issuance of up to an aggregate of
900,000 shares of common stock of the Company in the form of stock options, restricted stock awards and performance

share awards.

Compensation cost charged to income for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 was approximately $48
thousand and $115 thousand respectively, related to stock options and $37 thousand and $97 thousand, respectively,
related to restricted stock. No income tax benefit was recognized for stock based compensation, as the Company does not
have any outstanding nonqualified stock options.

Stock Options

Stock options may be issued as incentive stock options or as nonqualified stock options. The term of the option will
be established at the time is it granted but shall not exceed ten years. Vesting will also be established at the time the
option is granted. The exercise price may not be less than the fair market value of a share of common stock on the date the
option is granted. It is the Company’s policy to issue new shares of stock to satisfy option exercises.

Restricted Stock Awards

Restricted stock awards are subject to restrictions and the risk of forfeiture if conditions stated in the award
agreement are not satisfied at the end of a restriction period. During the restriction period, restricted stock covered by the
award will be held by the Company. If the conditions stated in the award agreement are satisfied at the end of the
restriction period, the restricted stock will become unrestricted and the certificate evidencing the stock will be delivered

to the employee.
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A summary of the status of stock options as of December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, and changes during the years then
ended, is presented below:

2009 2008 2007
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Option Option Option
Number rice Number rice Number rice
Options outstanding, beginning of year . ................ 59,227  $27.79 58,251 $28.22 61,476 $21.83
Granted ....... ... 0 — — 6,100 2450 16,525 32.60
Exercised . ... (1,892) 11.98 -— — (19,750) 11.98
Expired ... —_ — (5,124) 28.76 — —
Options outstanding, end of year . ..................... 57,335  $28.31 59227 $27.79 58,251 $28.22

The following table summarizes information about the stock options outstanding at December 31, 2009:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted- Weighted-
Number Average Number Weighted- Average

Outstanding  Remaining  Outstanding Average  Remaining
December 31, Contractual December 31, Exercise Contractual

Exercise Price 2009 Life (Years) 2009 Price Life (Years)
$10.00—$13.00 ...... ... 1,960 0.1 1,960 $10.00 0.1
$13.01 —$28.50 .. ... 7,800 7.0 1,700 13.25 2.0
$2851—$29.00 ... ... 31,050 5.8 24 477 28.78 5.7
$20.01 —832.60 ........ ... 16,525 7_2 8,954 32.60 Z_Z_
57,335 ﬂ 37,091 $28.00 5_6

The aggregate intrinsic value of both options outstanding and options exercisable at December 31, 2009 was $2
thousand. The aggregate intrinsic value of both options outstanding and options exercisable at December 31, 2008 was
$24 thousand. Cash received for options exercised in 2009 was $23 thousand with an intrinsic value of $10 thousand. No
options were exercised during 2008.

The weighted average fair value of each stock option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model. The weighted average estimated fair values of stock option grants and the assumptions that were
used in calculating such fair values were based on estimates at the date of grant as follows:

2009 2008 2007
Weighted average fair value of options granted during theyear ....................... nfa $58 § 873
Assumptions:
Average risk free interestrate .......... ... . o n/a 3.52%  4.66%
Average expected volatility ........... ... .. . n/a 24.37% 24.82%
Expected dividend rate .. ....... ... .. .. n/a 2.40%  2.40%
Expected lifeinyears ......... .. ... .. . . . n/a 7.00 7.00
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A summary of activity related to non-vested restricted stock during the year ended December 31, 2009 is presented
below:

Weighted
Average
Non-vested Grant Date
Shares Fair Value

Outstanding at December 31,2008 ... ... ... 5,097 $26.54
Granted . ..ot 1,500 $16.35
Forfeited . . oottt e —_ $ n/a
VESEEA . o ot e e (6,597) $24.22
Outstanding at December 31,2009 ... .........oiiiiii —_ $ n/a

The total fair value of shares that contractually vested during 2009 and 2008 was $276 thousand and $240 thousand,
respectively.

Anticipated total unrecognized compensation costs related to outstanding non-vested stock options and restricted
stock grants will be recognized over the following periods:

Restricted
Stock Stock
Options Grants Total
(Dollars in thousands)
010 .. e e e $36 $— $36
[0 3 10 A IR 21 —_ 21
D01 e e e e 8 — 8
DL s e e e e e e 2 —_ 2
TOtal © oot e e e e $67 $— $67

(10) DEPOSITS

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, certificates of deposit of $100,000 or more amounted to approximately
$198.4 million and $224.2 million, respectively.

Time deposit accounts as of December 31, 2009, mature in the following years and amounts: 2010—$397.4 million;
2011—$61.8 million; 2012—$28.3 million; 2013—$0.5 million; and 2014—$11.7 million.

For the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, interest expense on certificates of deposit of $100,000 or
more amounted to approximately $6.8 million, $8.7 million and $7.9 million, respectively.

(11) LEASES

The Company has noncancellable operating leases for three branch locations. These leases generally contain renewal
options for periods ranging from three to twenty years and require the Company to pay all executory costs such as
maintenance and insurance. Rental expense for operating leases during 2009, 2008 and 2007 was $485 thousand, $521

thousand and $590 thousand, respectively.
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Future minimum lease payments under noncancellable operating leases as of December 31, 2009 are as follows
(dollars in thousands):

Year ending December 31,
2000 $ 520
0L L 454
200 L 450
20d 3 L 450
200 248
Thereafter .. ... . 933
Total minimum lease payments ............... .. i $3,055

(12) RESERVE REQUIREMENTS

The aggregate net reserve balances maintained under the requirements of the Federal Reserve were approximately
$232 thousand at December 31, 2009.

(13) COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company has various financial instruments (outstanding commitments) with off-balance sheet risk that are
issued in the normal course of business to meet the financing needs of its customers. These financial instruments included
commitments to extend credit of $84.9 million, standby letters of credit of $1.8 million and $192 thousand of unfunded
commitments, included in other liabilities, with two Small Business Administration backed venture and debt investment
groups (SBIC’s) at December 31, 2009.

The Company’s exposure to credit loss for commitments to extend credit and standby letters of credit is the
contractual amount of those financial instruments. The Company uses the same credit policies for making commitments
and issuing standby letters of credit as it does for on-balance sheet financial instruments. Each customer’s
creditworthiness is evaluated on an individual case-by-case basis. The amount and type of collateral, if deemed necessary
by management, is based upon this evaluation of creditworthiness. Collateral obtained varies, but may include marketable
securities, deposits, property, plant and equipment, investment assets, real estate, inventories and accounts receivable.
Management does not anticipate any significant losses as a result of these financial instruments and anticipates funding
them from normal operations.

The Company is not involved in any legal proceedings which, in management’s opinion, could have a material effect
on the consolidated financial position or results of operations of the Company.

(14) FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair value estimates are made by management at a specific point in time, based on relevant information about the
financial instrument and the market. These estimates do not reflect any premium or discount that could result from
offering for sale at one time the Company’s entire holdings of a particular financial instrument nor are potential taxes and
other expenses that would be incurred in an actual sale considered. Fair value estimates are based on judgments regarding
future expected loss experience, current economic conditions, risk characteristics of various financial instruments, and
other factors. These estimates are subjective in nature and involve uncertainties and matters of significant judgment and
therefore cannot be determined with precision. Changes in assumptions and/or the methodology used could significantly
affect the estimates disclosed. Similarly, the fair values disclosed could vary significantly from amounts realized in actual
transactions.
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The following table presents the carrying values and estimated fair values of the Company’s financial instruments at
December 31, 2009 and 2008 (dollars in thousands):

2009 2008
C ing Estimated Fair  Carrying Estimated Fair
Value Value Value Value
Financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents . ... $ 17811 $ 17,811 $ 16,799 $ 16,799
Investment SECUTIHES . . . v v oot e 239,332 239,332 239,709 239,709
FHLB StoCK .o\ oottt e 5,116 5,116 3,859 3,859
Accrued interest receivable ... ... .. . .. e 4,967 4,967 4,663 4,663
Net LOamS o oot ettt e e e et 568,066 565,178 532,905 531,166
Financial liabilities:
DepPOSItS ..ottt $754,730 $759,647 $629,152 $632,152
Short-term borrowings . . . ...t 22,910 22910 57,716 57,716
Accrued interest payable .......... ... 1,121 1,121 2,889 2.889
Long-term Obligations ................................. 21,000 21,210 26,000 26,254

The estimated fair values of net loans, deposits and long-term obligations at December 31 are based on estimated
cash flows discounted at market interest rates. The carrying values of other financial instruments, including various
receivables and payables, approximate fair value. Refer to note 1(E) for investment securities fair value information. The
fair value of off-balance sheet financial instruments is considered immaterial. As discussed in note 13, these off-balance
sheet financial instruments are commitments to extend credit and are either short-term in nature or subject to immediate
repricing.

Fair Value Hierarchy

The Company groups assets and liabilities at fair value in three levels, based on the markets in which the assets and
liabilities are traded and the reliability of the assumptions used to determine fair value. These levels are:

Level 1 Valuation is based upon quoted prices for identical instruments traded in active markets.

Level 2 Valuation is based upon quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets, quoted prices for identical or
similar instruments in markets that are not active, and model-based valuation techniques for which all
significant assumptions are observable in the market.

Level 3 Valuation is generated from model-based techniques that use at least one significant assumption not observable
in the market. These unobservable assumptions reflect estimates of assumptions that market participants
would use in pricing the asset or liability. Valuation techniques include use of option pricing models,
discounted cash flow models and similar techniques.

The Company utilizes fair value measurements to record fair value adjustments to certain assets and liabilities and to
determine fair value disclosures. Securities available-for-sale are recorded at fair value on a recurring basis. Additionally,
from time to time, the Company may be required to record at fair value other assets on a nonrecurring basis, such as loans
held for sale, loans held for investment and certain other assets. These nonrecurring fair value adjustments typically
involve application of lower of cost or market accounting or write-downs of individual assets.

There were no changes to the techniques used to measure fair value during the period.

Following is a description of valuation methodologies used for assets recorded at fair value.
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Investment Securities Available-for-Sale

Investment securities available-for-sale are recorded at fair value on a recurring basis. Fair value measurement is
based upon quoted prices, if available. If quoted prices are not available, fair values are measured using independent
pricing models or other model-based valuation techniques such as the present value of future cash flows, adjusted for the
security’s credit rating, prepayment assumptions and other factors such as credit loss assumptions. Level 1 securities
include those traded on an active exchange, such as the New York Stock Exchange, U.S. Treasury securities that are
traded by dealers or brokers in active over-the-counter markets and money market funds. Level 2 securities include
mortgage-backed securities issued by government sponsored entities, municipal bonds and corporate debt securities.
Securities classified as Level 3 include asset-backed securities in less liquid markets.

Loans

The Company does not record loans at fair value on a recurring basis. However, from time to time, a loan is
considered impaired and an allowance for loan losses is established. Loans for which it is probable that payment of interest
and principal will not be made in accordance with the contractual terms of the loan agreement are considered impaired.
Once a loan is identified as individually impaired, management measures impairment using one of several methods,
including collateral value, market price and discounted cash flows. Those impaired loans not requiring an allowance
represent loans for which the fair value of the expected repayments or collateral exceed the recorded investments in such
loans. At December 31, 2009, substantially all of the total impaired loans were evaluated based on the fair value of the
collateral. Impaired loans where an allowance is established based on the fair value of collateral require classification in
the fair value hierarchy. When the fair value of the collateral is based on an observable market price or a current appraised
value, the Company records the impaired loan as nonrecurring Level 2. When an appraised value is not available or
management determines the fair value of the collateral is further impaired below the appraised value and there is no
observable market price, the Company records the impaired loan as nonrecurring Level 3.

Real Estate and Repossessions Acquired in Settlement of Loans

Foreclosed assets are adjusted to fair value upon transfer of the loans to other real estate owned. Real estate acquired
in settlement of loans is recorded initially at estimated fair value of the property less estimated selling costs at the date of
foreclosure. The initial recorded value may be subsequently reduced by additional allowances, which are charged to
earnings if the estimated fair value of the property less estimated selling costs declines below the initial recorded value.
Fair value is based upon independent market prices, appraised values of the collateral or management’s estimation of the
value of the collateral. When the fair value of the collateral is based on an observable market price or a current appraised
value, the Company records the foreclosed asset as nonrecurring Level 2. When an appraised value is not available or
management determines the fair value of the collateral is further impaired below the appraised value and there is no
observable market price, the Company records the foreclosed asset as nonrecurring Level 3.

Assets recorded at fair value on a recurring basis

December 31, 2009 (Dollars in thousands) Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Investment securities available-for-sale ................................ $239,332 $49,662 $185319 $ 4,351
Total assets atfairvalue . ........... .. .. i $239,332 $49,662 $185,319 $ 4,351
December 31, 2008 (Dollars in thousands) Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Investment securities available-for-sale .............. ... ... ... ... ..... $239,709 $64,521 $164,116 $11,072
Totalassetsat fairvalue . ........ .. .. .. $239,709 $64,521 $164,116 $11,072
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Assets recorded at fair value on a nonrecurring basis

December 31, 2009 (Dollars in thousands) Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Impaired 10ans .. ........o.ooiiii i $12,575 $— $ 7,715 $4,860
Real estate and repossessions acquired in settlementofloans .............. $ 5,438 $606 $ 1,657 $3,175
Total assets at fair valtle . . .. .ot o i e $18,013 $606 $ 9372  $8,035
December 31, 2008 (Dollars in thousands) Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Impaired Joans . ... ..o $12.271 $— $10,247  $2,024
Total assets at fair valtue . ... oot e $12,271 $— $10,247  $2,024

The table below presents a reconciliation for all assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis using
significant unobservable inputs (level 3) during 2009 and 2008.

Total Fair Value Measurements

Available-for

Sale Debt
(Dollars in thousands) Securities
Balance, January 1, 2009 . ... ..o .ttt $11,072
Total gains or losses (realized/unrealized):
Included in @arMNES . ... ..o vttt e -
Included in other comprehensive income .. .........o.viiiiii (129)
Purchases, issuances, and settlements . .......... ... i 2,480
Transfers in to/out 0f Level 3 . . oottt e e e e et et e (9,072)
Balance, December 31,2009 . .. ...ttt $ 4,351
Available-for
Sale Debt
(Dollars in thousands) Securities
Balance, January 1, 2008 . ... .. ... $ —
Total gains or losses (realized/unrealized):
Included in @AMINES . ... ..o\ttt —
Included in other comprehensive income .. ......... ... 65
Purchases, issuances, and settlements ... ........... . 11,007
Transfers in to/out 0f Level 3 . . o oottt e e e —
Balance, December 31,2008 .. ... ...ttt $11,072

(15) REGULATORY MATTERS

The Company (on a consolidated basis) and the Bank are subject to various regulatory capital requirements
administered by the federal banking agencies. Failure to meet minimum capital requirements can initiate certain mandatory
and possibly additional discretionary actions by regulators that, if undertaken, could have a direct material effect on the
Company’s and the BanK’s financial statements. Under capital adequacy guidelines and the regulatory framework for prompt
corrective action, the Company and the Bank must meet specific capital guidelines that involve quantitative measures of their
assets, liabilities, and certain off-balance sheet items as calculated under regulatory accounting practices. The capital amounts
and classifications are also subject to qualitative judgments by the regulators about components, risk weightings, and other
factors. Prompt corrective action provisions are not applicable to bank holding companies.

Quantitative measures established by regulation to ensure capital adequacy require the Company and the Bank to
maintain minimum amounts and ratios (set forth in the table below) of total and Tier I capital (as defined in the regulations)
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to risk-weighted assets (as defined), and of Tier I capital to average assets (as defined). Management believes, as of
December 31, 2009, that the Bank and the Company meet all capital adequacy requirements to which they are subject.

Based on the most recent notification from the FDIC, the Bank is well-capitalized under the regulatory framework
for prompt corrective action. To be categorized as well-capitalized, the Bank must maintain minimum total risk-based,
Tier I risk-based, and Tier I leverage ratios as set forth in the table below. There are no conditions or events since that
notification that management believes have changed the Bank’s category.

The Bank’s actual capital amounts, in thousands, and ratios are presented in the following table:

To be Well
Capitalized
For Capital ~ Under Prompt
Adequacy  Corrective Action

Actual Purposes Provisions
Amount Ratio Ratio Ratio
As of December 31, 2009:
Total Capital (to Risk Weighted Assets) ...................... $73,499 11.28% 28.00% >10.00%
Tier 1 Capital (to Risk Weighted Assets) ...................... 65,335 10.03 >4.00 > 6.00
Tier 1 Capital (to Average Assets) ................coooiviiins 65,335 7.53 >4.00 > 5.00
As of December 31, 2008:
Total Capital (to Risk Weighted Assets) ...................... 72,300 11.80% =28.00 >10.00
Tier 1 Capital (to Risk Weighted Assets) ...................... 66,369 10.83 >4.00 > 6.00
Tier 1 Capital (to Average Assets) ................oooininins 66,369 8.65 >4.00 > 5.00
The following table lists Bancorp’s actual capital amounts, in thousands, and ratios:
To be Well
Capitalized

For Capital = Under Prompt
Adequacy  Corrective Action

Actual Purposes Provisions
Amount Ratio Ratio Ratio

As of December 31, 2009:

Total Capital (to Risk Weighted Assets) ...................... $91,371 14.02% =8.00% >10.00%

Tier 1 Capital (to Risk Weighted Assets) ...................... 83,207 12.77 >4.00 > 6.00

Tier 1 Capital (to Average Assets) ...................ooonn. 83,207 9.59 >3.00 > 5.00
As of December 31, 2008:

Total Capital (to Risk Weighted Assets) ...................... 72,300 11.80% =8.00 210.00

Tier 1 Capital (to Risk Weighted Assets) ...................... 66,369 10.83 >4.00 > 6.00

Tier 1 Capital (to Average Assets) ..................oooovnn. 66,369 8.65 = 3.00 = 5.00
Dividends

The Company’s dividend payments are typically made from dividends received from the Bank. The Bank, as a North
Carolina banking corporation, may pay dividends only out of undivided profits (retained earnings) as determined pursuant to
North Carolina General Statutes Section 53-87. However, regulatory authorities may limit payment of dividends by any bank
when it is determined that such a limitation is in the public interest and is necessary to ensure financial soundness of the Bank.

(16) ECB BANCORP, INC. (PARENT COMPANY)

ECB Bancorp, Inc.’s principal asset is its investment in the Bank, and its principal source of income is dividends from
the Bank. The Parent Company condensed balance sheets as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the related condensed
statements of income and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 are as follows:
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ECB BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
DECEMBER 31, 2009 and 2008

CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS (dollars in thousands)

2009 2008
Assets
Cash o $17872 $ —
Receivable from subsidiary . ........... ... . o 520 519
Investment in subsidiary . ....... ... ... 66,503 67,943
Total @SSEES . .\ttt $84,895 $68,462
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Dividends payable ............. .. . . . $ 520 § 519
Total liabilities ... ...t 520 519
Total shareholders’ equity .. .......... .. ... .o i 84,375 67,943
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity .............. ..., $84,805 $68,462
CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (dollars in thousands)
2009 2008 2007
Dividends from bank subsidiary ........ ... .. ... oL $ 2823 $3,864 $2,077
IErESt .ot e — — 508
Equity in undistributed income (losses) of subsidiary ...................... (1,321) (445) 2,332
AmOTtization EXPENSE . . . ...\t e —_ — (105)
NetinCOoIme . . oottt et e e e $1502 $3,419 $4,812
CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (dollars in thousands)
2009 2008 2007
OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
NEtiNCOIME . .ottt ettt ettt e e e et e et $ 1502 $ 3419 $ 4812
Undistributed (income) losses of subsidiary .......................... 1,321 445 (2,332)
Net change in other assets & other liabilities ......................... (1) (8) 569
Stock based compensation . ......... .. ... e 85 212 205
Net cash provided by operating activities ........................ 2,907 4,068 3,254
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Payment for investments in subsidiary .......... ... .. ... o oL (85) (10,793) (205)
Net cash used by investing activities ............................ (85) (10,793) (205)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Repurchase of commonstock ........... ... ool — (1,759) (31)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock ........................... 23 — 237
Repaymentofdebt........... ... . ... — —_ (10,000)
Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock ................... ... .. ... 17,850 e —
Cash dividends paid ............................................. (2,823) (2,096) (2,028)
Net cash provided (used) in financing activities ................... 15,050 (3,855) (11,822)
Netchangeincash ........ . ... i $17,872 $(10,580) $ (8,773)




ECB BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
DECEMBER 31, 2009 and 2008

(17) RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Bancorp and the Bank have had, and expect to have in the future, banking transactions in the ordinary course of
business with directors, officers and their associates (“Related Parties”) on substantially the same terms, including interest
rates and collateral, as those prevailing at the time for comparable transactions with others. Those transactions neither
involve more than normal risk of collectability nor present any unfavorable features.

Loans at December 31, 2009 and 2008 include loans to officers and directors and their associates totaling
approximately $4.4 million and $3.6 million, respectively. During 2009, $1.6 million in loans were disbursed to officers,
directors and their associates and principal repayments of $0.8 million were received on such loans.

(18) U.S. TREASURY’S TROUBLED ASSET RELIEF PROGRAM (TARP) CAPITAL PURCHASE PROGRAM

On January 16, 2009, the Company entered into an agreement with the United States Department of the Treasury
(“Treasury”). The Company issued and sold to the Treasury 17,949 shares of the Company’s fixed rate cumulative
preferred stock, series A. The preferred stock calls for cumulative dividends at a rate of 5% per year for the first five years,
and at a rate of 9% per year in following years. The Company also issued warrants to purchase 144,984 shares of the
Company’s common stock. The Company received $17,949,000 in cash. This resulted in restrictions on our ability to pay
dividends on our common stock and to repurchase shares of our common stock. Unless all accrued dividends on the Series
A Preferred Stock have been paid in full, (1) no dividends may be declared or paid on our common stock, and (2) we may
not repurchase any of our outstanding common stock. Additionally, until January 16, 2012, we are required to obtain the
consent of the U.S. Treasury in order to declare or pay any dividend or make any distribution on our common stock other
than regular quarterly cash dividends of not more than $0.1825 per share, or, subject to certain exceptions, repurchase
outstanding shares of our common stock, unless we have redeemed all of the Series A Preferred Stock or the U.S.
Treasury has transferred all of those shares to third parties.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

Not applicable.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated
the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures in accordance with Rule 13a-15 of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”). Based on their evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this report, our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective to provide reasonable assurance that we are able to record, process, summarize and report in a
timely manner the information required to be disclosed in reports we file under the Exchange Act.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, and a report of our independent
registered public accounting firm regarding our internal control over financial reporting, appears on the following pages of
this report.

In connection with the above evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures no change in our internal control

over financial reporting was identified that occurred during our fourth quarter of 2009 that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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MANAGEMENT’S ANNUAL REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

- The management of ECB Bancorp, Inc. (ECB) is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal
control over financial reporting. ECBs’ internal control system was designed to provide reasonable assurance to the
Company’s management and board of directors regarding the preparation and fair presentation of published financial
statements.

All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, even those systems
determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and

presentation.

ECB’s management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2009. In making this assessment, it used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control—Integrated Framework. Based on that
assessment, we believe that, as of December 31, 2009, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting is effective

based on those criteria.

ECB’s independent auditors have issued an audit report on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting,
This report appears on the following page.

/s/  A. DwicHT UTZ /s/  THOMAS M. CROWDER
A. Dwight Utz Thomas M. Crowder
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
ECB Bancorp, Inc. and Subsidiary

We have audited ECB Bancorp, Inc. and Subsidiary’s (the “Company”) internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2009, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining
effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on
our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing
and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also
included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and
procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded
as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management
and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, ECB Bancorp, Inc. and Subsidiary maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2009, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the consolidated financial statements of ECB Bancorp, Inc. and Subsidiary as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2009, and our report dated March 16, 2010, expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated
financial statements.

/s/ Dixon Hughes PLLC

Greenville, North Carolina
March 16, 2010
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Item 9B. Other Information

None.

PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Directors and Executive Officers. Information regarding our directors and executive officers is incorporated by
reference from the information under the headings “Proposal 1: Election of Directors” and “Executive Officers” in our
definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission in connection with our 2010 Annual
Meeting.

In addition to the directors listed in the information incorporated by reference from our definitive Proxy Statement
as described above, Arthur H. Keeney 111, age 66, served as a director during 2009. He served as our President and Chief
Executive Officer from 1995 until his retirement effective on June 30, 2009. His current three-year term of office as a
director expires at our 2010 Annual Meeting.

Audit Committee. Information regarding our Audit Committee is incorporated by reference from the information
under the captions “Commnittees of Our Board—General” and “—Audit Committee” in our definitive Proxy Statement to
be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission in connection with our 2010 Annual Meeting,

Audit Committee Financial Expert. Rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) require that we
disclose whether our Board of Directors has determined that our Audit Committee includes a member who qualifies as an
“audit committee financial expert” as that term is defined in the SEC’s rules. To qualify as an audit committee financial
expert under the SEC’s rules, a person must have a relatively high level of accounting and financial knowledge or expertise
which he or she has acquired through specialized education or training or through experience in certain types of positions.

We currently do not have an independent director who our Board believes can be considered an audit committee
financial expert and, for that reason, there is no such person who the Board can appoint to our Audit Committee. In the
future, financial expertise and experience will be one of many factors that our Board considers in selecting candidates to
become directors. However, our current Audit Committee members have a level of financial knowledge and experience
that we believe is sufficient for banks our size that, like us, do not engage in a wide variety of business activities, and, for
that reason, the ability to qualify as an audit committee financial expert will not be the primary criteria in our Board’s
selection of candidates to become new directors.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance. Information regarding compliance by our directors,
executive officers and principal shareholders with the reporting requirements of Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 is incorporated by reference from the information under the caption “Beneficial Ownership of Our Common
Stock—Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in our definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission in connection with our 2010 Annual Meeting.

Code of Ethics. Information regarding our Code of Ethics that applies to our directors and to all our executive
officers, including without limitation our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, is incorporated by
reference from the information under the caption “Corporate Governance—Code of Ethics” in our definitive Proxy
Statement to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission in connection with our 2010 Annual Meeting.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Information regarding compensation paid to our executive officers and directors is incorporated by reference from
the information under the headings “Executive Compensation” and “Director Compensation” in our definitive Proxy
Statement to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission in connection with our 2010 Annual Meeting.
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Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Beneficial Ownership of Securities. Information regarding the beneficial ownership of our common stock by our
directors, executive officers and principal shareholders is incorporated by reference from the information under the
heading “Beneficial Ownership of Our Common Stock” in our definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission in connection with our 2010 Annual Meeting.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans. The following table summarizes all
compensation arrangements which were in effect on December 31, 2009, and under which shares of our common stock

have been authorized for issuance.

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION®

a c
Number of Shares to (b) Number of Shares Remaining
be Issued Upon Weighted-average Available for Future Issuance Under
Exercise of Exercise Price of  Equity Compensation Plans (Excluding
Plan category Outstanding Options  Outstanding Options Shares Reflected In Column (a))
Equity compensation plans approved by
our security holders ................. 57,3351 $28.31 189,900
Equity compensation plans not approved
by our security holders .............. -0- N/A -0-
Total ......... . 57,335 $28.31 189,900

(1) Reflects the number of shares that are subject to outstanding, unexercised options previously granted under both our Omnibus Stock Ownership
and Long-Term Incentive Plan (which expired during January 2008), and our 2008 Omnibus Equity Plan (which was approved by our shareholders
at our 2008 Annual Meeting).

(2) Reflects the number of shares that remained available for future issuance under the 2008 Omnibus Equity Plan on December 31, 2009. The
Omnibus Stock Ownership and Long-Term Incentive Plan expired by its terms during January 2008 and no further awards may be granted under it.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

Related Person Transactions. Information regarding transactions between us and our directors, executive officers
and other related persons, and our policies and procedures for reviewing and approving related person transactions, is
incorporated by reference from the information under the caption “Transactions with Related Persons” in our definitive
Proxy Statement to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission in connection with our 2010 Annual Meeting.

Director Independence. Information regarding our independent directors is incorporated by reference from the

information under the caption “Corporate Governance—Director Independence” in our definitive Proxy Statement to be
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission in connection with our 2010 Annual Meeting.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

Information regarding services provided to us by our independent accountants is incorporated by reference from the
information under the caption “Services and Fees During 2009 and 2008” in our definitive Proxy Statement to be filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission in connection with our 2010 Annual Meeting.

PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) Financial Statements. The following financial statements are included in Item 8 of this Report:
Report of Dixon Hughes PLLC
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2009 and 2008
Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007
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Consolidated Statements of Shareholders” Equity for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—December 31, 2009 and 2008

(b) Exhibits. An Exhibit Index listing exhibits that are being filed or furnished with, or incorporated by reference

into, this Report appears immediately following the signature page and is incorporated herein by reference.

(c¢) Financial Statement Schedules. No separate financial statement schedules are being filed as all required
schedules either are not applicable or are contained in the financial statements listed above or in Item 7 of this Report.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has
caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: March 16, 2010 ECB BANCORP, INC.

By: /s/ _A. DWIGHT UTZ

A. Dwight Utz
President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ A. DwicHT UTZ President and Chief Executive Officer March 16, 2010
A. Dwight Utz (principal executive officer)
/s/ THOMAS M. CROWDER Executive Vice President and Chief March 16, 2010
Thomas M. Crowder Financial Officer (principle financial and
accounting officer)
/s/ GEORGE T. Davis Vice Chairman March 16, 2010

George T. Davis, Jr.

/s/  GREGORY C. GIBBS Director March 16, 2010
Gregory C. Gibbs

/s/ JouN F. HUGHES, |R. Director March 16, 2010
John F. Hughes, Jr.
Director March 16, 2010
Arthur H. Keeney III
/s/ J. BRYANT KITTRELL III Director March 16, 2010
J. Bryant Kittrell IIT
Director March 16, 2010
Joseph T. Lamb, Jr.
/s/  B. MARTELLE MARSHALL Director March 16, 2010
B. Martelle Marshall
/s/ R.S.SPENCER, JR. Chairman March 16, 2010
R. S. Spencer, Jr.
/s/  MICHAEL D. WEEKS Director March 16, 2010

Michael D. Weeks
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Exhibit
No.

3.01

3.02

4.01

4.02

4.03

10.01

10.02

10.03

10.04

10.05

10.06

10.07

10.08

10.09

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

EXHIBIT INDEX

Description of Exhibit

Registrant’s Articles of Incorporation, as amended (incorporated by reference from Exhibits to Registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K dated January 15, 2009)

Registrant’s Bylaws (incorporated by reference from Exhibits to Registration Statement on Form SB-2,
Reg. No. 333-61839)

Specimen common stock certificate (incorporated by reference from Exhibits to Registration Statement on
Form S-1, Reg. No. 333-128843)

Specimen Series A Preferred Stock certificate (incorporated by reference from Exhibits to Registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K dated January 15, 2009)

Warrant dated January 16, 2009, for the purchase of shares of Common Stock (incorporated by reference from
Exhibits to Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated January 15, 2009)

Letter Agreement dated January 16, 2009, between the Registrant and the United States Department of the
Treasury (incorporated by reference from Exhibits to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K dated
January 15, 2009)

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between Arthur H. Keeney III and the Bank (incorporated
by reference from Exhibits to Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 23, 2008)

Employment Agreement between A. Dwight Utz, the Bank and the Registrant (incorporated by reference
from Exhibits to Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated August 26, 2009)

Capital Purchase Program Compliance Agreement between Arthur H. Keeney I1I and the Bank (incorporated
by reference from Exhibits to Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated January 15, 2009)

Amended and Restated Agreement between J. Dorson White, Jr. and the Bank (incorporated by reference
from Exhibits to Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 23, 2008)

Capital Purchase Program Compliance Agreement between J. Dorson White, Jr. and the Bank (incorporated
by reference from Exhibits to Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated January 15, 2009)

Amended and Restated Agreement between T. Olin Davis and the Bank (incorporated by reference from
Exhibits to Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 23, 2008)

Capital Purchase Program Compliance Agreement between T. Olin Davis and the Bank (incorporated by
reference from Exhibits to Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated January 15, 2009)

Amended and Restated Agreement between Gary M. Adams and the Bank (incorporated by reference from
Exhibits to Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 23, 2008)

Capital Purchase Program Compliance Agreement between Gary M. Adams and the Bank (incorporated by
reference from Exhibits to Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated January 15, 2009)

Omnibus Stock Ownership and Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference from Exhibits to
Registration Statement on Form SB-2, Reg. No. 333-61839)

2008 Omnibus Equity Plan (incorporated by reference from Exhibits to Registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K dated April 16, 2008)

Form of Employee Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference from Exhibits to Registration
Statement on Form SB-2, Reg. No. 333-61839)

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement (incorporated by reference from Exhibits to Registration Statement on
Form S-8, Reg. No. 333-77689)

Restricted Stock Award Agreement between A. Dwight Utz and the Registrant (incorporated by reference
from Exhibits to Registrant’s September 30, 2009, Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q)

Executive Supplemental Retirement Plan Agreement between the Bank and Arthur H. Keeney III
(incorporated by reference from Exhibits to Registrant’s March 31, 2002, Quarterly Report on Form 10-QSB)
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Exhibit

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

10.28

10.29

10.30

10.31

10.32

10.33

10.34

10.35

21.01

Description of Exhibit

Amendment to Executive Supplemental Retirement Plan Agreement between the Bank and Arthur
H. Keeney III (incorporated by reference from Exhibits to Registrant’s 2008 Annual Report on Form 10-K)

Executive Supplemental Retirement Plan Agreement between the Bank and J. Dorson White, Jr.
(incorporated by reference from Exhibits to Registrant’s March 31, 2002, Quarterly Report on Form 10-QSB)

Amendment to Executive Supplemental Retirement Plan Agreement between the Bank and J. Dorson White,
Jr. (incorporated by reference from Exhibits to Registrant’s 2008 Annual Report on Form 10-K)

Executive Supplemental Retirement Plan Agreement between the Bank and T. Olin Davis (incorporated by
reference from Exhibits to Registrant’s 2007 Annual Report on for 10-KSB)

Amendment to Executive Supplemental Retirement Plan Agreement between the Bank and T. Olin Davis
(incorporated by reference from Exhibits to Registrant’s 2008 Annual Report on Form 10-K)

Executive Supplemental Retirement Plan Agreement between the Bank and Gary M. Adams (incorporated by
reference from Exhibits to Registrant’s 2002 Annual Report on Form 10-KSB)

Amendment to Executive Supplemental Retirement Plan Agreement between the Bank and Gary M. Adams
(incorporated by reference from Exhibits to Registrant’s 2008 Annual Report on Form 10-K)

Split-Dollar Life Insurance Agreement between the Bank and Arthur H. Keeney III (incorporated by
reference from Exhibits to Registrant’s March 31, 2002, Quarterly Report on Form 10-QSB)

Split-Dollar Life Insurance Agreement between the Bank and J. Dorson White, Jr. (incorporated by reference
from Exhibits to Registrant’s March 31, 2002, Quarterly Report on Form 10-QSB)

Split-Dollar Life Insurance Agreement between the Bank and T. Olin Davis (incorporated by reference from
Exhibits to Registrant’s 2007 Annual Report on for 10-KSB)

Split-Dollar Life Insurance Agreement between the Bank and Gary M. Adams (incorporated by reference
from Exhibits to Registrant’s 2002 Annual Report on Form 10-KSB)

Form of Director Supplemental Retirement Plan Agreements between the Bank and George T. Davis, Jr.,
John F. Hughes, Jr., Arthur H. Keeney 111, Joseph T. Lamb, Jr., and R. S. Spencer, Jr. (incorporated by
reference from Exhibits to Registrant’s March 31, 2002, Quarterly Report on Form 10-QSB)

Form of Amendment to Director Supplemental Retirement Plan Agreements between the Bank and George
T. Davis, Jr., John F. Hughes, Jr., Arthur H. Keeney III, Joseph T. Lamb, Jr., and R. S. Spencer, ]Jr.
(incorporated by reference from Exhibits to Registrant’s 2008 Annual Report on Form 10-K)

Form of Director Supplemental Retirement Plan Agreements between the Bank and Gregory C. Gibbs, .
Bryant Kittrell ITI, and B. Martelle Marshall (incorporated by reference from Exhibits to Registrant’s
March 31, 2002, Quarterly Report on Form 10-QSB)

Form of Amendment to Director Supplemental Retirement Plan Agreements between the Bank and Gregory
C. Gibbs, J. Bryant Kittrell III, and B. Martelle Marshall (incorporated by reference from Exhibits to
Registrant’s 2008 Annual Report on Form 10-K)

Form of Director Supplemental Retirement Plan Agreement between the Bank and Michael D. Weeks
(incorporated by reference from Exhibits to Registrant’s 2008 Annual Report on Form 10-K)

Form of Amendment to Director Supplemental Retirement Plan Agreement between the Bank and Michael
D. Weeks (incorporated by reference from Exhibits to Registrant’s 2008 Annual Report on Form 10-K)

Form of Split-Dollar Life Insurance Agreements between the Bank and George T. Davis, Jr., Gregory
C. Gibbs, John F. Hughes, Jr., Arthur H. Keeney IIL J. Bryant Kittrell 111, Joseph T. Lamb, Jr., B. Martelle
Marshall, and R. S. Spencer, Jr. (incorporated by reference from Exhibits to Registrant’s March 31, 2002,
Quarterly Report on Form 10-QSB)

The East Carolina Bank Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference from Exhibits to Registrant’s 2004 Annual
Report on Form 10-KSB)

List of Registrant’s subsidiaries (incorporated by reference from Exhibits to Registrant’s 2004 Annual Report
on Form 10-KSB)
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Exhibit
No. Description of Exhibit

23.01 Consent of Dixon Hughes PLLC (filed herewith)
31.01 Certification of Chief Executive Officer (pursuant to Rule 13a-14) (filed herewith)
31.02 Certification of Chief Financial Officer (pursuant to Rule 13a-14) (filed herewith)

32.01 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer (pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350)
(filed herewith)

99.01 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer (pursuant to Section III of EESA) (filed
herewith)

COPIES OF EXHIBITS ARE AVAILABLE UPON WRITTEN REQUEST TO THOMAS M. CROWDER,
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER, AT ECB BANCORP, INC., P.O. BOX 337, ENGELHARD,
NORTH CAROLINA 27824,
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